

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION PLACEMENT AND MANAGEMENT

YANHAI XIONG

INTERDISCIPLINARY GRADUATE SCHOOL

2018

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION PLACEMENT AND MANAGEMENT

YANHAI XIONG

INTERDISCIPLINARY GRADUATE SCHOOL

The Joint NTU-UBC Research Centre of Excellence in Active Living for the Elderly (LILY)

A thesis submitted to the Nanyang Technological University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2018

Abstract

Due to the world's shortage of fossil fuels and the serious environmental pollution from burning them, seeking alternative energy has become a crucial topic of research. Transportation is one of the main consumers of energy and contributors to air pollution. Electric Vehicles (EVs) move pollution away from urban areas and electricity can be efficiently transformed from both traditional fossil fuels and promising renewable energies like solar energy and tidal energy. EVs, as a replacement of traditional internal combustion engine vehicles, provide an environment-friendly solution to modern cities' transportation. A rapid growth of EVs has been seen in recent years along with the rising popularity of the notion of smart cities. This calls for an efficient deployment of relevant supporting facilities, among which charging facility is of top priority. Although EVs can be charged at home, it is time-consuming and usually takes 6 to 8 hours, which is at least 12 times the time it takes at charging stations with high voltage. The distribution of charging stations determines EV drivers' accessibility to energy sources and consequently affects the EV flow and traffic conditions in the road network. Although charging in charging stations is much faster than that with domestic electricity, it can still take several dozens of minutes. Thus in return, the EV drivers' charging behavior would greatly influence the performance of the charging system, especially the queuing condition in charging stations. This thesis is concerned with optimal placement and efficient management of charging stations. To achieve this goal, we carefully study the interactions between charging stations and EV drivers as well as the bounded rationality of EV drivers in charging activities.

In our first step of research, we study the electric vehicle charging station placement problem. We highlight two main factors to consider: traffic congestion and charging station congestion. We also take into consideration the electric vehicle drivers' strategic charging activities. A congestion game framework is employed in our work to model the electric vehicle drivers' competitive and self-interested charging activities. We formulate the charging station placement problem as a bi-level optimization problem and propose efficient algorithms for computing optimal solutions. Experimental results show that our approach provides a better result than baseline methods.

We then extend to optimal pricing for charging station management. While most existing research works focus on optimizing spatial placement of charging stations, they are inflexible and inefficient against rapidly changing urban structure and traffic pattern. Therefore, this work approaches the management of EV charging stations from the pricing perspective as a more flexible and adaptive complement to established charging station placement. In this work, we build a realistic pricing model in consideration of residential travel pattern and EV drivers' self-interested charging behavior, traffic congestion, and operating expense of charging stations. We formulate the pricing problem as a mixed integer non-convex optimization problem and propose a scalable algorithm to solve it. Experiments on both mock and real data are conducted, which show scalability of our algorithm as well as our solution's significant improvement over existing approaches.

Last, we study charging behavior of the EV drivers and construct more practical charging behavior models. While previous works assume that EV drivers can reach equilibrium in the charging game, this can rarely happen in real world. Players are limited by partial information and poor computation ability, thus they are bounded rational. Through analyzing EV drivers' decision-making in the charging process, we propose a 2-Level Nested LQRE charging behavior model that combines LQRE model and level-k thinking model. We design a set of user studies to simulate the charging scenarios, collect data from human players and learn parameters of the 2-Level Nested LQRE charging behavior model. Experimental results show that our charging behavior model well captures the bounded rationality of human players in the charging process. The selection distribution of all players tends to converge after a number of repeated

playing. Furthermore, we formulate the charging station placement problem with the 2-Level Nested LQRE model and design a heuristic algorithm to solve it. Our approach obtains placement with a significantly better performance by decreasing more than 8% for the social cost compared with benchmark approaches.

Acknowledgements

There are plenty of people that I want to offer my sincere gratitude to. In the past 4 years, I have learned a lot from the people around me. Without them, I may not reach what I have achieved during my Ph.D.

First, I would like to sincerely express my thanks and gratitude to my supervisor Professor Bo An. Starting from the very beginning of my Ph.D. life, Bo has always been there, guiding me, helping me and encouraging me through these years. Step by step, Bo taught me how to think over real-world problems, pick valuable research topics, and overcome various challenges in solving the problems. As a professional and serious researcher, Bo has instructed and influenced me by his words and deeds. I learn from him about how to do research and be a researcher. Besides research, Bo has been a great friend in my life. For example, during holidays like Chinese New Year, Bo invited our AMI group to his home to celebrate together. I am lucky and honored to be a Ph.D. student of Bo.

I also especially want to thank my co-supervisor Professor Soh Yeng Chai, my mentor Professor Cyril Leung, and the director of LILY center Professor Chunyan Miao. They are really helpful in my research. Their professionalism in academic and their wisdom in life both greatly inspire and encourage me to go further in the research of my interest.

I gratefully thank all other co-authors who provide important and valuable suggestions and guidance during the research process and paper writing process, especially Jiarui Gan and Professor Ana Bazzan for the placement work, Jiarui Gan for the pricing work and Professor Sarit Kraus for the charging behavior study work.

The AMI group has been a family for me. I have learned a lot from all of the fellows, not only in research, during our technical discussion, but also in life, in our numerous happy activities. You are forever friends: Haipeng Chen, Qingyu Guo, Jiarui Gan, Zhen Wang, Mengchen Zhao, Xinrun Wang, Zhenyi Wang, Martin Strobel, Youzhi Zhang, Ye Zhang, Wanyuan Wang, Jiuchan Jiang, Jinhua Song, Weixun Wang, Xu He, Lei Feng, Aye Phyu. I want to also thank my other friends: Dongxia Wang, Hangwei Qian, Chengyin Liu, Xiaoyun Mo, Xinhu Cao, Qiuni Fu and Yunwei Zhao. We encourage each other in both research and life. These friends are by no doubt a treasure I got during my Ph.D. career.

I would like to present thanks for my colleagues and friends in Joint NTU-UBC Research Centre of Excellence in Active Living for the Elderly (LILY) for all their help and support in my research, especially their precious comments and constructive advice. They are great partners both in work and life.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my dear family. They build a warm and strong harbor for me with love and patience, such that I can always find a place full of energy whenever I need it. They encourage me to sail without the worries behind. I am proud of being your family. I thank my husband, Haipeng, who is also a trustworthy partner and bosom friend for me. Thank you for coming into my life and being with me. Thanks for everything.

Contents

Ał	ostrac	t	iii
Ac	:know	ledgements	vii
Co	ontent	'S	ix
Li	st of I	ligures	xiii
Li	st of]	fables	XV
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Charging Station Placement and Management	1
	1.2	Problem Statement	4
	1.3	Objectives and Contributions	7
	1.4	Thesis Organization	9
2	Rela	ted Work and Preliminaries	13
	2.1	Charging Station Placement	13
	2.2	Facility Management	15
		2.2.1 Dynamic Pricing	16
	2.3	Congestion Games and Equilibrium	16
		2.3.1 Computation of Pure Nash Equilibrium	16
		2.3.2 Price of Anarchy and Price of Stability	17
		2.3.3 Mixed Nash Equilibrium	17
	2.4	Bi-Level Optimization	18
		2.4.1 Transformation to Single-Level Optimization	18
		2.4.2 Multi-Objective Bi-Level Optimization	20
	2.5	Bounded Rational Human Behavior Study	20
		2.5.1 Quantal Response Equilibrium	22
		2.5.2 Prospect Theory and Cognitive Hierarchy Theory	23
	2.6	Preliminaries	24
3	Opti	mal Electric Vehicle Fast Charging Station Placement	29
	3.1	Charging Station Placement in Singapore	31
	3.2	Charge Station Placement Problem	32
		3.2.1 Zones and Charging Stations	32

		3.2.2	The EV Model	34			
		3.2.3	A Congestion-Game-Based Interpretation	35			
		3.2.4	Bi-level Optimization Formulation	37			
	3.3	Solve	the CSPP	39			
		3.3.1	Deviation of Strategies	39			
		3.3.2	Simple Deviation Approach	41			
		3.3.3	Problem Analysis	44			
		3.3.4	Speeding Up OCEAN	47			
	3.4	Experi	mental Evaluation	49			
		3.4.1	Data Set and Baseline Methods	50			
		3.4.2	Performance Evaluation	52			
			3.4.2.1 OCEAN-C VS. OCEAN	53			
			3.4.2.2 OCEAN-C VS. Baseline Methods	53			
			3.4.2.3 Robustness Evaluation	54			
			3.4.2.4 EVs Charging in Remote Zones	54			
			3.4.2.5 Experimental Results of PoA	55			
	3.5	Extens	sion on Senior Center Placement and Management	55			
		3.5.1	Background	57			
		3.5.2	Related Work	58			
		3.5.3	Problem Formulation	60			
			3.5.3.1 The Senior's Choice	62			
			3.5.3.2 Regarding Changing Demand	63			
		3.5.4	Algorithm	64			
		3.5.5	Conclusion	64			
	3.6	Summ	ary	65			
4	Optimal Pricing for Efficient Electric Vehicle Charging Station Manage-						
	men	it		67			
	4.1	Motiva	ation	69			
	4.2	Prelim	iinary	69			
		4.2.1	Notations	70			
		4.2.2	Factors Affecting EVs' Decision	70			
	4.3	EVs' (Charging Behavior	71			
		4.3.1	Charging Strategy	72			
		4.3.2	Equilibrium	74			
		4.3.3	Pricing Problem for EV Charging Station Management	75			
	4.4	Comp	uting Optimal Price	76			
	4.5	Experi	mental Results	79			
		4.5.1	Solution Quality and Scalability of SSGA	81			
		4.5.2	Advantages over Uniform Pricing	83			
		4.5.3	Two-step Hop Charging Strategies	84			
		4.5.4	Adaption to Population Change	85			
		4.5.5	Sensitivity and Robustness	86			
	46	Summ	arv	87			

5	Cha	rging B	ehavior Analysis and Optimization for Electric Vehicle Charg-			
	ing S	ing Station Placement				
	5.1	Chargi	ng Behavior Model	90		
		5.1.1	QRE Model	91		
		5.1.2	2LNQRE Model	92		
		5.1.3	User Study Design	93		
			5.1.3.1 One-Shot Charging Game	95		
			5.1.3.2 Repeated Charging Games	96		
		5.1.4	Parameter Estimation	96		
	5.2	Chargi	ng Station Placement Problem	97		
	5.3	5.3 Experimental Results		100		
		5.3.1	2LNQRE Model VS. QRE Model	100		
		5.3.2	Comparison with Single-Level QRE Models	102		
		5.3.3	Charging Station Placement	103		
	5.4	Summa	ary	104		
6	Conclusion and Future Work 10					
	6.1	Conclu	sion	105		
	6.2	Future	Work	107		

A List of Publications

Bibliography

111

109

List of Figures

1.1	Zonal map of Singapore	5
1.2	Population growth rate of major residential zones of Singapore from	(
1.3	Three main works of the thesis	6 7
2.1	The value function of prospect theory	23
2.2	The weighting function of prospect theory	23
2.3	Payoff matrix of a normal game with two players	25
3.1 3.2 3.3	Strategy demonstration	36 39
3.4	 es, while Figure (d) is the corresponding results with human behavior uncertainty; Figure (e) and f are results with different number of EV drivers in the charging game. (a) Compare maximum equilibrium social cost and social optimal: (b) 	52
	Trend of PoA under different budgets	55
3.5	World population over 65	56
3.6	Age groups of citizens in Singapore from 1990 to 2016	58
4.1 4.2	Zone division illustration Optimality and scalability of <i>SSGA</i> comparing with PCS : (a) illustrates the running time of PCS and <i>SSGA</i> on the primary y axis, while on the secondary y axis showing the total number of pure strategies divided by the total number of EV patterns (i.e., the average size of strategy space for each pattern of EVs) corresponding to the charging station placement A2 ; (b) shows the relationship between the running time and the average size of strategy space for each pattern of EVs; (c) depicts running time results corresponding to the charging station placement B2 ; and (d) depicts the social cost of both PCS and <i>SSGA</i> for placement	73
	A4	82

4.3	Comparing <i>SSGA</i> with uniform pricing under different charging station placement plans A1 , B1 and C1 : (a) the number of EVs is estimated as we stated before; and (b) we increase and decrease the number of EVs by 10%.	83
4.4	Social cost of <i>SSGA</i> on original data and with two-step hop charging strategies: (a) the number of EVs is estimated as we stated before; and (b) the number of EVs in each travel pattern is increased/decreased by 10% .	84
4.5	The optimal social cost of <i>SSGA</i> and uniform pricing, as well as the system efficiency improvement along with time.	85
4.6	Robustness test of <i>SSGA</i> comparing with uniform pricing regarding to deviation in estimation of the number of EVs: (a) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 5% less than the estimation; (b) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 10% less than the estimation; (c) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 5% more than the estimation; and (d) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 10% more than the	0.6
	estimation	86
5.1 5.2 5.3	User study interface example	94 97
	plots); prediction of 2LNQRE model for 40 rounds (curves)	101

List of Tables

3.1	Notation overview	3
3.2	The notations referred in this paper and the corresponding meaning 6	0
5.1	Learning results comparison for one-shot charging games 10	0
5.2	Learning results comparison for repeated charging games 10	2
5.3	Convergence distribution of the 2LNQRE model	2
5.4	Results of Level-1 ("L1") and Level-2 ("L2") QRE models 10.	3
5.5	Social cost comparison	3

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Charging Station Placement and Management

Electric vehicles (EVs) have revealed great interest from the public, the government and the academy in recent years. The popularity of EVs is contributed by their outstanding advantages comparing to traditional inner-combustion vehicles including (1) comfort, (2) economy and (3) cleanness. EVs use electricity to power the vehicle, thus they are more stable and there would be no smell of fossil fuels. The cost of electricity is lower than that of fossil fuels, thus EV is more economical. Besides, fossil fuels are limited resources and it takes too long for them to reborn. Electricity can be efficiently transferred from other forms of energies, like solar energy, tide energy, wind energy and even nuclear energy. Despite that, electricity is more environmental-friendly. The consumption of fossil fuels by vehicles has caused serious air pollution, especially in urban cities. Switching to electric vehicles would greatly release this issue as the production from energy consumption would turn to water rather than SO_2 from burning fossil fuels. With above-mentioned advantages, the society has made great effort to research on and develop EVs in the past years.

Despite the techniques to construct the EVs, another vital element for promoting EVs is the supporting facilities. Due to the limited battery capacity and mileage (usually around 200km), EVs need recharging frequently, as traditional inner-combustion vehicles need refueling. According to the report, the mileage anxiety is possible to

hinder the diffusion of EVs. Moreover, recharging an EV takes much more time than refueling one vehicle. While refueling usually takes a few minutes (taking normal size car for example), recharging can take as much as 12 times of that in charging stations with specially supplied voltage. Although EV users can also charge their vehicles with domestic electricity, it would take even more time (6 to 8 hours). Besides, not every citizen is equipped with his/her own garage to charge an EV at home. As a result, the supporting facilities, especially electric vehicle charging stations are of essential need for EV drivers.

The distribution and size of electric vehicle charging stations directly decide the accessibility and convenience of EV drivers. While constructing charging stations, besides the hardware conditions like geography limitations and the software factors like economic budget, there is another momentous element to consider, i.e., the interaction between the charging stations and the EV drivers. At first, the EV drivers select charging stations considering their positions and serviceability. Intuitively, EV drivers would prefer charging stations that are easier to access from their start points (i.e., from where they will go for charging). The charging fare in charging stations is also influential in their decision. Another significant factor is the serviceability of the charging station, which would affect the queuing condition of EV drivers. As we mentioned in the previous paragraph, although the charging process in charging stations is shorter than that at home, it can still take dozens of minutes. Thus, the queues in charging stations can result in long waiting time, which can hinder the adoption of EVs [1, 2]. In return, the charging decisions of EV drivers would have an impact on the service quality of charging stations, and even to the traffic network when the proportion of EVs in the traffic network overwhelmingly exceed the proportion of other vehicles. As we can see, the interaction between the charging stations and EV drivers has a great impact on the performance of the whole charging system.

At the same time, EV drivers are competing with each other for the limited resources in the charging process. The charging stations, as well as the traffic network, are congestible resource, which means the cost of usage on the resources (i.e., queuing time or driving time) would increase with the number of EV drivers that use them. Thus the interactions among the EV drivers are also of our interest since they can decide the performance of the charging system and traffic network.

Such complex properties of charging stations make it an interesting but challenging research topic to optimally place the charging stations. Furthermore, charging station placement is irreversible due to the high cost of construction. Meanwhile, the population distribution, which directly decides the charging demand from the EV owners, would change greatly in the near future. In this case, the demand and supply relationship would change even the planning of charging stations has been carefully designed at the beginning.

With the development of cities and the urban structure changes, the charging station system needs additional methods to affect EV drivers' charging behavior and adjust the service quality of charging station system. Compared with removing and placing new charging stations, pricing is easily and immediately implementable without additional cost or waste of resources. Dynamic pricing schemes adapt to either long-term changes of travel demand caused by residential movements or short-term variances between peak and non-peak time and serve as a flexible complement to existing charging station placement.

To adapt to the urban structure change as well as varying charging demand, a practical solution as we propose in this thesis is to leverage the charging price to readjust EV users' charging behavior and improve the efficiency of the charging network. Compared with placement, pricing is easily and immediately implementable without additional cost or waste of resources. Dynamic pricing schemes adapt to either long-term changes of travel demand caused by residential movements or short-term variances between peak and non-peak time and serve as a flexible complement to existing charging station placement. Our goal is to optimize the pricing scheme to optimize the efficiency of charging stations, i.e., to minimize the additional cost caused by EV users' charging behavior, which is referred as the social cost. There have been some works leveraging dynamic pricing to improve the efficiency of public transportation systems, such as taxi systems [3, 4]. Some works have particularly focused on real-time pricing and charge-discharge policy for EV management [5, 6]. However, their aim is merely to balance electricity load in power grids, while traffic condition is not in their consideration. Moreover, their method cannot be incorporated with trivial modifications because the traffic condition deeply relates to EV users' self-interested charging behavior associated with a graph-based road network, which is all absent from existing work.

In the process of charging station placement and pricing, the interaction between charging stations and EV drivers is always playing an important role as we discussed in above paragraphs. While there have been a number of works [7–10] on Charging Station Placement Problems (CSPP), only a few of them [7, 10] consider EV drivers' charging behavior in their works. The same happens on related works of charging pricing [5, 6], which mainly focus on balancing the electricity burden and power network supply. Moreover, among the few works that take into consideration EV drivers' charging behavior, their behavior models are based on simplistic assumptions. First, existing charging behavior models are lack of comprehensive study of EV drivers' preference over different factors in their charging process; second, they assume that EV drivers are fully rational more follow existing models without careful study and proof.

1.2 Problem Statement

Named as "Garden City", Singapore has a good reputation for its nice environment and air quality. However, there is still pollution around here, especially the air pollution caused by the heavy traffic that surrounds us all day. According to the official data [11], 20% of the total carbon emission and 75% of the air pollution in Singapore are caused by the land transportation system, mostly attributed by the motorized traffic. As a result, Singapore government is working on mitigating the environment problem due to the traffic system by introducing the clean EVs as the replacement for traditional internal combustion vehicles. The Singapore authorities have started to test the possibility and feasibility of introducing EVs into Singapore since 2011. As a metropolis with advanced energy network, the electric-car manufacturer BYD Asia-Pacific announced that Singapore has the "best potential" to implement EVs [12].

The construction of EV charging stations is the first challenge, to which the government needs to rise for the successful introduction of EVs. Besides the finance concern, there are some elements far more important and urgent, among which traffic condition is of top priority. The planning of charging stations calls for a careful investigation to avoid aggravating the traffic congestion of this small city. Specifically, Singapore is a small metropolis with a very small territory of $718.3km^2$ only (Fig. 1.1). The maximum east-west distance is 42km, while the north-south distance is barely 23km. In a city like Singapore, the most commonly considered problem, namely the limited EVs mileage (usually above 100km and some can exceed 500km [13]) is not a big issue. Contrasting with the small territory of Singapore is its huge population, which also means a large population of vehicles. According to the Singapore official announcement, there are more than 970,000 motor vehicles in the year 2014 on this small island, which indicates the heavy traffic. The fact implies that rather than limited mileage, we should make more efforts on balancing the traffic in consideration of EV users' charging behaviors.



FIGURE 1.1: Zonal map of Singapore

As a highly developed metropolis with open attitudes toward cutting-edge technologies, yet a country with limited natural resource and energy supply, Singapore is actively seeking the possibility of mass adoption of EVs to support its sustainable development. Ever since 2011, its authorities have started an EV test-bed to study the feasibility of EVs on its road. More recently, in the Government's sustainable blueprint to guide the country's development over the next 15 years launched in 2014, Singapore has even



FIGURE 1.2: Population growth rate of major residential zones of Singapore from 2010 to 2015

planned to lead an EV-sharing project to make the new technology even more convenient and environmentally-friendly.

Indeed, the relatively short driving distances on the small territory and the advanced power grid of Singapore make EVs a good option for this city. However, there are also many difficulties that require every step taken to be carefully planned. Because of the land scarcity and the fact that roads have already taken up 12 percent of Singapore's total land area, there is limited room for further expansion of Singapore's road network. This leaves Singapore a very high road density of $4.8 km/km^2$ and a transportation system that is highly sensitive to any changes to the current transportation mode. Besides, Singapore is undergoing a rapid change in the residential pattern along with its continuing development. As shown in Figure 1.2, population growth varies significantly among major residential zones of Singapore, indicating similar significant changes in residential traffic pattern. A sustainable plan, therefore, needs to be compatible with the current system while adaptable to future changes, to ensure a smooth transition toward the new EV-led transportation mode.

The real-world case of Singapore city motivates our work and offers us a concrete study case. In this thesis, the presented three works are aiming at developing approaches



FIGURE 1.3: Three main works of the thesis

to solve electric vehicle charging station placement and management problem for cities like Singapore. The typical features of such small metropolis are fully taken into consideration in problem formulations. However, our approaches can easily be extended to other real-world problems. In each work, we provide such discussion while introducing the problem models.

1.3 Objectives and Contributions

We describe our objectives in dealing with unfair rating attacks, regarding all the problems mentioned in the section above. And also we present our main contributions on the way of achieving the objectives. The overall structure and relationship of the three main works in this thesis is shown in Figure 1.3.

For successful diffusion of electric vehicles, the support from charging stations is essential and vital. To find optimal charging station placement, we formulate a realistic model for the charging station placement problem in cities like Singapore considering the interactions among charging station placement, EV drivers' charging activities, traffic congestion and queuing condition in charging stations. We target in highly centralized and developed cities like Singapore, and thus the mileage anxiety of EV drivers is not considered. Through exploiting the structure of solution concept of the charging game, we transform an equivalent single-level charging station placement problem from the bi-level optimization formulation obtained. We develop an effective heuristic approach that can speed up the mixed integer single-level optimization problem with a large amount of non-linear constraints. We conduct theoretical analysis on PoA and corresponding experiments for the charging game. To validate the proposed approach, we demonstrate experimental results based on real data from Singapore, which show that our approach can provide an effective allocation of charging stations and outperforms baseline methods significantly.

Considering that charging station placement is not once for all, we conduct the continuous work based on the placement problem. The city population grows and shifts along with the unbalanced development in different parts of the urban area. To improve the performance of settled charging stations and make it adaptive to city changes, we suggest to incentivize the EV drivers' charging behavior with pricing method. To compute optimal pricing for charging station management, we take a game-theoretic perspective to study the EV charging station pricing problem motivated by the practical need of EV promotion in Singapore. The first point is a novel pricing model that comprehensively incorporates EV users' self-interested charging behavior and their various traffic patterns, traffic congestion contributed by EVs and other non-EV vehicles in the road network, as well as the financial concern for a sustainable operation of the charging network. The second point is the algorithm, SSGA, to solve the mixed integer non-convex optimal pricing problem, which features two key rules that guarantee efficient converging to equilibrium solution and drastically improves the running time performance. Last, our extensive experiments and results demonstrate our approach in several aspects, including solution quality, scalability, and robustness. Moreover, we compare our approach with uniform pricing and demonstrate how and to what extent SSGA can help with improving the traffic system efficiency and decreasing social cost caused by EV owners' charging behavior. Our approach can be applied in various modern cities like the motivating example Singapore to manage the charging stations in the future. We are actively approaching authorities of Singapore to look for such potential application.

Furthermore, we relax the strong assumption on EV drivers' fully rational charging

behavior in the placement and management work. Considering the real-world scenarios, we can see that human drivers can hardly follow the equilibrium strategies due to their limited computation ability etc. Thus, we improve the placement of charging stations with the consideration of bounded rational human behavior to make the solution more robust for adoption on real-world problems. We formulate the EV Charging Station Placement problem (CSPP) with consideration of the bounded rational charging behavior of EV drivers. We propose a 2-Level Nested LQRE-Charging behavior model for the EV drivers to capture the EV drivers' irrational charging behaviors. From the human data and the analysis on it, we find that (1) human players rarely consider the influence from others' charging behavior and (2) they make decisions based on stationary factors. With the 2-Level Nested LQRE-Charging behavior model, we compute the optimal solution for CSPP and compare it with two benchmarks. The experimental results show that our approach significantly outperforms the benchmark in terms of the social cost, average queuing time and the maximum queuing time that the EV drivers would encounter. Our approach provides a better charging station placement, which can improve EV drivers' charging experience. This could be helpful in promoting EVs to the public. The EV charging behavior model can also be applied to other relating problems. For example, when charging stations have been constructed, governors can use pricing as a method to guide the EV drivers.

1.4 Thesis Organization

The first chapter of this thesis has introduced the background and motivation of the proposed research. Game theory will be employed to model and analyze the facility location and management problems. We also combine game theory with behavior study to understand the bounded rational charging behavior of EV drivers.

In the following, Chapter 2 reviews the prior research works on facility location, facility management (especially for dynamic pricing method), game theory (especially for congestion games, including the pure and mixed equilibrium computation as well as the price of anarchy and stability), optimization and bounded rational human behavior

study. For the ease of understanding, relating theoretical knowledge and concepts, based on which we develop our approaches, are presented in Chapter 3.

Chapter 4 introduces the work on charging station placement. Firstly, we build a realistic Charging Station Placement Problem (CSPP) model, in which the EV drivers' strategic charging behaviors, the traffic condition and the queuing time in charging stations are considered. The overall objective is set as minimizing the total charging cost of EV drivers (named social cost), and EV drivers are assumed to minimize their charging cost with strategic charging behavior. We formulate the CSPP as a bi-level optimization problem, where we take the social cost as the upper-level objective, which is the goal of the government (who is assumed to be the one to decide the placement of charging stations); a charging game (which falls into the class of congestion games) is formulated in the sub-level problem and Nash Equilibrium is adopted to define the EV drivers' charging behaviors. Secondly, we successfully transfer the bi-level optimization problem into an equivalent single-level optimization problem by analyzing the definition and structure of the Nash Equilibrium in the charging game. We propose the algorithm OCEAN (Optimizing eleCtric vEhicle chArging statioN placement) to compute the optimal charging station placement. However, the real-world problems have a large scale of variables, and OCEAN is unable to handle them due to the existence of integer variables and the huge variable space. Thus we furthermore work out a heuristic algorithm OCEAN-C (OCEAN with Continuous variables) that can handle the real-world CSPP and ensure solution quality. Thirdly, we design and execute a lot of experiments for both mock data and the real situation of Singapore. The experimental results prove that the designed algorithms OCEAN-C can efficiently solve the CSPP and our approach outperforms some typical baseline methods.

Chapter 5 is the work on optimal pricing for charging station placement. We take a game-theoretic perspective and build the problem on a non-atomic congestion game played by EV users. The model incorporates the following key features: 1) EV users' self-interested charging behavior that they strategically choose the best charging plan (i.e., where to charge and how to reach the charge station) to minimize their costs including charging fees, traveling time, and queuing time; 2) EV users' traffic pattern with complex spatial variances; 3) Traffic congestion in the road network that is affected by both the EVs and other external vehicles; and 4) A budget constraint that ensures sufficient income to support the sustainable operation of the charging network. Using this model, we formulate the EV charging station pricing problem as a mixed integer non-convex optimization problem and propose a scalable algorithm to solve the problem, in particular, to deal with the large strategy space of the EVs. Experiments on both mock and real data are also conducted, which show scalability of our algorithm as well as our solution's significant improvement in social cost over existing approaches. A concrete instance is also used to visualize the difference between our approach and existing approaches.

Chapter 6 presents the charging behavior study and the optimization for charging station placement problem. The first contribution of this work is a realistic charging behavior model for charging activities. Each EV driver is trying to minimize his/her charging cost while making decisions and competing with each other for using the charging stations. This work proposes an optimal charging station placement model which aims at minimizing the congestion in charging stations suffered by all EV drivers. We take into account the bounded rational charging behavior of EV drivers. Through analyzing EV drivers' decision-making in the charging process, we propose a 2-Level Nested LQRE charging behavior model that combines LQRE model and level-k thinking model. We design a set of user studies to simulate the charging scenarios, collect data from human players and learn parameters of the 2-Level Nested LQRE charging behavior model. Experimental results show that our charging behavior model well captures the bounded rationality of human players in the charging process. The selection distribution of all players tends to converge after a number of repeated playing. Furthermore, we formulate the charging station placement problem with the 2-Level Nested LQRE model and design a heuristic searching algorithm to solve it. Our approach obtains placement with a significantly better performance by decreasing more than 8% for the social cost compared with benchmark approaches.

In Chapter 7, we discuss the three works presented in Chapter 4 to Chapter 6 and conclude these works. We also suggest several research topics for future.

Chapter 2

Related Work and Preliminaries

2.1 Charging Station Placement

In the past years, the raising concern of the shortage of non-renewable energy has made new energy a hot research topic. In the transportation domain, the electric vehicle is regarded as an ideal substitute for traditional vehicles.

Many researchers have made efforts in related techniques to enable/speed up the EV diffusion, for example analyzing the key factors that may infect the construction of EV infrastructure [14]. Meanwhile, many researchers are working on integrating EVs into the traditional transportation network, for example with a system for EV integration with energy grid [15]. Rigas et al. gave a survey of such research works [16].

While charging is a premium issue for EV diffusion, placement of charging stations and charging mechanism are two important topics worth studying. There are some works studying the charging mechanism/pattern based on settled charging network. Rei et al. presented a charging control mechanism for EVs to integrate with the power grid [17]. Bashash and Fathy designed a cost-optimal charging pattern for EVs that want to minimize the cost when charging in a time-varying pricing network [18]. Alesiani et al. focused on the routing problem of EVs when they want to decide the charging destination with consideration of the charging cost, remaining energy etc [19]. In addition, some works focus on new ideas. For example, providing mobile charging rather than charging at changeless places for EVs [20] or designing sustainable transportation rather than merging into the current one [21].

There is also some research on the placement of charging stations. Tan and Lin proposed to site the charging stations mainly concerning the demand flow and its uncertainty [22]. Unfortunately, their work fails to consider the interactive and implicitly competing EV drivers. Timpner and Wolf designed a scheduling strategy in the case EVs are charged in carparks [23]. However, this is not applicable to the general case for the potentially large number of users in the city, because equipping each carpark with charging infrastructure is not realistic. Hausler et al.'s work also combines charging and parking [24]. Baouche et al. modeled the charging stations with a modified Fixed Charge Location Model mixed with a p-dispersion constraint, which is used to minimize the charging cost and construction cost [25]. Although accurate estimation of travel and energy demand was proposed, the authors ignored the influence of the self-directed EV drivers' behavior.

Facility location decisions are commonly required in modern society, like in the planning and construction of public facilities. Due to the high investment, inconvenience in replanning and reconstruction, and the dynamic and unpredictable future environment, facility location is a class of knotty yet challenging problem and has engaged many excellent researchers in this area. In this section, we discuss existing works according to the problem models and proposed algorithms.

The MiniSum models aim to minimize the total cost of the facility placement process, which usually consists of the construction cost of different facilities and (or) the use-cost of all facility users. The relating factors are usually taken into consideration through the existence of constraints. Such models consider the facility location problems as single-level optimization problems [26–29].

Another class of widely used models is MiniMax regret model, which aims to minimize the worst-case (i.e., the maximum) social cost (i.e., the total cost of the investors and facility users) or other cost function (e.g., the weighted distance for users to use their assigned facilities). Existing works that use the Minimax regret model include [30–34]. Bi-level optimization is also frequently used in facility locating since the conflict objectives of investor and facility users can be split into two levels. When the investor decides the facility location decisions, the facility users can make their own decisions in choosing facilities rather than be assigned to corresponding facilities. There have been some works research and use this method to solve the facility location problems [35–39].

Different facility location models satisfy different real-world scenarios. However, more existing work usually attaches no sufficient importance to the target of facility placement: the facility users. They failed in capture the interactions between facility users and the placed facilities. In our research on age-friendly city planning and construction, we will employ bi-level optimization models to capture the problem nature. More specifically, we will use multi-objective bi-level optimization models (more details in Section 2.4.2). However, there is a breach of research on this topic. Therefore, we will analyze the facility location problems in depth and combine knowledge from other areas to make our model more comprehensive (e.g., psychology knowledge for human behavior modeling and transportation research for traffic modeling).

2.2 Facility Management

While there have been some existing work concerning the management of EV charging stations, they mostly focused on the spatial placement of charging stations. For example, Frad et al. studied the placement and capacity allocation of EV charging stations for an area of Lisbon with the emphasis on maximizing coverage of charging demand-s [40]. Wong et al. proposed a multi-objective planning model for the placement of EV charging stations in Chengdu, China, with a solution based on demand and usage of existing gas stations [41]. Chen et al. particularly considered EV users' costs for accessing charging stations, and minimizing the costs and penalizing unmet demand [42]. Moreover, He et al. and Xiong et al. took a more broad view and emphasized the impact on the overall efficiency of transportation system when optimizing the placement [7, 10]. However, a major drawback of the existing work is that such once-for-all solutions can hardly adapt to rapidly changing urban structures. Development of local infrastructures,

such as opening-up of a new hospital, shopping mall, school, or housing estate, can all fundamentally modify the residential traffic pattern, making it unbalanced against the existing charging network. Thus follow-up adjustments are expected but might be costly and inefficient if we only rely on optimizing the placement.

2.2.1 Dynamic Pricing

There have been some works leveraging dynamic pricing to improve the efficiency of public transportation systems, such as taxi systems [3, 4]. Some works have particularly focused on real-time pricing and charge-discharge policy for EV management [5, 6]. However, their aim is just to balance electricity load in power grids, while traffic condition is not in their consideration. Moreover, their method cannot be incorporated with trivial modifications because the traffic condition deeply relates to EV users' self-interested charing behavior associated with a graph-based road network, which is all absent from existing work.

2.3 Congestion Games and Equilibrium

Congestion games have been proved to be potential game. The complexity of congestion game is greatly relevant to the latency function of congestible resources in the congestion game. Existing works mainly study the computation of pure Nash equilibrium of congestion game, the price of anarchy and the price of stability. However, there is a shortage of research on mixed Nash equilibrium. Next, we will review the existing works on congestion game regarding different topics (computation of pure Nash equilibrium, the price of anarchy and price and stability). At the end of this section, we will briefly discuss the mixed Nash equilibrium of congestion game.

2.3.1 Computation of Pure Nash Equilibrium

Congestion games defined by Rosenthal in 1973 [43] are a class of games with players and resources, while the resources are congestible, i.e., the cost of using a resource depends on the number of users that use it. Rosenthal also proved that any congestion game is a potential game, while the converse that a potential game always has a congestion game with the same potential function [44]. With the help of potential functions, the existence of pure Nash equilibrium in congestion games can be proved. The computation of pure Nash equilibrium has been studied by researchers since congestion game was defined [45–51].

2.3.2 Price of Anarchy and Price of Stability

Price of anarchy and price of stability are important for measuring the performance the Nash equilibrium comparing with the idealized social optimal solution which has no consideration of the players' strategic decisions. Price of anarchy is the ratio of the worst-case social cost among the Nash equilibria to the idealized social optimal, while the price of stability is the ratio of the best-case social cost among the Nash equilibria to the idealized social optimal solution. Studies on price of anarchy of pure Nash equilibria are presented in some works [52–59]. These works concentrate on the linear or polynomial congestion games, where the price of anarchy can be proved an upper bound 2.618. Price of stability is studied in [54, 57, 59–61].

2.3.3 Mixed Nash Equilibrium

As far as we know, there is no existing work studying the mixed Nash equilibrium for congestion games. One reason is that in most scenarios, it is reasonable to assume that the players consult pure equilibrium strategies, i.e., one player uses one fixed strategy. However, this can be unrealistic in some real-world problems. For example, in the electric vehicle charging station placement problem, the electric vehicle drivers do not have to stick to the same charging station, on the contrary, they will choose different charging stations according to various elements. A class of congestion game, named non-atomic game [48, 59], consider this case but still use pure Nash equilibrium to compute the strategy distribution rather than mixed Nash equilibrium.

Existing researches mostly study on the linear/quadratic congestion games and stick to pure Nash equilibrium. We assert that this is not realistic in some real-world scenarios (e.g., the electric vehicle charging station placement problem). Our research will study the congestion game with non-quadratic or even non-convex congestion function according to the reality. At the same time, we will work on the mixed Nash equilibrium considering the user features of some kind of facilities.

2.4 Bi-Level Optimization

Research on the challenging bi-level Optimization first appeared in 1973 and named as Mathematical Programs with Optimization Problems in the Constraints by Bracken and McGill [62]. Since then, there has been a bunch of work on applications and algorithms of bi-level optimization emerged. Generally speaking, bi-level optimizations are often transferred to single-level optimizations for computing solutions by using exact or approximate methodologies to replace the sub-level optimization with constraints. We review the existing works on such bi-level optimization methods in the first part, while the second part will be the discussion on the existing work on studies of a more complex class of bi-level optimization: multi-objective optimization.

2.4.1 Transformation to Single-Level Optimization

To solve the bi-level optimization through problem transformation from bi-level to single-level, in classic exact approaches, researchers usually make the assumption on s-moothness, linearity, and convexity. There are three classes of classic approaches, KKT conditions, branch-and-bound and penalty methods. Meanwhile, a class of evolution-ary approaches is being studied and applied to compute optimal solution for bi-level optimization. We review the existing work according to the approaches employed as follows.

Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) optimality conditions are frequently used in bi-level optimization. Bianco et al. use a linear bi-level optimization to formulate a transportation network design problem and solve it by using KKT conditions and complementary
constraints linearization, which helps to transform the bi-level optimization into singlelevel optimization [63]. Similar approaches that use KKT conditions to eliminate the sub-level optimization and transform the bi-level optimization into single-level optimization are used for linear [64, 65], convex [66–69] and even non-convex [70] bi-level optimization problems.

Branch-and-bound (B&B) approach is another class of approach for solving bi-level optimization in a classical way. B&B is an algorithm designed for discrete and combinatorial optimization problems first proposed by Land and Doig [71] for non-convex discrete programming. The basic idea of B&B is to split the feasible region into subregions and compare the optimal solutions (e.g., minimum objective) in different subregions. Once there is a subregion A, where the lower bound of the objective for variables in A is greater than the upper bound of the objective for variables in another subregion B, the subregion A can be safely discarded in the search. B&B approach is applied for solving linear [64, 65], convex [66, 72–74] and nonconvex [71] bi-level optimization problems. Some of these works combine B&B with KKT conditions to solve bi-level optimizations [64–66]

Another class of classic approach for transforming bi-level optimization into singlelevel optimization is called penalty methods. The initial step of penalty method in bi-level optimization was achieved by Aiyoshi and Shimizu [75, 76] and Shimizu and Aiyoshi [77]. The penalty methods replace the sub-level optimization problem by the penalized problem, which adds a large value for unsatisfied constraint and otherwise 0 to the minimizing objective. Penalty methods are used for linear [78–81], convex [82, 83] and noconvex [84] bi-level optimizations. Some works combine the penalty methods with KKT conditions in solving bi-level optimization problems [78, 81].

Evolutionary techniques have been developed in recent years. The general format of solving bi-level optimization with evolutionary techniques is to solve the upper-level optimization and sub-level optimization iteratively. One advantage of using evolutionary techniques is that these methods do not adhere to the simplifying assumptions required by classic exact methods. Such methods have been used to solve non-convex optimization problems in [85–88] etc.

2.4.2 Multi-Objective Bi-Level Optimization

Despite the extensive number of complex real-world problems that can be formulated as general bi-level optimization problems, there are some problems even more complicated such that a comprehensive model is necessary to be multi-objective, which means that the problem can have multiple objectives at one or both levels. There have been several research works on the multi-objective bi-level optimization problems. For example, Echfelder expresses the feasible points for the upper-level problem as a solution set of a multi-objective optimization problem and then approximates the solution set using results from the multi-objective optimization [89]. Evolutionary optimization is also employed in relating works [90–94].

Bi-level optimization problems (both the general format ones and the generating multi-objective ones) are important research topics in both mathematical programming and operation research communities. As far as we can see, although there have been some dedicated algorithms for some classes of bi-level optimization problems, efficient and comprehensive researches on other classes are still in need. There are three challenges still remain intractable: 1) for non-convex bi-level optimization problems, which are common in real-world scenarios, we still need efficient exact approaches; 2) multi-objective bi-level optimization problems add an additional stratum of difficulty for researchers; 3) there are no mathematical tools for bi-level optimization problem-s like CPLEX and KNITRO for single-level optimization problems. In our proposed research, it is inevitable for us to encounter multi-objective bi-level optimization problems.

2.5 Bounded Rational Human Behavior Study

When EV drivers make decisions for charging EVs, they are self-interested and competing with each other to use the chargers in charging stations. Congestion game is a natural method to model this scenario with EVs as players and charging stations as congestible resources. EVs' charging behavior (i.e., the decision on using which charging station) influences the performance of charging stations, which in turn impacts their decisions.

Perfect rationality has been extensively studied and used to model players' decisionmaking in congestion games [95, 96]. Nash equilibrium (NE) in a game is defined as the state where no players can improve his/her utility by unilaterally changing his/her own decision. While the number of players goes to infinity, NE converges to the Wardrop user equilibrium (UE), i.e., whichever choice used by the players has the same and maximum utility. However, the assumptions in perfect rationality are usually impractical in reality due to players' lack of accurate information (on others' behavior) and computational ability. Bounded rationality is first proposed by Simon [97], where players tend to seek a satisfactory solution rather than an optimal one. However, the qualitative definition of "satisfactory solution" does not specify its distance from the optimal solution and thus it is hard to quantitatively evaluate it for specific problems. Moreover, the existence of bounded rational user equilibria (BRUE) makes the solution space a non-convex set.

The CSPP has been widely studied in past years. Most of them[8, 9, 40–42, 98–101] ignore the interdependent influence of the participating EV drivers' behavior on the performance of the charging station placement. Among the few works that consider EV drivers' behavior, He et al. [7] use a multinomial logit model to model the EV drivers' charging route distribution. However, they fail to explain why the drivers' behavior would form the distribution and how to select the parameter in the logit model. Xiong et al. [10] assume that the drivers are fully rational in the charging game and would form Nash equilibrium in choosing charging stations, which is usually impractical in real-world scenarios.

In this work, we aim to study the bounded rationality of EV drivers in their charging activity and integrate our obtained realistic charging behavior model into the CSPP. We build a charging behavior model for the EV drivers based on LQRE model and level-k thinking model. We learn the EV drivers' preference over different choices from human data and reveal the bounded rationality of players.

However, the assumptions in perfect rationality are usually impractical in reality due to players' lack of accurate information (on others' behavior) and computational ability. Bounded rationality is first proposed by Simon [97], where players tend to seek a satisfactory solution rather than an optimal one. However, the qualitative definition of "satisfactory solution" does not specify its distance from the optimal solution and thus it is hard to quantitatively evaluate it for specific problems. Moreover, the existence of bounded rational user equilibria (BRUE) makes the solution space a non-convex set.

2.5.1 Quantal Response Equilibrium

To model the bounded rationality of human players, Mckelvey and Palfrey [102] propose Quantal response equilibrium (QRE). QRE specifies a set of mixed strategies for each player while assuming a random perception error in utility estimation. A typical QRE formation is the logit equilibrium (LQRE) (refer to Eq.(2.3)) based on an presumed error distribution, i.e., i.i.d. Gumbel distribution. Note that the subscript *i* denotes a specific choice, u_i is the utility of choice *i*, and p_i is the probability of using choice *i*.

$$p_i = \frac{e^{\lambda u_i}}{\sum_j e^{\lambda u_j}} \tag{2.1}$$

However, the rationality parameter $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$ defined in QRE may vary from problem to problem, and from experiment to experiment. This character hinders the application of QRE in real-world problems. Some works (e.g. [103]) discover that value of λ is largely dependent on specific problem structure, but there is no further research on how it is influenced.

Yang et al. [104] used QRE to model the bounded rationality of adversaries. Pita et al. [105] used a robust optimization technique named MATCH to compute the optimal strategy of defenders. Nguyen et al. [106] later integrated a subjective utility function with the QRE model.

However, the existing works using QRE to study human behavior treat the rationality parameter as a constant. While we apply this rule in the experimental analysis of our designed simulations, we find that it fails to fit the real data. Intuitively, the



FIGURE 2.1: The value function of prospect theory



FIGURE 2.2: The weighting function of prospect theory

rationality of a human being should be highly dependent on the problem complexity, i.e., people can make a rational choice when faced with a very easy situation, but it becomes harder when the situation becomes complicated. Eliaz [107] studied the influence of complexity (which indicates the response rule) on players' decision making in games; Diasakos [108] studied the relationship between the bounded rationality and the searching cost of alternatives, which was estimated by the number of machine states. However, none of them modeled the rationality level of human players as a function of the problem complexity.

2.5.2 **Prospect Theory and Cognitive Hierarchy Theory**

Human behavior has also been valued and extensively studied in the economic research community. Prospect theory, a Nobel-prize-winning theory is a classic behavior economic theory proposed by Daniel Kahneman and Amos Tversky [109]. Prospect theory

(as shown in Figures 2.1 and 2.2) describes that people's prospect utility for a certain decision is influenced by a reference point, as well as the loss or gain versus it. However, competition among people is not in the consideration of prospect theory. Another behavior model, cognitive hierarchy model (which is well known for Level-k thinking model [110]) assumes that players act with different levels of rationality.

2.6 Preliminaries

In this section, we present some concepts and theorems from Game theory. Our approach is mostly based on these concepts.

Game theory is the study of strategic decision making, which is widely used in economics, political science, psychology, biology, logics and computer science. Three elements of a game are players, strategies, and payoff. Figure 2.3 shows a typical two-player game, where there are two players and the players respectively have m and n strategies. Different outcomes in the cells give different payoffs for each player, where the number in the left is the payoff of player 1 and the right is for player 2. A game of real-world is usually much more complex than the example. For example, the payoff for each player can be a complex function of time and both players' strategies. In some cases, players in a game choose one pure strategy (i.e., each player consults to one strategy), but in other cases, players can consult to a mixed strategy, i.e., play different strategies with a probability distribution. Nash equilibrium is the most basic solution concept for such kind of non-cooperative games, where two or more players choose their best strategies without consideration of cooperation reciprocality. Each player is assumed to know the equilibrium strategies of all other players and has nothing else to gain by changing only its own strategy in Nash equilibrium.

Congestion games are a class of games proposed by Rosenthal in 1973 [43]. The motivation of congestion games comes from traffic scenarios, where the payoff of players depends on the load of the resources that they select to use. The definition of a discrete congestion game is described below.

	Player 2 Strategy 1		Player 2 Strategy n
Player 1 Strategy 1	1, 3		4, 2
:	÷	·.	÷
Player 1 Strategy m	0, -1		-1, 4

FIGURE 2.3: Payoff matrix of a normal game with two players

Definition 2.1. (Congestion Game) A discrete congestion game consists of following components:

- A basic set of congestible elements E;
- *n* players;
- A finite set of strategies S_i for each player i, where each pure strategy P ∈ S_i is a subset of congestible elements E;
- The load x_e of a congestible element e is decided by all players strategies, i.e.,
 x_e = #{i : e ∈ P_i};
- The payoff $v_e(x_e)$ of element e is dependent on its load x_e ;
- With strategy P_i , player *i* gets payoff $\sum_{e \in P_i} v_e$.

Since congestion games are a special case of potential games, there are always Nash equilibria (defined below for above-defined congestion game) for congestion games.

Definition 2.2. (Nash Equilibrium) In the congestion game, let P be the strategy profile for all n players, where P_i is the strategy for player i and P_{-i} is the strategy for all players except player i. Under each strategy profile, each player i has payoff $V_i(P) = \sum_{e \in P_i} v_e$. A strategy profile P^* is a Nash equilibrium if no player can increase his/her payoff by unilaterally changing his/her strategy, i.e.,

$$V_i(P_i^*, P_{-i}^*) > V_i(P_i, P_{-i}^*), \forall i, \forall P_i \in S_i.$$
(2.2)

When the number of players $n \to \infty$, the discrete congestion game can be treated as a continuous congestion game (also named non-atomic congestion game). In this case, one player is considered to be "infinitely small". The equilibrium state P^* of continuous congestion game can be redefined as $v_e^* = \min_{e \in E} v_e, \forall e^* \in P^*$.

The traditional game theory assumes full rationality from players, which means human players can compactly know the strategies of all players and compute the optimal strategy accordingly. However, this is nearly impossible due to a number of limitations. In reality, players are always bounded rational. To model the bounded rationality of human players, Mckelvey and Palfrey [102] propose Quantal response equilibrium (QRE). QRE specifies a set of mixed strategies for each player while assuming a random perception error in utility estimation. A typical QRE formation is the logit equilibrium (LQRE) defined below.

Definition 2.3. (Logit Quantal Response Equilibrium) In logit quantal response equilibrium, players form a strategy distribution based on a presumed error distribution, i.e., i.i.d. Gumbel distribution. The probability of players selecting strategy i is p_i as stated with Equation (2.3), where u_i is the payoff of strategy i and λ is called a rationality parameter for the players.

$$p_i = \frac{e^{\lambda u_i}}{\sum_j e^{\lambda u_j}} \tag{2.3}$$

When $\lambda \to 0$, players tend to be irrational and choose one option randomly based on a uniform distribution; when λ increase, players tend to be more rational; $\lambda \to \infty$ means that players are full rational and would all use the optimal strategy (in this case, LQRE converge to Nash equilibrium).

Bi-level optimization is a class of optimization problems, where an optimization is embedded in another (be part of the constraints). The outer optimization task is usually named upper-level optimization task, while the inner one is referred to as sublevel optimization. Variables exist in both levels. A general formulation of bi-level optimization can be represented as follows.

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in X, \mathbf{y}\in Y} \quad F(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), \tag{2.4}$$

s.t.
$$G_i(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \le 0, \forall i \in \{1, ..., I\},$$
 (2.5)

$$H_k(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = 0, \forall k \in \{1, ..., K\},$$
 (2.6)

$$\mathbf{y} \in \arg\max_{\mathbf{z} \in Y} f(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}), \tag{2.7}$$

s.t.
$$g_j(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \le 0, \forall j \in \{1, ..., J\},$$
 (2.8)

$$h_l(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = 0, \forall l \in \{1, ..., L\}.$$
 (2.9)

In above formulation, there are two classes of variables, x and y respectively refer to the upper-level problem and sub-level problem. F and f respectively represent the optimization objective for upper-level optimization and sub-level optimization, meanwhile a series of inequality and equality constraint functions for upper-level (and sub-level) optimization are indicated by G (and g) and H (and h), respectively.

In practice, bi-level optimization commonly occurs in a number of real-world problems, including domains of transportation, economics, decision science, business, engineering and environmental economics. In our research, the facility location problem has two sides, i.e., the investor and the facility users, thus we will formulate the facility location problems as bi-level optimization problems with the objective of investors (e.g., the government) as the upper-level optimization task and the objective of facility users as the sub-level optimization task.

Chapter 3

Optimal Electric Vehicle Fast Charging Station Placement

Fossil fuels are generally considered as non-renewable resources and the running out is only a matter of time. Meanwhile, the environmental problem caused by burning the fossil fuels is aggregating. Therefore, it has been an arisen topic to study and use alternative energies. Transportation is the main consumer of fossil fuel energy and contributes a large proportion to the pollution. Electric Vehicles (EVs) are promising to replace traditional internal combustion vehicles and move pollution away from urban areas. Electricity is efficiently transformed from both fossil fuels and renewable energies (e.g., solar energy and tidal energy). Thus EVs on the road can achieve zero emission and reduce the pollution from transportation. In recent years, there has been a rapid growth of studies on EVs accompanying with the rising popularity of the smart city concept [111]. A top-priority element for efficient and fast diffusion of EVs is the support of charging facilities like fast charging stations. Although charging at home is an alternative for the EV users, it costs too much time (which can reach 6 to 8 hours). Charging stations with high voltage [112] is then a necessity for the convenience of EV users because it can charge the EVs at least 12 times faster. The EV drivers' convenience of charging is highly dependent on the distribution of charging stations. Thus the latter can affect the public's willingness to choosing EVs, and the EV drivers' charging behaviors. Consequently, the traffic conditions in the road network and the charging system's performance are also influenced.

To study the Charging Station Placement Problem (CSPP) realistically, we consider the self-interested charging behaviors of EV users, which are competitive and strategic. The interaction of charging behaviors with environmental factors including traffic condition in the road network and queuing condition in charging stations are also formulated into the model to decide the optimal charging station placement. There are mainly three reasons for such consideration. First, the queuing condition in charging stations is considered because the queuing experience in charging stations is proven to be significant for the adoption of EVs [1, 2]. Second, inspired by the works of Gan et al. [3, 113], we can see that the traffic congestion is influential in car drivers' driving activity, especially during peak hours. Thus we plan the charging stations based on the peak hour traffic network to minimize the charging activities' influence on the traffic condition. Third, since the EV users' cannot be centralized, we need to analyze how their charging behaviors are influenced by factors like distribution and size of charging stations and traffic condition.

This chapter makes three main contributions. Firstly, we build a realistic CSPP model, in which the EV drivers' strategic charging behaviors, the traffic condition and the queuing time in charging stations are considered. The overall objective is set as minimizing the total charging cost of EV drivers (named social cost), and EV drivers are assumed to minimize their charging cost with strategic charging behavior. We formulate the CSPP as a bi-level optimization problem, where we take the social cost as the upper-level objective, which is the goal of the government (who is assumed to be the one to decide the placement of charging stations); a charging game (which falls into the class of congestion games) is formulated in the sub-level problem and Nash Equilibrium is adopted to define the EV drivers' charging behaviors. Secondly, we successfully transfer the bi-level optimization problem into an equivalent single-level optimization problem by analyzing the definition and structure of the Nash Equilibrium in the charging game. We propose the algorithm OCEAN (Optimizing eleCtric vEhicle chArging station) placement) to compute the optimal charging station placement. However, the real-world problems have a large scale of variables, and OCEAN is unable to

handle them due to the existence of integer variables and the huge variable space. Thus we furthermore work out a heuristic algorithm OCEAN-C (OCEAN with Continuous variables) that can handle the real-world CSPP and ensure solution quality. Thirdly, we design and execute a lot of experiments for both mock data and the real situation of Singapore. The experimental results prove that the designed algorithms OCEAN-C can efficiently solve the CSPP and our approach outperforms some typical baseline methods.

3.1 Charging Station Placement in Singapore

Named as "Garden City", Singapore has a good reputation for its nice environment and air quality. However, there is still pollution around here, especially the air pollution caused by the heavy traffic that surrounds us all day. According to the official data [11], 20% of the total carbon emission and 75% of the air pollution in Singapore are caused by the land transportation system, mostly attributed by the motorized traffic. As a result, Singapore government is working on mitigating the environment problem due to the traffic system by introducing the clean EVs as a replacement for traditional internal combustion vehicles. The Singapore authorities have started to test the possibility and feasibility of introducing EVs into Singapore since 2011. As a metropolis with advanced energy network, the electric-car manufacturer BYD Asia-Pacific announced that Singapore has the "best potential" to implement EVs [12].

The construction of EV charging stations is the first challenge, to which the government needs to rise for the successful introduction of EVs. Besides the finance concern, there are some elements far more important and urgent, among which traffic condition is of top priority. The planning of charging stations calls for a careful investigation to avoid aggravating the traffic congestion of this small city. Specifically, Singapore is a small metropolis with a very small territory of $718.3km^2$ only (Figure 1.1). The maximum east-west distance is 42km, while the north-south distance is barely 23km. In a city like Singapore, the most commonly considered problem, namely the limited EVs mileage (usually above 100km and some can exceed 500km [13]) is not a big issue. Contrasting with the small territory of Singapore is its huge population, which also means a large population of vehicles. According to the Singapore official announcement, there are more than 970,000 motor vehicles in the year 2014 on this small island, which indicates the heavy traffic. The fact implies that rather than limited mileage, we should make more efforts on balancing the traffic in consideration of EV users' charging behaviors.

Our first consideration is to minimize the traffic congestion caused by the charging activities in the process of planning the distribution of charging stations. The traffic condition is influenced by charging activities of all the EV drivers. In return, it also influences the EV drivers' decision making of choosing charging destinations. Moreover, the queuing time in charging stations is also studied as a vital element that affects EV drivers' charging decisions. One reason is the long queuing time implies larger space required to accommodate queuing EVs in charging stations. Another is that it would frustrate the EV drivers' strategic and self-interested charging activities, traffic congestion on the roads and queuing time in charging stations to formulate the CSPP realistically. To compute the optimal solution, we propose OCEAN and an efficient heuristic algorithm OCEAN-C.

3.2 Charge Station Placement Problem

To minimize the social cost (defined in Section 3.2.3), we try to find the optimal charging station placement in a region. In the following, we first define the topology of the studied region and then explain how we define the charging cost of the EV users. A congestion-game-based interpretation of the CSPP is introduced afterwards, which is followed by a bi-level optimization formulation. For better understand of the definitions, we present all the notations used in problem definition section in Table 3.2.

3.2.1 Zones and Charging Stations

We divide the region to be analyzed into n zones in set $\mathcal{N} = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ according to the geographic and residential condition. We assume each zone is a candidate for

Notation	Description	
$\mathcal{N} = \{1, \dots, n\}$	The set of n zones (i.e., the charging station candidates)	
γ_i	The number of resident EV drivers in zone <i>i</i>	
x_i	The allocated number of chargers in zone <i>i</i>	
В	The budget of chargers to be allocated	
$A = \{a_{ij}\}$	The adjacent relationship among zones	
$R = \{\langle i, j \rangle\}$	The set of roads with $a_{ij} = 1$	
$D = \{d_{ij}\}$	The distance between pairs of zones	
α_{ij}^0	The background congestion on road $\langle i, j \rangle$	
α_{ij}	The congestion on road from zone i to zone j with consid-	
	eration of the charging EVs	
y_{ij}	The number of EVs from zone i , charge in j	
$y_j = \sum y_{ij}$	The total number of EVs charge in zone j	
f_{ij}	The travel time cost of an EV $\in y_{ij}$	
λ	Parameter in travel cost function	
1/ au	The proportion of EVs charge during peak hours	
k_{ij}	The inverse of road capacity (used for α_{ij})	
μ	The serve capacity per charger per unit time	
g_i	The queuing time in charging station <i>i</i>	
$\mathbf{p}_i = \{p_{ij}\}$	The charging strategy of EVs in zone <i>i</i>	
$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{P}_{-i})$	The strategy profile of all EVs (except EVs from zone <i>i</i>)	
C_i	The charging cost of all EVs in zone <i>i</i>	

TABLE 3.1: Notation overview

building charging station. The specific position of the station can be decided through preliminary studies, which is out of our consideration. For simplification, we name the candidate position as the center of the zone. In the following, we also use the set of zones to represent the set of changing station candidates. Any pair of zones are treated as adjacent if they share a geographical border and they are directly connected by the main road. The matrix $A = \{a_{ij}\}_{n \times n}$ is used to represent the adjacency relationship between different zones, where $a_{ij} = 1$ and $a_{ij} = 0$ respectively represents that zone *i* and zone *j* are adjacent or nonadjacent. For the ease of notations, we define a zone to be adjacent to itself, i.e., $a_{ii} = 1$. The matrix $D = \{d_{ij}\}_{n \times n}$ denotes the distances between pairs of zones. The average length of trips of EV drivers that reside in zone *i* and charge in zone *j* is d_{ij} , which is estimated by the distance between their centers, and d_{ii} is set as the radius of zone *i*. The concrete example of this thesis is Singapore. According to the conventional partitioning method from the official site, we divide it into a number of zones as shown in Figure 1.1.

3.2.2 The EV Model

Although EVs can be charged at home, some EV drivers would still need charging stations because (1) not everyone has his/her own garage to charge the EV and (2) they might forget to charge during the night (since charging at home is time-consuming) and need fast charging. We assume the number of resident EV owners in need of charging in charging stations in zone i as γ_i . The size of the charging station to be built in zone i, i.e., the number of chargers is denoted as x_i , which is to be decided in this work. Note that x_i is an integer and can be 0 (meaning that no charging station is built here). Intuitively, EV owners are not willing to drive too far to charge in nonadjacent zones in experiments as described in Section 3.4.2.4. The results prove it to be acceptable. Thus we assume that EV drivers can choose any one from adjacent zones to charge. The number of EVs that charge in the zone i during peak hours is denoted as y_i . Assume that electricity prices are the same for different charging stations, different charging destinations are indifferent to financial cost. Thus we only consider the time cost for EV drivers, including the travel time and the queuing time.

Travel time. We consider the distance d and traffic condition α (i.e., congestion level) on the road as two factors that influence the travel time. The relationship between travel time f and the two factors is shown with Equation (3.1), where λ is a constant [114].

$$f_{ij} = \lambda d_{ij} \alpha_{ij} \tag{3.1}$$

The congestion level α depends on the traffic on the road and is defined in Equaion (3.2) following transportation science research [115–118]. When there is more than one road directly leading from zone *i* to zone *j*, we use the average traffic condition, road capacity, and distance. We use α_{ij}^0 to denote the background traffic congestion, i.e., the normal traffic congestion caused by any other vehicles except the EVs heading for charging.

$$\alpha_{ij} = \alpha_{ij}^0 + k_{ij} y_{ij} / \tau \tag{3.2}$$

Note that k_{ij} denotes the inverse proportion of the road capacity; the charging flow from zone *i* to zone *j* is represented by y_{ij} ; and the fraction of EVs that charge during peak hours is set as $\frac{1}{\tau}$. Thus $k_{ij}\frac{y_{ij}}{\tau}$ represents the congestion caused by EV users' charging activities. The congestion level within zone *i* is α_{ii} , set as the average congestion level of the main roads inside zone *i*. We focus on the traffic condition and charging demand during peak hours because (1) the traffic congestion is usually most serious during peak hours period and (2) there are some EV users have to charge during this period due to their limited time and urgent energy demand.

Queuing time. Besides the traffic condition, we also consider EV users' charging activities' influence on the queuing time in charging stations during peak hours. Recalling that we assume that 1 in every τ EVs would charge at charging stations during peak hours, we use $\frac{y_i}{\tau}$ to denote the number of EVs that arrive in zone *i* for charging during peak hours. We assume that the average queuing time of EV users is directly proportional to the number of EVs in the same station, which can be formally defined as

$$g_i = y_i / \mu \tau x_i. \tag{3.3}$$

Note that we use μ to denote the serving rate of chargers, i.e., the number of EVs can be served per charger per unit time.

3.2.3 A Congestion-Game-Based Interpretation

As we can see from the definition of charging cost in Section 3.2.2, when the background traffic (i.e., the corresponding parameters) and the charging station placement (i.e., the number of chargers in each zone) are fixed, the travel time and queuing time both are decided only by the number of EVs that are using this corresponding road or charging station. We can treat the roads and charging stations as congestible resources. Thus EV users are playing a charging congestion game [119]. We formally define the components of the charging game in the following.

• **Congestible element**. There are two sets of congestible elements in the charging game, respectively the charging stations (i.e., the set of zones), which are denoted

as $\mathcal{N} = \{1, ..., n\}$ and the roads (among pairs of adjacent zones and inside each zone) denoted by $\mathcal{R} = \{\langle i, j \rangle | i, j \in \mathcal{N}, a_{ij} = 1\}$. Note that a road $\langle i, j \rangle$ is sensitive to the direction and represents the road leading from zone *i* to adjacent zone *j*.

- **Player.** We regard the γ_i EV users in the same zone as identical players with the same strategies.
- Strategy. For each player *i*, we assume that a pure strategy is to charge in a zone *j* adjacent to zone *i* (this can also be assumed as a set of en-route zones), i.e., to use congestible elements charging station *i* and corresponding road ⟨*i*, *j*⟩. The players can play mixed strategies, which means the group of EVs in the same zone charge with different pure strategies and their choices form a distribution. Formally, the probability that EVs in zone *i* charge in zone *j* is denoted as *p_{ij}* and the mixed strategy of player *i* is defined as **p**_i = {*p_{ij}*}. For example, a group of EV drivers in zone *i* can charge in 4 different zones as shown in Figure 3.1 Then the strategy profile of all players are denoted as **P** = ⟨**p**_i⟩.



FIGURE 3.1: Strategy demonstration

Cost. The congestion cost for each congestible element is defined in Eqs. (3.1) and (3.3) respectively for i ∈ N and (i, j) ∈ R. For simplicity, we use g_i(·) and f_{ij}(·) to denote the congestion cost, whose variable is the number of users for corresponding congestible element. According to the players' strategy profile, we

can then derive the number of users of each congestible element. For congestible elements \mathcal{R} and \mathcal{N} , the number of users under strategy profile P is respectively:

$$y_{ij} = \gamma_i p_{ij}, \tag{3.4}$$

$$y_j = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} y_{ij}.$$
(3.5)

Next, we can define the charging cost of each player *i* according to the derived cost for each congestible element. For easy notation, we denote the set of adjacent zones of zone *i* as $A_i = \{j | a_{ij} = 1\}$. Then the charging cost of player *i*, i.e., C_i can be formulated as a function of the strategy profile **P** as in the following

$$C_i(\mathbf{P}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} \gamma_i p_{ij}(g_j(y_j) + f_{ij}(y_{ij})).$$
(3.6)

3.2.4 **Bi-level Optimization Formulation**

For the solution concept of the above charging congestion game, we adopt the mixed strategy Nash equilibrium concept. Specifically, with the assumption that all the players are aware of other players' charging strategies, under the equilibrium state, no player can decrease her charging cost by unilaterally changing her own charging strategy. Formally, we can define the equilibrium state with a set of optimizations

$$\mathbf{p}_i \in \arg\min_{\mathbf{p}'_i} C_i(\mathbf{P}_{-i}, \mathbf{p}'_i), \forall i \in \mathcal{N}.$$

Note that we use P_{-i} to denote the strategy profile of players except player *i* (i.e., type *i* EVs).

When planning the charging station placement, we stand with the government authority, whose goal is to minimize the social cost when given a fixed budget, a number B of chargers. Consider the overall benefits, we define the social cost as the total charging cost of all players (we are able to extend our work to handle other kinds of social cost function, like the financial cost), which can be formally defined as the following formulation when given a charging station placement plan.

$$C(\mathbf{P}) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} C_i(\mathbf{P}).$$
(3.7)

Note that the social cost is a function of the charging strategy of all players, i.e., P because their strategies influence the charging cost of each of them and sequentially the social cost.

Considering that the government authority wants to decide the best charging station placement x for the minimal social cost regarding the players' equilibrium in the charging game, we can formulate the CSPP as the following bi-level program **P1**. Equation (3.8) is the objective; Equation (3.9) is for the budget constraint; Equation (3.10) computes the equilibrium strategies of the EV drivers; and the other equations are constraints for the strategies, including the positivity and the 1-sum property. Note that now $C_i(\mathbf{P})$ is also a function of x, but we omitted that in the expression for simplicity.

$$\mathbf{P1:} \quad \min_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{P}} C(\mathbf{P}), \tag{3.8}$$

s.t.
$$\sum_{i\in\mathcal{N}} x_i \le B, x_i\in\mathbb{N},$$
 (3.9)

$$\mathbf{p}_{i} \in \arg\min_{\mathbf{p}'_{i}} C_{i}(\mathbf{P}_{-i}, \mathbf{p}'_{i}), \forall i \in \mathcal{N},$$
(3.10)

$$\sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij} = 1, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}$$
(3.11)

$$p_{ij} = 0, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall j \notin \mathcal{A}_i, \tag{3.12}$$

$$p_{ij} \ge 0, \forall i, j \in \mathcal{N}. \tag{3.13}$$

We compute the optimal charging station placement with the Nash equilibrium that can achieve the best social cost. When there are multiple Nash equilibria for a placement, the governor can take steps to lead the EV users to form the best equilibrium with the lowest social cost. For example, the governor can provide bounty for some behaviors. Similar idea is studied widely in security games named tie-breaking [120].

3.3 Solve the CSPP

After we formulate the charging station placement problem as a bi-level optimization problem **P1**, we focus on the algorithm to solve it. The flow of our approach is presented with Figure 3.2. From problem **P1** we can see that the sub-level optimization has multiple objectives, each of which is the objective for a type of EV users in the charging game. This feature makes the problem complicated and unable to be handled with existing solvers. Therefore, we first work on the sub-level optimization problem (Equations (3.10) - (3.13)) and propose an efficient approach to transfer the sub-level optimization problem into a number of constraints, which can restrict the Nash equilibrium space of the charging game (i.e., the solution of the sub-level optimization problem). Then we can result in an equivalent single-level optimization, which is still difficult due to a large number of variables (including integer variables and continuous variables) and large searching space of the integer variables. We propose a searching algorithm for the single-level optimization problem to speed up the computation. Next, we start with analyzing the Nash equilibrium criterion in the formulation, which is useful for problem reformulation.



FIGURE 3.2: Approach flow

3.3.1 Deviation of Strategies

According to the definition of equilibrium that we mentioned in above section, we need to consider the player's unilateral strategy change and the influence in its charging cost to prove the stableness of the equilibrium state. Here we use an *n*-dimensional vector $\Delta \mathbf{p} = (\Delta_1, ..., \Delta_n)$ to denote player *i*'s unilateral strategy change with reference to the strategy profile **P**. The strategy change is named strategy deviation and should meet the following criterions.

$$\sum_{j\in\mathcal{N}}\Delta_j = 0\tag{3.14}$$

$$-p_{ij} \le \Delta_j \le 1 - p_{ij}, \forall j \in \mathcal{A}_i$$
(3.15)

When type *i* players change their strategy from $\mathbf{p_i}$ to $\mathbf{p_i'} = \mathbf{p_i} + \Delta \mathbf{p}$, recall that y_{ij} denotes the charging flow from zone *i* to zone *j* and y_j denotes the number of EVs that charge in zone *j*, we have $y'_{ij} = y_{ij} + \gamma_i \Delta_j$, $y'_j = y_j + \gamma_i \Delta_j$, and the change in type *i* EVs' cost can be formulated as:

$$\Delta C_{i}(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p}) = C_{i}(\mathbf{P}_{-i}, \mathbf{p}_{i}') - C_{i}(\mathbf{P})$$

$$= \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_{i}} \gamma_{i} [p_{ij}(\lambda d_{ij}k_{ij}\frac{\gamma_{i}\Delta_{j}}{\tau} + \frac{\gamma_{i}\Delta_{j}}{\mu\tau x_{j}})$$

$$+ \Delta_{j}(\lambda d_{ij}\alpha_{ij} + \lambda d_{ij}k_{ij}\frac{\gamma_{i}\Delta_{j}}{\tau} + \frac{y_{j}}{\mu\tau x_{j}} + \frac{\gamma_{i}\Delta_{j}}{\mu\tau x_{j}})]$$

$$= \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_{i}} \gamma_{i} \Big[\Big(\frac{p_{ij}\gamma_{i}}{\tau} (\lambda d_{ij}k_{ij} + \frac{1}{\mu x_{j}}) + \lambda d_{ij}\alpha_{ij} + \frac{y_{j}}{\mu\tau x_{j}} \Big) \Delta_{j}$$

$$+ (\lambda d_{ij}k_{ij}\frac{\gamma_{i}}{\tau} + \frac{\gamma_{i}}{\mu\tau x_{j}}) \Delta_{j}^{2} \Big]. \qquad (3.16)$$

For the ease of description, we rewrite it as

$$\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} \gamma_i(\xi_{ij} \Delta_j + \eta_{ij} \Delta_j^2).$$
(3.17)

We can reformulate the CSPP **P1** with the Nash equilibrium definition – no player has the incentive to deviate.

$$\mathbf{P2:} \quad \min_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{P}} C(\mathbf{P}), \tag{3.18}$$

s.t.
$$\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p}) \ge 0, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall \Delta \mathbf{p},$$
 (3.19)

(3.9), (3.37) - (3.13).

We use Equation (3.19) to restrict the Nash equilibrium space in stead of using Equation (3.10). In this case, we have reformulated the bi-level optimization problem into

a single-level one. However, there is an infinite number of constraints in the problem, because Δp of Equation (3.19) for each *i* is a vector with continuous elements. Thus we need to furthermore find a way to solve the problem **P2**. We propose a *simple deviation approach*, which can replace Equation (3.19) with a finite number of constraints and make the optimization problem solvable.

3.3.2 Simple Deviation Approach

Before introducing the approach, we first define a special type of deviation called *simple deviation*.

Definition 3.1 (simple deviation). A simple deviation of type *i* player is a strategy change, where only the probabilities of a pair of pure strategies are changed (one increases and the other decreases by the same amount), while the probabilities of all the other pure strategies remain unchanged. A simple deviation is denoted as a tuple $\langle l, h, \delta \rangle$ with $\delta > 0$, which corresponds to a deviation vector $\Delta \mathbf{p}$, such that $\Delta_l = -\delta$, $\Delta_h = \delta$, and $\Delta_j = 0, \forall j \notin \{l, h\}$.

We can then prove an important property of CSPP as Lemma 3.2 based on *simple deviation*, which is used for simplifying the equilibrium criterion in the derived program **P2**.

Lemma 3.2. Given a strategy profile **P** with $p_{il} > 0$, type *i* player cannot reduce her charging cost through a unilateral simple deviation from pure strategy *l* to *h* (*i.e.*, reduce p_{il} and increase p_{ih}), if and only if $\xi_{ih} \ge \xi_{il}$.

Proof. The basic idea to prove this lemma is to derive the charging cost change due to a unilateral simple deviation and analyze it. From Definition 3.1 and Equation (3.17), we can see the charging cost change due to a unilateral simple deviation $\langle l, h, \delta \rangle$ for type *i* players can be denoted as

$$\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p}) = \gamma_i (\eta_{il} + \eta_{ih}) \delta^2 + \gamma_i (\xi_{ih} - \xi_{il}) \delta.$$
(3.20)

Note that this is a quadratic function of δ . While player *i* with a nonzero simple deviation $\Delta \mathbf{p} = \langle l, h, \delta \rangle$ cannot reduce her charging cost, we have $p_{il} > 0$ and $\delta \in [0, p_{il}]$; what we need to prove is $\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p}) \ge 0$. From Equation (3.16) we can easily get $\eta_{il} + \eta_{ih} > 0$. As a result, ξ_{ih} has to be no smaller than ξ_{il} to ensure $\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p})$ to be non-negative for all possible value of δ . We can show this with a discussion in two cases. First, if $\xi_{ih} < \xi_{il}$, there is always some $\delta < \frac{\xi_{il} - \xi_{ih}}{\eta_{il} + \eta_{ih}}$ such that $\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p}) < 0$. Second, if $\xi_{ih} \ge \xi_{il}$, we can easily see that $\Delta C_i \ge 0$ for all $\delta \ge 0$. Therefore, type *i* player with $p_{il} > 0$ cannot reduce her charging cost through a simple deviation from pure strategy *l* to *h* if and only if $\xi_{ih} \ge \xi_{il}$.

Lemma 3.3. *If a player cannot reduce her cost by any unilateral simple deviation, then she can neither reduce her cost by any unilateral strategy deviation.*

Proof. Before proving the lemma, we show that an arbitrary unilateral strategy deviation $\Delta \mathbf{p}_i$ for any player i can be decomposed into a number of unilateral simple deviations, thus charging cost change $\Delta \mathbf{p}_i$ can also be decomposed. For simplicity, we denote the unilateral strategy deviation of player i as $\Delta \mathbf{p} = (\Delta_1, ..., \Delta_n)$. For the elements in the vector $\Delta \mathbf{p}$, there must be negative and positive ones, for which we use two sets $\mathcal{L} = \{i | i \in \mathcal{N}, \Delta_i < 0\}$ and $\mathcal{H} = \{i | i \in \mathcal{N} \Delta_i > 0\}$ to represent respectively. We can see that implement of deviation $\Delta \mathbf{p}$ can be achieved by a number of simple deviations, where each is a deviation from an $l \in \mathcal{L}$ to an $h \in \mathcal{H}$ with the proportion $\delta_{hl} = |\Delta_l| \cdot \frac{\Delta_h}{\sum_{i \in \mathcal{H}} \Delta_i}$. Consequently, we decompose the change in charging cost due to an arbitrary strategy deviation as in the following.

$$\frac{\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p})}{\gamma_i} = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} (\xi_{ij} \Delta_j + \eta_{ij} \Delta_j^2)$$
$$= \sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \left(\xi_{il} (-\sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}} \delta_{hl}) + \eta_{il} (-\sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}} \delta_{hl})^2 \right)$$
$$+ \sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}} \left(\xi_{ih} (\sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \delta_{hl}) + \eta_{ih} (\sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \delta_{hl})^2 \right)$$
$$\geq \sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \left(\xi_{il} (-\sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}} \delta_{hl}) + \eta_{il} (\sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}} \delta_{hl}^2) \right)$$
$$+ \sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}} \left(\xi_{ih} (\sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \delta_{hl}) + \eta_{ih} (\sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \delta_{hl}^2) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}} (\eta_{il} + \eta_{ih}) \delta_{hl}^2 + (\xi_{ih} - \xi_{il}) \delta_{hl}$$

Note that for the ease of presentation, the cost change is divided by the number of EV users in zone *i*, i.e., γ_i . As we can see from the above formulations, the charging cost change due to an arbitrary strategy deviation can be compared with the sum of the charging cost change due to the set of simple deviations that equal to the original deviation and it is always no smaller than the latter. With the prerequisite of the lemma, we know that player *i* cannot reduce his charging cost by any simple deviation, including the set of simple deviations we had as a decomposition of the arbitrary strategy deviation. Referring to Lemma 3.2, we can know $\xi_{ih} \ge \xi_{il}$ is true for all $l \in \mathcal{L}$ and $h \in \mathcal{H}$, i.e., the part to be summed in the right hand side of the above inequality is non-negative. Thus we have proved that $\Delta C_i(\mathbf{P}, \Delta \mathbf{p}) \ge 0$. Since $\Delta \mathbf{p}$ and *i* are arbitrary, thus no player can reduce her charging cost by any unilateral strategy deviation while they cannot achieve that with any unilateral simple deviation.

Proposition 3.4. A strategy profile **P** forms a Nash equilibrium if and only if $\xi_{ih} \geq \xi_{il}, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall l, h \in \mathcal{A}_i, p_{il} > 0.$

Proof. The proposition is quite straightforward if we follow Lemma 3.2, Lemma 3.3 and the converse direction of Lemma 3.3, which must hold because a simple deviation is a special case of arbitrary strategy deviation. Under the equilibrium definition, no player can decrease the charging cost with arbitrary unilateral strategy deviation \Leftrightarrow no

player can decrease his charging cost using any unilateral simple deviation $\Leftrightarrow \xi_{il} \leq \xi_{ih}, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall l, h \in \mathcal{A}_i, p_{ij} > 0.$

Based on Proposition 3.4, we can avoid an infinite number of non-linear constraints as Equation (3.19). With the results from Proposition 3.4, we know that under the equilibrium strategy profile **P**, there is $\xi_{ih} \ge \xi_{il}, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall l, h \in \mathcal{A}_i, p_{il} > 0$, which can be reformulated as $p_{il}\xi_{ih} \ge p_{il}\xi_{il}, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall l, h \in \mathcal{A}_i$. Therefore, we propose OCEAN (Optimizing eleCtric vEhicle chArging statioN placement) in program **P3** to compute the optimal solution of the CSPP instead of using program **P2**.

$$\mathbf{P3:} \quad \min_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{P}} C(\mathbf{P}), \tag{3.21}$$

s.t.
$$p_{il}\xi_{ih} \ge p_{il}\xi_{il}, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall l, h \in \mathcal{A}_i,$$
 (3.22)

$$(3.9), (3.37) - (3.13).$$

The above program is a single-level non-linear optimization problem and can be handled by a standard non-linear optimization solver.

3.3.3 Problem Analysis

An important concept in game theory is the price of anarchy (PoA) [121], which is the ratio between the maximum social cost among different equilibria and the minimum social cost regardless of players' selfish behavior (in other words, assuming the players follow the instruction of a central controller who aims to minimize the social cost). PoA is a concept that measures the worst-case inefficiency of the system caused by the selfish behavior of players. We use S and E to respectively denote the strategy space and Nash equilibrium strategy space of the charging game. They can be formally defined as

$$S = \{ \mathbf{P} | \mathbf{P} \text{ satisfies Eqs. } (3.37) - (3.13) \}, \qquad (3.23)$$

$$E = \{ \mathbf{P} | \mathbf{P} \text{ satisfies Eqs. } (3.37) - (3.13), (3.22) \}.$$
(3.24)

Then the definition of PoA is

$$PoA = \max_{\mathbf{P} \in E} C(\mathbf{P}) / Opt, \qquad (3.25)$$

where Opt denotes the socially optimal cost assuming that all EVs' charging behavior can be controlled, which is

$$Opt = \max_{\mathbf{P} \in S} C(\mathbf{P}). \tag{3.26}$$

We can prove the theoretical result of PoA as in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.5. The price of anarchy of the charging game is at most $\frac{3+\sqrt{5}}{2} \approx 2.618$.

Proof. For the ease of description, we first rewrite the linear cost functions (i.e., travel cost and queuing cost) as $c_e(f_e) = a_e f_e + b_e$ for each congestion element $e \in \mathcal{N} \bigcup \mathcal{R}$. According to Eqs. (3.1) to (3.3), we have

$$a_{e} = \begin{cases} \lambda d_{ij} k_{ij} \frac{1}{\tau}, & e = \langle i, j \rangle \in \mathcal{R}; \\ \frac{1}{\mu \tau x_{i}}, & e = i \in \mathcal{N}; \end{cases}$$
$$b_{e} = \begin{cases} \lambda d_{ij} k_{ij} \alpha_{ij}^{0}, & e = \langle i, j \rangle \in \mathcal{R}; \\ 0, & e = i \in \mathcal{N}. \end{cases}$$

Obviously, $a_e > 0$ and $b_e \ge 0$. Let P be a Nash equilibrium strategy, and P^{*} be the strategy profile for social optimum. Suppose in a Nash equilibrium, player *i* deviates by playing the social optimal strategy \mathbf{p}_i^* , it follows that

$$\sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij} \sum_{e \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} c_e(f_e) \leq \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij}^* \sum_{e \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} c_e(f_e^*)$$
$$\leq \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij}^* \sum_{e \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} c_e(f_e + f_e^*).$$

The first inequality holds since \mathbf{P} forms a Nash equilibrium, thus player *i* can never decrease his charging cost by unilaterally deviating his own strategy.

Since the above inequality holds for all player i, we have

$$C(\mathbf{P}) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \gamma_i \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij} \sum_{e \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} c_e(f_e)$$

$$\leq \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \gamma_i \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij}^* \sum_{e \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} c_e(f_e + f_e^*)$$

$$= \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \gamma_i \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij}^* \sum_{e \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} \left[c_e(f_e^*) + a_e f_e \right]$$

$$= C(\mathbf{P}^*) + \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \gamma_i \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij}^* \sum_{e \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} a_e f_e$$

$$= C(\mathbf{P}^*) + \sum_{e \in \mathcal{N} \bigcup \mathcal{R}} a_e f_e f_e^*.$$

We apply the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to the last term and get following inequality:

$$\sum_{e} a_e f_e f_e^* \leq \sqrt{\sum_{e} a_e f_e^2} \cdot \sqrt{\sum_{e} a_e (f_e^*)^2}$$
$$\leq \sqrt{\sum_{e} f_e \cdot (a_e f_e + b_e)} \cdot \sqrt{\sum_{e} f_e^* \cdot (a_e f_e^* + b_e)}$$
$$= \sqrt{C(\mathbf{P})} \cdot \sqrt{C(\mathbf{P}^*)}.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} C(\mathbf{P}) &\leq C(\mathbf{P}^*) + \sqrt{C(\mathbf{P})} \cdot \sqrt{C(\mathbf{P}^*)} \\ \Rightarrow \frac{C(\mathbf{P})}{C(\mathbf{P}^*)} &\leq 1 + \sqrt{\frac{C(\mathbf{P})}{C(\mathbf{P}^*)}} \\ \Rightarrow 0 &\leq \sqrt{\frac{C(\mathbf{P})}{C(\mathbf{P}^*)}} \leq \frac{1 + \sqrt{5}}{2} \quad \text{(by solving } x^2 - x - 1 \leq 0\text{)} \\ \Rightarrow \frac{C(\mathbf{P})}{C(\mathbf{P}^*)} &\leq \frac{3 + \sqrt{5}}{2} \approx 2.618. \end{split}$$

Thus we can conclude that the PoA is at most around 2.618. Note that the value 2.618 holds for any charging station placement x. Therefore we can rewrite it more accurately as $PoA = \max_{\mathbf{x}} \max_{\mathbf{P} \in E} \frac{C(\mathbf{P})}{Opt}$.

Furthermore, with the formulation P3 that we derived in the previous section, we

can compute the PoA for a specific setting in practice as follows, which could be much lower than 2.618. Note that when we compute the optimal solution of the charging station placement problem with **P3**, we are actually computing the charging station placement \mathbf{x}^* with the best minimum equilibrium social cost, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{x}^* \in \arg_{\mathbf{x}} \min_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{P} \in E} C(\mathbf{P}).$$

Then, we can compute the POA for this specific setting based on charging station placement \mathbf{x}^* . We compute the maximum equilibrium social cost $\max_{\mathbf{P}\in E} C(\mathbf{P})$ and social optimum *Opt* respectively with following programs **P4** and **P5**.

$$\mathbf{P4:} \quad \max_{\mathbf{P}} C(\mathbf{P}), \tag{3.27}$$

s.t.
$$\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}^*$$
, (3.28)

$$P5: \quad Opt = \min_{\mathbf{P}} C(\mathbf{P}), \tag{3.29}$$

s.t.
$$\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}^*$$
, (3.30)

(3.37) - (3.13).

(3.37) - (3.13), (3.22).

Note that to compute the optimal social cost without considering the EVs' selfish driving behavior, we eliminate conditions represented by Equation (3.22) in **P5**. As we will show later in the experiment section, the computed POA for specific settings is much smaller than 2.618.

3.3.4 Speeding Up OCEAN

As we can see from the formulation of OCEAN in **P3**, it is a mixed integer non-linear problem and the number of non-linear constraints expressed in Equation (3.22) grows very fast with the number of players and strategies increasing. As a result, OCEAN is unable to handle large-scale real-world problems.

To handle large-scale problems, we compute the optimal solution in two steps by using a heuristic algorithm OCEAN-C (namely OCEAN with Continuous variables), which is shown in Algorithm 1.

Firstly, we relax x to be continuous variables and solve the optimal solution x^* of **P3**. Since the number of chargers in x^* of different zones are not integers, we round x^* to \hat{x} . The rounding process is first to take the floor value of each x_i^* , sort the zones according to the $x_i - \lfloor x_i \rfloor$ value descendingly, then set \hat{x}_i for the top $R = B - \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \lfloor x_i^* \rfloor$ zones as $\lfloor x_i \rfloor + 1$ and otherwise $\lfloor x_i \rfloor$. To compute the optimal solution of CSPP, we set x as \hat{x} , the result of which is the output of OCEAN-C. With x determined, the single level CSPP's runtime sharply decreases.

Algorithm 1: OCEAN-C

1 Relax x to be continuous;

2 Solve optimal solution x^{*} of **P3**;

 $\mathbf{\widehat{x}} \leftarrow \text{rounded } \mathbf{x}^*;$

4 Compute the optimal solution Obj of **P3** with x set as \hat{x} (refer to Algorithm 2);

5 return Obj, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$;

Furthermore, we specify the sub-algorithm of OCEAN-C in Algorithm 2, which is designed to compute the equilibrium of the charging game with a given charging station placement. As we can see from P3, the problem is non-linear, and the main difficulty comes from distinguishing the employed pure strategies (with using probability > 0) from the abandoned ones (with using probability = 0), which results in constraint denoted by Equation (3.22). Then we naturally consider specifying the employed strategies (also named "support") before solving the equilibrium. Following the idea, we design Algorithm 2 to compute the equilibrium, where we first initiate the support manually and gradually expand the support set by carefully comparing the pure strategies until an equilibrium is reached. For a given support set, we use the following program to

compute the equilibrium.

$$\mathbf{P6:} \quad \min_{\mathbf{P}} C(\mathbf{P}), \tag{3.31}$$

s.t.
$$p_{ij} = 0, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \phi_{ij} = 0,$$
 (3.32)

$$\xi_{ih} \ge \xi_{il}, \forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \forall l, h \in \mathcal{A}_i, \phi_{ih} = \phi_{il} = 1,$$
(3.33)

(3.9), (3.37) - (3.13).

Note that the vector ϕ is an artificial indicator corresponding to the variable **P**. When $\phi_{ij} = 0$, we force p_{ij} as 0; if $\phi_{ij} = 1$, then $p_{ij} > 0$ and the corresponding pure strategy is in the support. We only compare the ξ value for strategies in the support set to avoid the problem to be infeasible when there is a pure strategy that is not in the support set but its corresponding ξ value is smaller. The problem **P6** is a convex optimization problem with linear constraints that can be solved efficiently.

In Lines 1 - 6 of the algorithm, we initiate the indicator for each pure strategy according to the *basic* charging cost calculated by assuming that only one player uses the corresponding strategy (as in Line 2) and put some of the pure strategies into the support by comparing the *basic* charging cost. Note that the coefficient ψ in Line 6 is to decide the size of the initial support set and derived from practice. *Rule A* and *Rule B* are two criterions for updating the support space. *Rule A* is used to delete the useless strategies and *Rule B* is for adding better pure strategies into the support. When no change is made after checking the two rules, the algorithm terminates with an equilibrium of the charging game.

3.4 Experimental Evaluation

In this section, we run experiments on the real data set from Singapore to evaluate our approach. To compare multiple methods, all experiments were run on the same data set using a 3.4GHz Intel processor with 16GB of RAM, employing KNITRO (version 9.0.0) for nonlinear programs. The results were averaged over 20 trials.

Algorithm 2: Sub-OCEAN-C

1 Initiate indicator vector ϕ as $\{0\}$; 2 Set $f_{ij}^0 = \lambda d_{ij}(\alpha_{ij}^0 + k_{ij})$ and $g_i = \frac{1}{\tau x_i}$ for all roads and charging stations with $x_i > 0;$ 3 for $i \in \mathcal{N}$ do Set $c_i^{min} = \min_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} c_{ij}^0 = \min_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} (f_{ij}^0 + g_j^0);$ 4 for $j \in \mathcal{A}_i$ with $x_j > 0$ do 5 $\[\]$ if $c_{ij}^0 \leq \varphi c_i^{min'}$ then Let $\phi_{ij} = 1$; 6 7 Set flag = 1; 8 repeat Solve problem **P6** and get objective value *Obj*; 9 Set flag = 0; 10 for $i \in \mathcal{N}$ do 11 /* ----- Rule A -----*/ for $k \in \mathcal{A}_i$ with $\phi_{ik} = 1$ do 12 **if** $p_{ik} < 1.0e - 6$ **then** 13 Let $\phi_{ik} \leftarrow 0$; 14 Set flag = 1; 15 ----- Rule B ------/* */ Get a ξ_{ij} with $\phi_{ij} = 1$; 16 for $k \in \mathcal{A}_i$ with $\phi_{ik} = 0$ do 17 if $\xi_{ik} < \xi_{ij}$ then 18 Let $\phi_{ik} \leftarrow 1$; 19 Set flag = 1; 20 21 until flag = 0; 22 return Obj;

3.4.1 Data Set and Baseline Methods

The population of all motor vehicles in Singapore has reached 969, 910 in the year 2012 according to the statistics in the official websites of Singapore Land Transport Authority (LTA) and Singapore Department of Statistics (DOS). Based on the conventional partition method as shown in Figure 1.1, combined with the accessible graphical and residential distribution data on the websites, we divide Singapore into 23 zones to test our approach. A basic assumption is that the number of vehicles is proportional to the number of residents in each zone. Then we assume that 10% among all the vehicles in Singapore are EVs, 5% of which would need charging in charging stations during peak hours. Using the distance measure tool in Google Maps, the distances between adjacent

zones' centers are estimated; a normal congestion α_{ij}^0 during the peak hours is taken with the ratio of travel time during peak hours and the distance between zones *i* and *j*. The capacity of the roads between any two zones is set to the same value, which means $k_{ij} = 0.01$ for all pairs *i* and *j*. We assume averagely 6 EVs can be served in one hour by each charger, i.e., serving rate of chargers is set as $\mu = 6$. The proportion of EVs that charge during peak hours is set as $\frac{1}{\tau} = \frac{1}{10}$. The linear coefficient λ in the travel cost function is fixed at 0.2. Unless otherwise specified, we use the above parameters in all our experiments. We combine some small zones of the 23-zones to generate data of different *n* (from 6 to 10), so that we can run OCEAN, which has scalability issues, to get the results (both runtime and solution quality) and compare them with OCEAN-C.

To demonstrate the performance of our approach, we compare it with three baseline methods:

- The first baseline method is named CSCD. CSCD assigns the number of chargers to each zone proportional to the number of residential EV users in each zone. Specifically, x_i ∝ γ_i.
- The second baseline method is named CSTC. CSTC assigns the number of chargers in each zone according to the traffic condition as well as the physical distance. Specifically, for each zone *i* and one of its adjacent zone *j*, we calculate the reciprocal of α⁰_{ji}d_{ji} (intuitively, this value means the difficulty for EV users in zone *j* to charge in zone *i*), then sum that value of all adjacent zones together. We decide the number of chargers in zone *i* as x_i ∝ ∑_{j∈Ai} 1/(α⁰_{ji}d_{ji}).
- The third baseline method is named CSAV. CSAV assigns the chargers in different zones averagely.

We get the results (the optimal social cost) for each baseline method by first compute the number of chargers in each zone according to the principals described above, then compute the EV users' charging activity equilibrium and the resulted social cost. The program is the same as program P3 but x is fixed rather than a variable.



FIGURE 3.3: Compare OCEAN-C with OCEAN and baselines. Figures (a) & (b) are the runtime and optimal objective value of algorithm OCEAN and OCEAN-C when problem size increases; Figure (c) is optimal objective values of OCEAN-C and baseline methods when the budget increases, while Figure (d) is the corresponding results with human behavior uncertainty; Figure (e) and f are results with different number of EV drivers in the charging game.

3.4.2 Performance Evaluation

In this section, we present the experimental results and discuss them in detail.

3.4.2.1 OCEAN-C VS. OCEAN

We combine some small zones of the 23-zone division (shown in Figure 1.1) to get smaller zone divisions (*n* changes from 6 to 10) because OCEAN cannot handle large-scale problems. The budget of the total number of chargers is set as 300 in the experiments. In Figures 3.3a, the runtime performance of OCEAN and OCEAN-C are compared with bars. We can see that OCEAN-C always saves runtime comparing to OCEAN. Moreover, when the problem scale grows, the runtime of OCEAN increases faster than that of OCEAN-C, which indicates that OCEAN-C is much more time-efficient than OCEAN. When we look at the solution quality (i.e., the optimal social cost) depicted in 3.3b, we can find that OCEAN-C can save runtime without seriously sacrificing the solution quality because the minor difference in social cost of both approaches is invisible when expressed with the bars. Therefore, we use OCEAN-C as a substitute approach for OCEAN in following experiments.

3.4.2.2 OCEAN-C VS. Baseline Methods

We compare our approach OCEAN-C with three baseline methods when the number of zones n is set as 23. As we can see from Figure 3.3c, when the budget is increasing (from 200 to 600), the optimal objective value of all approaches keeps going down, because more resources usually mean better service and customer convenience. Nevertheless, our approach outperforms all of them and achieves minimal social cost. In Figure 3.3e, the results of changing the number of EV users are depicted. We can see that when the number of EV users is more, the minimal social cost is higher because they have more influence on the traffic congestion and also the queuing condition in charging stations. In this case, our approach that takes into account the EV users' strategic behaviors can significantly decrease the social cost. In conclusion, OCEAN-C outperforms the baseline methods.

3.4.2.3 Robustness Evaluation

We then evaluate the robustness of our approach and compare its performance with the baseline methods regarding the EV users' limited rationality. We assume that EV users are fully informative and rational in the problem model. While people might be able to learn the equilibrium in repeated charging activities, there can be some special cases that change their activity in practice. For example, they might need to deal with a special thing or meet someone, which may result in strategy deviation. We assume that there are part of EV users deviate their charging activities from equilibrium, This proportion is set as 10% for each zone, i.e., we compute the social cost again with the 90% of EV users following the equilibrium and 10% of them choose a charging strategy from their strategy space randomly. In Figures 3.3d and 3.3f, we present the robustness test results for all approaches in consideration of a different budget and a different number of EV users 3.3c and 3.3e, we can see that the EV users' deviation from equilibrium can cause more social cost. However, our approach OCEAN-C can keep the superiority compared to the baseline methods.

3.4.2.4 EVs Charging in Remote Zones

When we formulate the charging game previously, we made an assumption that the EV users only charge in adjacent zones (including their residential zone). To prove that this assumption is realistic and reasonable, we use experiments to show that almost all EV users only charge in adjacent zones even when they are allowed to charge further because the latter usually results in higher charging cost. We relax the assumption for EV users in zone *i* by allowing them to charge in a neighbor zone of its adjacent zones (but not in A_i), which is name two-stop remote zones. We compare the results of the original model and the new one under the same data set. It turns out that the social cost increases slightly, but the change is less than 0.001, which is negligible compared to the original optimal social cost at about 4000). Moreover, the EV users seldom use the two-stop strategies. As a result, we can see that the assumption of charging only in adjacent zones is realistic and reasonable.
3.4.2.5 Experimental Results of PoA

We conduct experiments based on optimal charging station placement derived from OCEAN-C and the experiment set with n = 23. The coefficient φ used for initiating the support set in Algorithm 2 Line 6 is set as 1.5. Actually, the coefficient can vary in a big range and still work. When it is getting smaller, the number of iterations of solving problem **P6** can increase; and when it is too large, it is possible that the problem becomes infeasible. We select 1.5 as φ value in this set of experiment. The maximum equilibrium social cost and the minimum social cost without consideration of EVs' selfish charging behavior are respectively computed with programs **P4** and **P5**.



FIGURE 3.4: (a) Compare maximum equilibrium social cost and social optimal; (b) Trend of PoA under different budgets

As we can see from following Figure 3.4a, there is a small difference between the maximum equilibrium social cost and optimal social cost respectively depicted by the "Max_ESC" and "Min_SC" bars. We can refer to Figure 3.4b for the trend of PoA w.r.t. the budget. From the figure, we can see that when the amount of social resource (i.e., the budget for charging station construction here) increases, the inefficiency of the charging system caused by selfish behavior is becoming smaller.

3.5 Extension on Senior Center Placement and Management

Population aging has been a common phenomenon in almost every country in the world. Since 1950, the number of people aged above 50 has tripled, and the combined senior and geriatric population will reach 2.1 billion and exceed 16% (as shown in Figure 3.5) of the world population by 2050 according to studies [122–124]. Accompany with the population aging is the raising challenges for the society to ensure life quality of the elderly because frailty is a common condition in later older age [125]. Both mental and physical health issues of senior citizens require intensive attention from the family and the government. A senior center is a type of community center that is promising to provide an environment for older adults to fulfill many of their social, physical, emotional and intellectual needs.



FIGURE 3.5: World population over 65

Multi-purpose senior centers have been proven to be important since their advent in 1943 because they provide an ideal environment for promoting positive and successful aging activities [126–129]. As the older persons with no jobs are usually hard to get accompanied and occupied in daily life, especially during working time, loneliness and depression are becoming common among them. Senior centers are an entry point to an array of services that can satisfy their self-sufficiency. Senior centers can provide a variety of opportunities for the elderly to get access to health, education, volunteer, recreation and other social activities, such that their dignity can be enhanced, they can prove

their independence and they will be encouraged in community involvement. Moreover, senior centers are able to provide an environment, where they can build a social connection with other people with similar experience and sense of value. Therefore, aging people are provided with the opportunity to get social interaction and friendship in senior centers, which can help them to regain feelings of self-worth and counter the social isolation and loneliness that can threaten their mental and even physical health.

3.5.1 Background

Although there have been a number of works studying the importance and operation mode etc. of senior centers, there is a gap in analyzing their allocation and placement. Senior centers have been constructed in a number of cities in the world. However, there is a gap between requirement and support. For example, in Singapore, there is a network of about 60 elder-care day centers providing day services such as day care and day rehabilitation services. This network of centers has a total capacity to serve 2,800 seniors [130]. However, this is far from enough because the population aging 65 and above of that year in Singapore had exceeded 560 thousand [131]. The aging phenomenon in Singapore is keeping more and more apparent in recent years as shown in Figure 3.6. To meet the demand from the elderly, the government has been increasing the investment in senior centers' construction.

The location of senior centers is an important topic because it involves multiple factors that can influence their operating performance. There are mainly three factors in the senior center allocation problem.

- The position of senior centers is restricted by the existing city structure and architectures. As a result, the location to settle a senior center and the size of it are both dependent on the specific scenario. The construction cost (especially for the land area) should also be in consideration.
- Senior centers are aimed at the aging people, and those population usually have difficulty in moving around. Part of the senior center visitors are even disabled or relying on wheelchairs, and they would require family members to send them to



FIGURE 3.6: Age groups of citizens in Singapore from 1990 to 2016

and pick them up from senior centers. Thus the senior centers are expected to be close to the residential area of the aging people.

- 3. Senior centers need workers and volunteers to help the elderly to deal with all kinds of issues, to take care of some of them, and also contribute in communication with them such that their feeling of loneliness can be degraded, which is extremely important for their mental and physical health.
- 4. The demand from the citizens will change with time, but it is predictable according to the population statistic data.

3.5.2 Related Work

There have been many works that study the allocation problem of service centers or healthcare facilities. For example, Gupta *et al.* [132] proposed a fuzzy C-Means clustering and particle swarm optimization based scheme to optimally locate service centers in a country's rural regions. Basu *et al.* [133] built an optimization model and designed

novel techniques to maximize the health care coverage to deal with the growing health needs in expanding cities. Zhang *et al.* [134] proposed a genetic algorithm based multiobjective optimization (MOO) approach to yield a set of Pareto solutions, which can be used to balance the trade-off between the conflict objectives of health-care facility construction, i.e., the facility coverage and the financial investment. However, none of these approaches can be applied in the senior center allocation problem because they all ignored the impact from the target visitors and there is no consideration of the changing demand.

To fill the gap in existing research and support active living of the elderly, we can extend the research on electric vehicle charging station placement to provide solutions for senior center placement and management respectively. Similarly, the location of senior centers is constricted by many factors and it has a limited degree of freedom, we can assume that the candidate positions are screened previously. Thus we only need to decide which of the candidate locations should be selected to build senior centers and their corresponding size. Without losing generality, we can set the service rate (i.e., the proportion of aging people that can be served by the senior centers) as the objective to maximize, meanwhile, the limited financial cost is considered with constraints. This is flexible because the object can be changed according to the realistic scenario and different goal. For example, the government can also set the satisfactory level of the elderly as the primary goal. The serviceability of senior centers, on one hand, is decided by the center size and supporting facilities; on the other hand, is influenced by support from the public, especially the volunteers. Volunteers are very common and welcome in the aging population because they can bring care and pleasure while workers in senior centers focus more on daily operation tasks. The senior center, as a special kind of resource, is different from charging stations in its serviceability. For charging stations, we can easily see that fewer customers are always better (from the perspective of EV drivers). However, senior centers can provide better service for the elderly when the number of visitors is at a suitable range. If there are few seniors in the center, they would feel lonely; if there are too many, they might feel crowded and uncomfortable. Regarding this feature, we would employ a piecewise function to model the service quality of senior centers. The senior center placement problem can be formulated as an optimization

Notation	Meaning
N	The set of senior center candidates
x_j	The capacity of senior center to be built at position $j \in N$
w_{j}	The number of volunteers that senior center j can attract
$C_j(x_j)$	The construction cost of senior center j with capacity x_j
c_j^0	The basement cost of building senior center at position j
c_j	The unit price (regarding to capacity) of building senior center at posi-
	tion j
М	The set of senior groups, where each group of seniors are treated iden-
	tically
s_i	The number of senior people in group <i>i</i>
α_{ij}	The convenience parameter for senior people in group i going to senior
	center j
p_{ij}	The proportion of senior people in group i to visit senior center j
h_i	The threshold, when $\alpha_{ij} \geq h_i$, the senior people in group <i>i</i> will visit
	senior center j
В	The financial budget for senior center construction
T	The future period in years to consider for the performance of senior
·	centers, $T = \{1,, T \}$
s^k_i	The number of senior people in group i after k years, $k \in T$

TABLE 3.2: The notations referred in this paper and the corresponding meaning

with consideration of the elderly's choices and solved with similar techniques as we used in above-mentioned works.

3.5.3 **Problem Formulation**

In this section, we formulate the senior center allocation problem as an optimization problem. Since the position of senior centers is restricted by many factors and it has a limited degree of freedom, we assume that the candidate positions can be screened previously. Thus we only need to decide which of the candidate locations should be selected to build senior centers and their corresponding size. Without losing generality, we set the service rate as the objective to maximize, meanwhile the limited financial cost is considered with constraints. This is flexible because the objective can be changed according to the realistic scenario and different goal. For clarity and ease of understanding, we provide a notation table to show all the notations and their meaning with Table 3.2.

We use a set $N = \{1, 2, ..., |N|\}$ to denote the set of senior center location candidates. The variable to decide in this problem is $\{x_1, x_2, ..., x_{|N|}\}$ where $x_j \ge 0, \forall j \in N$, i.e., the capacity of the senior center (i.e., the number of senior people can be served) built in location j when $x_j > 0$. Note that when x_j is 0, it indicates that this candidate site is not selected and no senior center will be built here. Each senior center candidate jis potential to get w_j volunteers to help the elderly in the senior center, which is dependent on the position of j and the residential condition around it¹. We consider the cost of hiring full/part-time helpers to be linearly proportional to the capacity of the senior center. Therefore, the construction of senior center j with capacity x_j can be denoted as function

$$C_j(x_j) = \begin{cases} c_j^0 + c_j x_j, & x_j > 0\\ 0, & x_j = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.34)

where c_j^0 denotes the basement cost of building senior center at candidate j, which is decided by its properties. The coefficient c_j represent the unit price coming from land area, hiring and management cost.

The senior population can be divided into a number of groups according to their residential address because they are close to each other and have the same access convenience to the same position. The senior population groups are represented with a set $M = \{1, 2, ..., |M|\}$, we use s_i to denote the number of aging people in each group i and they are treated identically.

The senior citizens in each group *i* have a convenience parameter for accessing a senior center located at position candidate *j*, and we denote it as α_{ij} , whose value is in [0, 1]. With a higher α_{ij} value, the senior in group *i* have a higher willingness to visit location *j* (merely due to the travel distance or also considering the convenience of their family that sends them to the senior center). We assume this parameter can be obtained from surveys and investigations etc. The action of senior citizens is denoted with a series of binary variables p_{ij} , where $p_{ij} \in [0, 1]$ is the proportion of senior people from group *i* and go to senior center *j*. Thus we have $\sum_j p_{ij} \leq 1$ for the group *i* of senior people. Note that $\sum_j p_{ij}$ can be less than 1, which means some senior people may prefer to stay at home while they cannot find an ideal senior center to visit.

¹Such information is assumed to be obtained in a preliminary study in candidate selection.

Similarly, we can get $\sum_i s_i p_{ij} \leq x_j$, which means a senior center's capacity is a limitation on the maximum number of visitors. The number of volunteers for each senior center is treated as a factor that influences the service quality in the center. Specifically, we define the service quality of senior center j as $w_j / \sum_i s_i p_{ij}$, i.e., the average number of volunteers serving for each senior visitor. We set a service quality threshold Q for all the senior centers to ensure that the senior can always be comfortable and satisfied in the senior centers.

Sequentially, the senior center allocation problem can then formulated as the following optimization problem **P1**. Equation(3.35) is the objective set as the total number of served seniors. Equation(4.18) denotes the financial budget for senior center construction. Note that *B* is the budget for financial investment. Equations(3.37) to (3.40) are the constraints for variables $\{p_{ij}\}$ and $\{x_i\}$.

P1:
$$\max \sum_{i} s_i \sum_{j} p_{ij}$$
(3.35)

s.t.
$$\sum_{j} C_j(x_j) \le B \tag{3.36}$$

$$\sum_{i} p_{ij} \le 1, \forall i \in M \tag{3.37}$$

$$\sum_{i} s_i p_{ij} \le x_i, \forall j \in N$$
(3.38)

$$\frac{w_j}{\sum_i s_i p_{ij}} \ge Q, \forall j \in N$$
(3.39)

$$p_{ij} \in [0,1], \forall i \in M, j \in N$$

$$(3.40)$$

$$x_i \ge 0, \forall i \in N \tag{3.41}$$

3.5.3.1 The Senior's Choice

As we can see from the formulation **P1**, a key point for solving this problem is to decide the proportion of each group of seniors that visit different senior centers. Intuitively, the senior would prefer senior centers with higher convenience factor, i.e., α_{ij} value. However, the situation that the senior center j gets full can happen and in this case, they would turn to their second choice. Thus, we set a threshold h_i for each group of senior people, which means that they can visit any senior center with $\alpha_{ij} \ge h_i$. Under this circumstances, we can modify Equation(3.40) as following.

$$p_{ij} \in [0,1], \text{ if } \alpha_{ij} \ge h_i, \tag{3.42}$$

$$p_{ij} = 0, \text{ if } \alpha_{ij} < h_i, \tag{3.43}$$

3.5.3.2 Regarding Changing Demand

As the population structure of a city can be derived from demographic census, we can anticipate the change in senior population in the future years. While construction of senior centers is costly and usually irreversible, the investor or government would prefer to look into the long-term result and make it beneficial for as long as possible. For the senior center allocation problem, we assume the policy aims to achieve the best result in the future |T| years.

First, we denote the expected number of senior people of group i after k years as $s_i^k, \forall k \in T = \{1, ..., |T|\}$. Considering that the construction could take some time, we ignore the situation of the current year. Similarly, we can also predict the number of volunteers that each senior center can attract and denote it as w_j^k for each $j \in N$ and $k \in T$.

Then the senior center allocation problem can be reformed as P2 to maximize the total number of served seniors in |T| years.

P2:
$$\max \sum_{k \in T} \sum_{i} s_i^k \sum_{j} p_{ij}^k$$
(3.44)

s.t.
$$\sum_{j} C_j(x_j) \le B \tag{3.45}$$

$$\sum_{i} p_{ij}^{k} \le 1, \forall i \in N, k \in T$$
(3.46)

$$\sum_{i} s_{i}^{k} p_{ij}^{k} \le x_{j}, \forall j \in N, k \in T$$
(3.47)

$$\frac{w_j^k}{\sum_i s_i^k p_{ij}^k} \ge Q, \forall j \in N, k \in T$$
(3.48)

$$p_{ij}^k \in [0, 1], \forall i \in M, j \in N$$
 (3.49)

$$p_{ij}^k = 0, \forall \alpha_{ij} < h_i \tag{3.50}$$

$$x_i \ge 0, \forall i \in N \tag{3.51}$$

3.5.4 Algorithm

To solve problem **P2**, which is a mixed integer non-linear optimization problem, we can first update value of α_{ij} , such that $\alpha'_{ij} = 1$ for $\alpha_{ij} \ge h_i$ and otherwise $\alpha'_{ij} = 0$. Correspondingly, a number of variables p_{ij} with $\alpha'_{ij} = 0$ can be eliminated and we can represent Equations(16) and (17) as Equation(3.52).

$$0 \le p_{ij}^k \alpha_{ij} \le \alpha_{ij} \tag{3.52}$$

Then the problem can be solved with existing solvers to find the optimal senior center allocation plan.

3.5.5 Conclusion

To employ our approach in the real-world scenario, there is need to prepare sufficient preliminary work. As future work, we will study how to scientifically evaluate all the necessary parameters for computing the best solution. Specifically, our future work mainly includes following two aspects.

- Senior and volunteer population prediction with current population distribution and historical evolution data. Techniques like data mining are considered to be employed in such studies.
- 2. More detailed human behavior study on how a family would choose a senior center. The decision can be affected by a number of complicated and interacting factors, including but not limited to the senior center's charge, popularity, equipment and service quality, the senior's health condition (whether and how far he/she can go out alone) and so on.

To optimally allocate the senior centers for the best of their performance and the citizens' convenience, we delicately analyze the problem and build a realistic model in this work. The senior's choice on which senior center to use is considered according to their access convenience. Meanwhile, our model can handle the long-term objective, i.e., considering the predictable change of the elderly distribution in the future years and maximizing the total number of served seniors. We would further work on this problem.

3.6 Summary

The key contributions of this chapter include: (1) a realistic model for the CSPP in cities like Singapore considering the interactions among charging station placement, EV drivers' charging activities, traffic congestion and queuing time: (2) an equivalent single-level CSPP of the bi-level CSPP optimization problem obtained through exploiting the structure of the charging game; (3) an effective heuristic approach that can speed up the mixed integer CSPP with a large amount of non-linear constraints; (4) theoretical analysis of PoA and corresponding experiments for the charging game; (5) experiments results based on real data from Singapore, which show that our approach solves an effective allocation of charging stations and outperforms baselines.

There are a few aspects from which we can further improve this piece of work. First, we adopt mixed strategy Nash equilibrium as the solution concept for the charging game, where each player is individually taken into consideration in the equilibrium. However, when the EV driver population is large enough, the influence of individuals would be significantly smaller. We might need to consider other solution concepts for this kind of problem when the EV population grows large. Second, based on the real map of Singapore, we make assumptions on some unavailable parameters (e.g., the number of EV drivers in each zone). In the future, when more real data is available, we might need to carefully proceed the data to get the parameters for the real-world application. Last, the construction of charging stations is quite costly, and thus it is unrealistic to reverse the placement. However, as the city develops, different areas of the city might have different speed in population change. Further study in charging station management is required for satisfying the city development. In the next chapter, we present the work on the pricing problem for charging station management.

Chapter 4

Optimal Pricing for Efficient Electric Vehicle Charging Station Management

Electric Vehicles (EVs) are welcoming a rapid development along with the progress of relevant technologies in recent years. As an eco-friendly substitute for the traditional fuel-engined vehicle, EV is seen as a promising solution to the ever devastating energy crisis and environmental pollution around the globe, thus has drawn increasing attention from the public, markets, decision-makers, and academia. Many countries and cities have proposed plans to promote EV usage or have been preparing to do so, providing a foreseeable vision that EV will become the major vehicle of the private transportation sector in the near future [135]. Notwithstanding the progress, challenges still remain. Limited battery capacity and long charging time, probably the most widely complained disadvantages, raise mileage anxiety and largely impair EV users' driving experience. As a result, charging convenience has become a top concern affecting potential users' choice between EV and traditional fuel-engined vehicle. Specialized EV charging stations, which provide a charging speed more than 10 times faster than domestic charging, are therefore critical to the successful promotion of EV.

To adapt to the urban structure change as well as varying charging demand, a practical solution as we propose in this chapter is to leverage the charging price to readjust EV users' charging behavior and improve the efficiency of the charging network. Compared with placement, pricing is easily and immediately implementable without additional cost or waste of resources. Dynamic pricing schemes adapt to either long-term changes of travel demand caused by residential movements or short-term variances between peak and non-peak time and serve as a flexible complement to existing charging station placement. Our goal is to optimize the pricing scheme to optimize the efficiency of charging stations, i.e., to minimize the additional cost caused by EV users' charging behavior, which is referred as the social cost. There have been some works leveraging dynamic pricing to improve the efficiency of public transportation systems, such as taxi systems [3, 4]. Some works have particularly focused on real-time pricing and charge-discharge policy for EV management [5, 6]. However, their aim is just to balance electricity load in power grids, while traffic condition is not in their consideration. Moreover, their method cannot be incorporated with trivial modifications because the traffic condition deeply relates to EV users' self-interested charing behavior associated with a graph-based road network, which is all absent from existing work.

In this chapter, we take a game-theoretic perspective and build the problem on a non-atomic congestion game played by EV users. The model incorporates the following key features: 1) EV users' self-interested charging behavior that they strategically choose the best charging plan (i.e., where to charge and how to reach the charge station) to minimize their costs including charging fees, traveling time, and queuing time; 2) EV users' traffic pattern with complex spatial variances; 3) Traffic congestion in the road network that is affected by both the EVs and other external vehicles; and 4) A budget constraint that ensures sufficient income to support a sustainable operation of the charg-ing network. Using this model, we formulate the EV charging station pricing problem as a mixed integer non-convex optimization problem, and propose a scalable algorithm to solve the problem, in particular, to deal with the large strategy space of the EVs. Experiments on both mock and real data are also conducted, which show scalability of our algorithm as well as our solution's significant improvement in social cost over existing approaches. A concrete instance is also used to visualize the difference between our approach and existing approaches.

4.1 Motivation

Singapore is a city-country with a vehicle ownership of around 970,000 on its small territory of 720 km^2 . As a highly developed metropolis with open attitudes toward cutting-edge technologies, yet a country with limited natural resource and energy supply, Singapore is actively seeking the possibility of mass adoption of EVs to support its sustainable development. Ever since 2011, its authorities have started an EV test-bed to study the feasibility of EVs on its road. More recently, in the Government's sustainable blueprint to guide the country's development over the next 15 years launched in 2014, Singapore has even planned to lead an EV-sharing project to make the new technology even more convenient and environmentally-friendly.

Indeed, the relatively short driving distances on the small territory and the advanced power grid of Singapore make EVs a good option for this city. However, there are also many difficulties that require every step taken to be carefully planned. Because of the land scarcity and the fact that roads have already taken up 12 percent of Singapore's total land area, there is limited room for further expansion of Singapore's road network. This leaves Singapore a very high road density of $4.8 km/km^2$ and a transportation system that is highly sensitive to any changes to the current transportation mode. Besides, Singapore is undergoing a rapid change in the residential pattern along with its continuing development. As shown in Figure 1.2, population growth varies significantly among major residential zones of Singapore, indicating similar significant changes in residential traffic pattern. A sustainable plan, therefore, needs to be compatible with the current system while adaptable to future changes, to ensure a smooth transition toward the new EV-led transportation mode. This motivates our work and offers us a concrete study case.

4.2 Preliminary

In this section, we introduce some notations and definitions that will be helpful to scenario visualization and be used in formulating the problem.

4.2.1 Notations

Considering the residential distribution of the studied city (e.g., Singapore), we divide the region to be analyzed (whole or part of the city) into a set \mathcal{Z} of zones. There are roads linking the zones. Without loss of generality, we assume that there is at most one link between a pair of zones representing the average connectivity between them, and denote the set of links as \mathcal{E} and the road network as a graph $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{E})$. In each zone $i \in \mathcal{Z}$, there are γ_i EVs owned by the residents who have some chance to charge in the charging stations. The γ_i EVs are furthermore classified into K_i groups according to their travel patterns, i.e., their daily travel routine as a set of most frequently visited zones. Each travel pattern is a set of connected zones that they visit daily. We denote by γ_{ij} the number of EVs in each group, and by \mathcal{P}_{ij} their pattern for $j \in \mathcal{K}_i = \{1, \ldots, K_i\}$. The union of all patterns is denoted by $\mathcal{P} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{Z}, i \in \mathcal{K}_i} \mathcal{P}_{ij}$.

Given the number τ_i (≥ 0) of chargers in each zone *i*, our goal is to calculate the charging rate (i.e., per unit electricity price) x_i to be set at each zone, such that the social cost (to be defined later) is minimized. Accordingly, we denote the set of feasible price as \mathcal{X} .

4.2.2 Factors Affecting EVs' Decision

EVs make decisions about where to charge and how to reach the charging zone according to the estimated charging cost, which consists of three parts: charging fee, travel cost and queuing cost. The charging fee is the variable to be optimized in this work. In the following, we introduce the definition of travel cost and queuing cost.

Travel Cost. There are furthermore two kinds of travel cost: 1) *cost on link*, i.e., cost for travelling between zones, and 2) *cost on node*, i.e., the cost of traveling within the zone where the EV charges. The cost on a link depends on the length and the traffic congestion level of this link. Generally, more vehicles on the road result in higher congestion level, and larger road capacity leads to lower congestion. We adopt a widely used linear model of traffic congestion taken as the ratio of the traffic flow to the road capacity (both in the number of vehicles). Thus, for a link $(i, i') \in \mathcal{E}$, given the length

 $d_{ii'}$, the capacity $C_{ii'}$ and traffic flow $f_{ii'}^0 + f_{ii'}$ (we distinguish flow of EVs heading for charging, i.e., $f_{ii'}$, with flow of other vehicle, i.e., $f_{ii'}^0$, which is assumed to be constant), the traffic congestion $\alpha_{ii'}$ of link (i, i') is presented in Equation (4.1) [116]. Travel cost on (i, i') is defined as a function of its length and traffic congestion as Equation (4.2).

$$\alpha_{ii'} = \frac{f_{ii'}^0 + f_{ii'}}{C_{ii'}} \tag{4.1}$$

$$t_{ii'} = d_{ii'}\alpha_{ii'} \tag{4.2}$$

Meanwhile, when an EV chooses to charge in a zone *i*, there is extra travel cost, i.e., cost on node, as she drives off the main road to access the charging station within zone *i*. Considering that a zone includes more internal roads (than in between two zones) and that the EVs coming for charging does not have to traverse all of them, we add a discount factor ζ to denote the EVs' influence on congestion in the zone. In this case, a similar function as Equation (4.2) is used for the extra travel cost in the charging zone:

$$t_i = d_i \frac{f_i^0 + \zeta f_i}{C_i}, i \in \mathcal{Z},$$
(4.3)

where d_i denotes the radius of the zone, f_i^0 is the normal traffic amount, f_i is the total number of EVs that choose to charge in zone *i* and C_i is the capacity of the zone regarding all its travel network.

Queuing Cost. The queuing cost depends on the number of chargers in the charging station and the number of EVs that come to the charging station. We use a linear model to denote the relationship between them as Equation (4.4). Recalling that τ_i denotes the number of chargers in zone *i*, let q_i be the queuing cost and f_i be the number of EVs charging there, then we have

$$q_i = \frac{f_i}{\tau_i}, i \in \mathcal{Z}.$$
(4.4)

4.3 EVs' Charging Behavior

From a game-theoretic perspective [119], when we optimize charging station management, we need to take into account the strategic behavior of EV owners. Namely, they are self-interested and profit-driven, such that they will respond to our pricing with the best charging strategy to minimize their charging cost. Next, we explicitly explain the charging game - the model of EVs' charging behavior. To distinguish a zone that EVs reside in from one EVs charge in, we use i and z respectively to denote a zone in the follows.

4.3.1 Charging Strategy

Each EV chooses a pure charging strategy and the strategies of the EVs in the same zone of the same travel pattern form a distribution over their strategy space. A pure charging strategy is to choose a zone with charging stations installed, and an additional travel path from a zone on her daily routine to the charging zone and back if the chosen zone is not in the EV's travel pattern. Thus a pure charging strategy can be denoted as a tuple s with

$$\mathbf{s} = \begin{cases} \{z\}, z \in \mathcal{P}_{ij} \\ \left\{z', (z, z'), (z', z) \mid z \in \mathcal{P}_{ij}, z' \in \mathcal{Z} \setminus \mathcal{P}_{ij}, \right\}, \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

where both (z, z') and (z', z) are in set \mathcal{E} . Note that by Equation (4.5), we only consider EVs' charging zones inside or adjacent to zones in their travel pattern and assume that they do not charge in farther places. This is because the distance to those places is usually much farther than a single hop, thus causing higher travel cost and is unlikely to happen in reality. Experimental results in Section 4.5.3 verify that this assumption is reasonable. We then use S_{ij} to denote the strategy space for the EVs in zone *i* of travel pattern *j*. Furthermore, $S = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}, j \in \mathcal{K}_i} S_{ij}$ is used to denote the strategy space union for all the EVs in the studied region. For example, there are 6 zones illustrated in Figure 4.1, and we suppose there are chargers in all zones. If a group of EVs' daily travel routine



FIGURE 4.1: Zone division illustration

includes zones 1, 4 and 6, their strategy space includes these 8 pure strategies:

$$\mathbf{s}_{1} = \{1\}, \quad \mathbf{s}_{2} = \{4\}, \quad \mathbf{s}_{3} = \{6\}, \quad \mathbf{s}_{4} = \{2, (1, 2), (2, 1)\}$$
$$\mathbf{s}_{5} = \{3, (1, 3), (3, 1)\}, \quad \mathbf{s}_{6} = \{5, (4, 5), (5, 4)\},$$
$$\mathbf{s}_{7} = \{5, (6, 5), (5, 6)\}, \quad \mathbf{s}_{8} = \{3, (6, 3), (3, 6)\}.$$

When the charging zone is in their routine, there is no links in the strategy (e.g., s_1 , s_2 and s_3). Otherwise (e.g., s_4 to s_8), there are two additional links specifying a round trip to the charging zone.

EVs choose charging strategy according to charging cost, including the charging fee, travel cost and queuing cost. In reverse, their strategies also influence congestion level and queueing time, i.e., travel cost and queueing cost. We denote the strategy distribution of EVs of group j in the zone i as \mathbf{p}_{ij} , with each $p_{ij}(\mathbf{s})$ denoting the proportion of γ_{ij} EVs using pure strategy \mathbf{s} in the group of EVs' strategy space S_{ij} .

Given a strategy profile $\mathbf{P} = {\mathbf{p}_{ij}}$, the number of EVs in each charging station $z \in \mathcal{Z}$ and the number of EVs on each link $e \in \mathcal{E}$ can then be seen as functions of the

P as:

$$f_{z}(\mathbf{P}) = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}: z\in\mathbf{s}} \sum_{i\in\mathcal{Z}} \sum_{j\in\mathcal{K}_{i}:\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{ij}} \gamma_{ij} p_{ij}(\mathbf{s})$$
(4.6)

$$f_e(\mathbf{P}) = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}:e\in\mathbf{s}} \sum_{i\in\mathcal{Z}} \sum_{j\in\mathcal{K}_i:\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{ij}} \gamma_{ij} p_{ij}(\mathbf{s})$$
(4.7)

Similarly, travel cost t for link e and zone z, and queuing cost q for zone z are respectively defined as:

$$t_e(\mathbf{P}) = \frac{d_e}{C_e} \left(f_e^0 + \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}: e \in \mathbf{s}} \sum_{i \in \mathcal{Z}} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{K}_i: \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} \gamma_{ij} p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \right),$$
(4.8)

$$t_{z}(\mathbf{P}) = \frac{d_{z}}{C_{z}} \left(f_{z}^{0} + \zeta \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}: z \in \mathbf{s}} \sum_{i \in \mathcal{Z}} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{K}_{i}: \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} \gamma_{ij} p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \right),$$
(4.9)

$$q_z(\mathbf{P}) = \frac{1}{\tau_z} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}: z \in \mathbf{s}} \sum_{i \in \mathcal{Z}} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{K}_i: \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}} \gamma_{ij} p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}).$$
(4.10)

Apart from the above costs, EVs also consider their charging fees, denoted by x_z , which vary at different zones. The weights ω_1, ω_2 , and ω_3 are assigned to the three types of costs respectively. Thus, given the electricity price x_z in zone z, the charging cost of an EV using charging strategy s under strategy profile **P** is:

$$C_{ij}(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{s}) = \sum_{z \in \mathbf{s}} \left(\omega_1 q_z(\mathbf{P}) + \omega_2 t_z(\mathbf{P}) + \omega_3 x_z \right) + \sum_{e \in \mathbf{s}} \omega_2 t_e(\mathbf{P})$$
(4.11)

for all zone $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, group $j \in \mathcal{K}_i$ and pure strategy $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}$.

4.3.2 Equilibrium

We adopt Nash equilibrium pin *non-atomic* congestion game as our solution concept. A non-atomic congestion game is one that is played by an uncountably large number of players (which is exactly the case in our problem, with around 30,000 EVs in the system) so that each agent's effect on the congestion level is negligibly small. It is widely used to model congestion scenario with a large number of agents, which is exactly our case. In an equilibrium state, no EV can decrease her charging cost by unilaterally changing her charging strategy. Specifically, for each EV group j in zone i, the charging cost of all pure strategies that are used with non-zero probability are the same and the minimal, i.e.,

$$C_{ij}(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{s}) \le C_{ij}(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{s}') \quad \forall \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}, \ p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) > 0$$

$$(4.12)$$

In this case, no EV has incentive to unilaterally change her charging strategy.

4.3.3 Pricing Problem for EV Charging Station Management

As we have mentioned before, our goal is to minimize the social cost, denoted as *SC*. Specifically, we consider the extra social cost incurred by EVs' charging behavior, which is measured with the congestion experienced by all EVs in charging stations and extra congestion caused by EVs' charging behavior for *all* vehicles in the road network, i.e.,

$$SC = \nu_1 \sum_{z \in \mathcal{Z}} f_z(\mathbf{P}) q_z(\mathbf{P}) +$$
 (4.13)

$$\nu_2 \sum_{z \in \mathcal{Z}} \left((f_z^0 + f_z(\mathbf{P})) t_z(\mathbf{P}) - f_z^0 t_z(\mathbf{0}) \right) +$$
(4.14)

$$\nu_2 \sum_{e \in \mathcal{E}} \left((f_e^0 + f_e(\mathbf{P})) t_e(\mathbf{P}) - f_e^0 t_e(\mathbf{0}) \right), \tag{4.15}$$

where the first component represents queuing cost for EVs in all zones, weighted with ν_1 ; and the second and the third components respectively represent additional travel cost in each zone and on each link for all vehicles, weighted with ν_2 . It suffices for us to formulate the pricing problem for EV charging station management, which turns out to

be a non-convex optimization problem **PCS** as follows.

$$\mathbf{PCS:} \quad \min_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{P}} \quad SC \tag{4.16}$$

s.t.
$$p_{ij}(\mathbf{s})C_{ij}(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{s}) \le p_{ij}(\mathbf{s})C_{ij}(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{s}'),$$

 $\forall i \in \mathcal{Z}, \forall j \in \mathcal{K}_i, \forall \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{s}' \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}$ (4.17)

$$\sum_{z \in \mathcal{Z}} f_z(\mathbf{P}) x_z \ge B \tag{4.18}$$

$$x_z \in \mathcal{X}, \qquad \forall z \in \mathcal{Z}$$
 (4.19)

$$p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \ge 0, \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{Z}, \forall j \in \mathcal{K}_i, \forall \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}$$
 (4.20)

$$\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{ij}} p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = 1, \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{Z}, \forall j \in \mathcal{K}_i$$
(4.21)

Note that Equation (4.17) functions as the equilibrium criteria in Equation (4.12), i.e., when $p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = 0$, it holds unconditionally, and when $p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) > 0$, it is equivalent to $C_{ij}(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{s}) \leq C_{ij}(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{s}')$; Equation (4.18) is a budget constraint requiring that the income of all charging station can at least cover their management and operation expenses; we suppose the charging rate in each zone is selected from a price set \mathcal{X} ; and the last two constraints are to bound the p variables.

4.4 Computing Optimal Price

In this section, we present our algorithm for problem **PCS**. Problem **PCS** is a nonconvex quadratic optimization problem, with its objective function *SC* being quadratic, and the first constraint (i.e., Equation (4.17)) being non-convex. Besides, the scale of problem **PCS** is very large because EVs have many travel patterns and, moreover, each pattern may contain many zones, which amounts to a large strategy space and a similarly large set of variables for problem **PCS**. Therefore, problem **PCS** is hard to solve (particularly hard to scale up). To resolve the problem, we first rewrite constraint (4.17), and reformulate **PCS** to the following *binary* programming **PCS**-*binary* with an additional set of binary variables $\mathbf{y} = \langle y_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \rangle$.

PCS-binary:

$$\min_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{y}} SC$$
(4.22)

s.t.
$$y_{ij}(\mathbf{s})C_{ij}(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{s}) \le y_{ij}(\mathbf{s})C_{ij}(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{s}'),$$

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{Z}, \forall j \in \mathcal{K}_i, \forall \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{s}' \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}$$
(4.23)

$$p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \le y_{ij}(\mathbf{s}), \ \forall i \in \mathcal{Z}, j \in \mathcal{K}_i, \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}$$

$$(4.24)$$

$$y_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \in \{0, 1\}, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{Z}, j \in \mathcal{K}_i, \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij}$$

$$(4.25)$$

Eqs. (4.18) - (4.21)

Equations (4.23)–(4.24) are modified from Equation (4.17) with the auxiliary variable y. As we can see, $y_{ij}(\mathbf{s})$ is an indicator for whether s can be used with *non-zero* probability in the solution, i.e., when $y_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = 0$, we have (by Equation (4.24)) $0 \le p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \le 0 \Rightarrow p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = 0$, and when $y_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = 1$, we have $0 \le p_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \le 1$. Therefore, Equations (4.23)–(4.24) are equivalent to (4.17), and **PCS**-*binary* is equivalent to **PCS**. To solve **PCS**-*binary*, a brute-force way is to exhaustively try all the 0/1 combinations in the feasible space $\{0, 1\}^{|\mathbf{y}|}$ for y. When y is fixed, **PCS**-*binary* becomes a quadratic programming with linear constraints, which is relatively easy to solve. We then propose a Strategy Space Generation Algorithm (*SSGA*) to speed up the brute-force search, which is sketched with Algorithm 3.

SSGA starts with an initialized vector y^* (Line 1) and, repeatedly, solves **PCS**-*binary* with y^* , and updates y^* with two key procedures Rule A (Lines 6–8) and Rule B (Lines 11–15), until no update is made on y^* in some iteration (Line 16). Specifically,

 Rule A disables strategies s that are chosen with very small probability (i.e., p_{ij}(s)<δ with 0<δ≪1) by setting y_{ij}(s) = 0, so that they will not be used in the next iteration. The intuition behind Rule A is that when p_{ij}(s) is very close to Algorithm 3: SSGA

```
1 \mathbf{y}^* \leftarrow Initialize as a binary vector;
 2 \mathbf{x}^* \leftarrow Null;
 3 repeat
          \langle \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{P}^* \rangle \leftarrow Fix y to y<sup>*</sup> and solve PCS-binary;
 4
          \mathbf{y}' \leftarrow \mathbf{y}^*;
 5
          /* ----- Rule A
                 _____
                                                                                                                         */
          for each i \in \mathcal{Z}, j \in \mathcal{K}_i, \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij} do
 6
               if p_{ij}^*(\mathbf{s}) < \delta then
 7
                 | y_{ij}^*(\mathbf{s}) \leftarrow 0;
 8
          if y^* \neq y' then
 9
            goto Line 4;
10
          /* ----- Rule B
                 _____
                                                                                                                         */
          for each i \in \mathbb{Z}, j \in \mathcal{K}_i do
11
               C_{ij}^{min} \leftarrow \arg\min_{\mathbf{s}: \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij} \land p'_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) > 0} C_{ij}(\mathbf{P}^*, \mathbf{s});
12
               for each \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{ij} do
13
                     if y'_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = 0 and C_{ij}(\mathbf{P}^*, \mathbf{s}) \leq C^{min}_{ij} then
14
                      y_{ij}^*(\mathbf{s}) \leftarrow 1;
15
16 until y^* = y';
17 return x^*;
```

0, setting it to 0 will not cause much change to the cost of the EVs, but can significantly expand the feasible space as the associate constraint in Equation (4.23) is relaxed.

• Rule B checks if there are any unused strategies that could potentially lower EVs' cost, and enables them by setting $y_{ij}(s) = 1$ when they are found. Intuitively, these newly enabled strategies are EVs' better responses to the current strategy profile.

Finally, Proposition 4.1 shows that *SSGA* always converges to a Nash equilibrium. The price x^* it returns is thus the optimal price under the equilibrium.

Proposition 4.1. The algorithm SSGA always converges to an equilibrium charging strategy profile.

Proof. Recalling that we use *Rule B* to validate whether or not we need to keep on the iteration of upgrading the set of used pure strategies and *Rule B* is exactly using the equilibrium criteria as stated in Equation (4.12), we can always ensure the strategy distribution \mathbf{P} in the solution is an equilibrium.

4.5 **Experimental Results**

In this section, experimental results are provided to verify the optimality and scalability of the proposed approach *SSGA*, and to present the improvement of traffic system performance provided by our approach. All computations are performed on a 64-bit machine with 16 GB RAM and a quad-core Intel i7-4770 3.4 GHz processor. All standard optimization problems, such as Line 4 of Algorithm 3, are solved with KNITRO 9.0.0.

Data of Singapore. We divide Singapore into 23 zones as Figure 1.1 according to the official planning-area information [136] and other geographic information. According to statistic data from the Department of Statistics, Ministry of Trade and Industry, Singapore [137], 23% of the residents usually drive to work. Besides, there are more than 972,000 vehicles in the year 2014, among which more than 600,000 are cars or station-wagons. We suppose 5% of the 600,000 vehicles are EVs that charge in the charging game, then the total number of 30,000 EVs are assigned to different zones according to the residential population distribution. The traffic flow and road capacity for each zone and link are estimated according to Google real-time traffic map. The price set is set as $\mathcal{X} = \{1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3\}$, according to the charging fee of charging stations in the U.S. [138]. The discount factor in computing the traffic congestion inside a zone is set as $\zeta = 0.5$. The weights for different parts in social cost and EVs' charging cost are set as: $\nu_1 = 0.8, \nu_2 = 0.2; \omega_1 = 0.1, \omega_2 = 0.3$ and $\omega_3 = 0.6$. The reason for this setting is to make sure that charging fee, travel cost and queuing cost are comparable. Except in Section 4.5.1, where we use a set of mock data of the traffic network and EV population to test the solution quality and scalability of SSGA, all other experiments are based on the data of Singapore.

Initializing the Binary Indicators for SSGA. The initial value of the indicators in Line 1 of the algorithm SSGA significantly influences the accuracy and speed of the approach. We apply the following method for initializing starting indicators for SSGA. We first compute the estimate the charging cost of each pure strategy assuming that there is only one EV that charges in the charging zone of that pure strategy and ignoring the charging fee. Formally, The estimate charging cost $\tilde{C}_{ij}(s)$ for EVs of each pattern jin each zone i is computed as

$$\widetilde{C}_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = \sum_{z \in \mathbf{s}} \left(\omega_1 \frac{1}{\tau_z} + \omega_2 \frac{d_z}{C_z} (f_z^0 + \zeta) \right) + \sum_{e \in \mathbf{s}} \omega_2 \frac{d_e}{C_e} (f_e^0 + 1).$$
(4.26)

Then we select the strategies whose estimated charging costs are no more than twice of the minimum of them and set their indicators as 1. That is to say, we set the indicator $y_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) = 1$ for all the $\mathbf{s} \in S_{ij}$ with $\tilde{C}_{ij}(\mathbf{s}) \leq 2 \min_{\mathbf{s}' \in S_{ij}} \tilde{C}_{ij}(\mathbf{s}')$.

Virtual Charging Station Placement for Experiments on Data of Singapore. Since the charging station network in Singapore is not settled yet, we use virtual placements of EV charging stations for our experiments. For the total number of 30,000 EVs in the charging game, we assign a total number of 2,000 chargers to the charging stations in the region. Three kinds of placement are used according to the following rules, respectively.

- A1 Placement according to population distribution. Namely, the chargers are distributed proportionally according to the population in each zone, i.e., $\tau_z \propto \gamma_z, \forall z \in \mathcal{Z}$.
- B1 Placement according to current gas station distribution. This rule refers to the current gas station distribution in Singapore and assigns chargers proportionally according to the number of gas stations in each zone. Formally, assume that there are τ_z^{Gas} gas stations in zone z, the number of chargers in this zone $\tau_i \propto \tau_z^{Gas}$.
- C1 Placement considering traffic congestion. The number of chargers in a zone is set proportional to the inverse of the normal congestion (regardless of the charging EVs) inside the zone, i.e., $\tau_z \propto \frac{C_z}{f_z^0}, \forall z \in \mathcal{Z}$.

4.5.1 Solution Quality and Scalability of SSGA

For experiments in this part, we generate a set of mock data, because we need problems of different scales to verify the optimality and scalability of *SSGA* through comparing with **PCS**.

Mock Data. We generate mock data using a Java program. First, the number of zones n is specified and the budget is set as 100n. The traffic network is randomly generated by building a two-way link between any pair of zones with probability 4.5/n. After the construction of the travel network, we randomly set the number of travel patterns in each zone as one of the elements in the set $\{1, 2, 3\}$ and we randomize the number of EVs of each pattern between 50 and 100. The traffic capacity and external flow (i.e., f_z^0 and f_e^0) in zones and links are randomized as integers in [140, 160] and [100, 200], respectively. For the charging stations' location and size, we use two methods to set them up. In the following are the two charging station placement plans on mock data.

- A2 We randomly choose some of the zones and assign 10 chargers to each of them. The expectation of the number of zones with chargers is n/2.
- **B2** We first calculate an index value θ_z for each zone $z \in \mathcal{Z}$ as following

$$\theta_z = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{Z}} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{K}_i : z \in \mathcal{P}_{ij}} \gamma_{ij}.$$

This index value reflects how many EVs visit zone z frequently. Then we assign a number 5n of chargers to the zones proportionally, i.e., $\tau_z \propto \theta_z, \forall z \in \mathbb{Z}$.

To test the optimality and scalability of SSGA, we generate different problems with n ranging from 5 to 12. Since the travel network, travel patterns and charging stations are randomly generated, the size of strategy space (i.e., |S|), as well as the average size of strategy space for each travel pattern of EVs (i.e., |S|/|P|), are also randomized and does not have to increase with n (refer to "|S|/#Pattern" curve in Figure 4.2a for the variation trend). We then solve **PCS** and SSGA based on the above described mock data and the corresponding charging station placement **A2** and **B2**.



FIGURE 4.2: Optimality and scalability of SSGA comparing with PCS: (a) illustrates the running time of PCS and SSGA on the primary y axis, while on the secondary y axis showing the total number of pure strategies divided by the total number of EV patterns (i.e., the average size of strategy space for each pattern of EVs) corresponding to the charging station placement A2; (b) shows the relationship between the running time and the average size of strategy space for each pattern of EVs; (c) depicts running time results corresponding to the charging station placement B2; and (d) depicts the social cost of both PCS and SSGA for placement A2.

Experimental results are shown in Figure 4.2. When we increase the number of zones, the size of the strategy space also increases accordingly. In Figure 4.2a and Figure 4.2c, the running time of both approaches under different charging station placement plans is respectively described. It is shown that the running time of **PCS** does not monotonously increase with the number of zones but corresponds to the "|S|/#Pattern" curve. This is because the latter decides the complexity of the problem. For better visualization, we depict the relationship between running time and the average strategy space |S|/|P| in Figure 4.2b, from which we can see that the running time increases



FIGURE 4.3: Comparing SSGA with uniform pricing under different charging station placement plans A1, B1 and C1: (a) the number of EVs is estimated as we stated before; and (b) we increase and decrease the number of EVs by 10%.

accordingly when |S|/|P| increases. In Figure 4.2c, as we are using the charging station plan **B2**, the number of zones with chargers increases, so does the problem scale. In this case, **PCS** cannot handle the problem even for a small graph. Obviously, our approach *SSGA* drastically decreases the running time. As we can see from Figure 4.2d, *SSGA* always results in very close optimal social cost to **PCS**. Note that the social cost increases with the number of EVs divided by the number of chargers, i.e., the average number of EVs that a charger needs to serve.

4.5.2 Advantages over Uniform Pricing

We apply our approach to the data of Singapore and compare our pricing policy with the benchmark - uniform pricing (i.e., set charging rate in all the charging stations as the same), which represents no utilization of pricing measure for improving traffic system performance. We then conduct experiments according to different charging station placement plans **A1** to **C1** for both *SSGA* and uniform pricing. In Figure 4.3a, the number of EVs in each zone is set as we stated before. We can see that *SSGA* largely decreases the social cost, especially when the social cost is higher. We then increase/decrease the number of EVs in different extents to see what is the difference between the two methods when the EV density in the region is different. In Figure 4.3b, the legends "*SSGA*+" and "Uniform+" refer to the results when the number of EVs is increased by



FIGURE 4.4: Social cost of *SSGA* on original data and with two-step hop charging strategies: (a) the number of EVs is estimated as we stated before; and (b) the number of EVs in each travel pattern is increased/decreased by 10%.

10%; similarly, the legends "SSGA-" and "Uniform-" refer to the results when the number of EVs is decreased by 10%. We find that when the number of EVs increases, the advantage of distinct pricing computed by SSGA also increases.

4.5.3 **Two-step Hop Charging Strategies**

In this part, we release the assumption that EVs only charge in her routine zones or adjacent ones of them to see what will happen to the optimal social cost and the equilibrium strategy profile. We choose zone 1 for the test by adding up all the 2-step hop charging strategies s' for the each patterns j EVs in zone 1:

$$\mathbf{s}' = \{ z'', (z, z'), (z', z''), (z'', z'), (z', z) \},$$
(4.27)

where z is a zone in the travel pattern \mathcal{P}_{1j} , but z' and z'' are not. We then conduct experiments on original data and data with varied number of EVs (increas/decreas by 10% as we used in Section 4.5.2). We find that although the two-step hop strategies are added to the EVs' strategy space, they are never used and the optimal social cost never changes, which is shown in Figure 4.4. Furthermore, we find that the charging cost of those two-step hop strategies is much larger than those employed strategies. We conclude that it is reasonable to ignore these strategies.

4.5.4 Adaption to Population Change

The population in cities changes in amount as well as in distribution along with the city development. A concrete example is what we show in Section 4.1 about Singapore. Once the charging stations are settled in the city, it is costly to modify their layout although that the traffic system performance will decrease along with city development, which directly leads to citizens' travel pattern change. Thus we propose to use adaptive dynamic pricing to accommodate changes in population density and travel patterns, thus to mitigate the traffic congestion and decrease the social cost.



FIGURE 4.5: The optimal social cost of *SSGA* and uniform pricing, as well as the system efficiency improvement along with time.

We first arrange the charging stations according to plan A2 for Singapore in the year 2010. Based on that charging station placement, we then conduct experiments for population distribution in the year 2012 and 2014, respectively. The results in the social cost of both SSGA and uniform pricing are depicted in Figure 4.5, where the x axis denotes the year, and the primary and secondary y axes denote social cost and the percentage of improvement in social cost, respectively. As we can see, SSGA is quite adaptive to the population density change and it always decreases the social cost by a considerable amount. Furthermore, the "Improvement" curve shows that the decrease in social cost (i.e., improvement in system performance) increases with time. It turns out that when the system degenerates, SSGA performs even better.





FIGURE 4.6: Robustness test of *SSGA* comparing with uniform pricing regarding to deviation in estimation of the number of EVs: (a) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 5% less than the estimation; (b) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 10% less than the estimation; (c) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 5% more than the estimation; and (d) the actual number of EVs of each pattern is 10% more than the estimation.

4.5.5 Sensitivity and Robustness

In the above sections, the number of EVs in each zone of each pattern is accurately estimated. Considering that there might be some deviation between estimation and true values, we test the sensitivity of our approach regarding the number of EVs and consider the case that the estimated number of EVs is not accurate. We first compute the optimal price x according to our estimation. Then we compute the social cost with fixed x and EV number deviation by letting $\gamma'_i = \gamma_i (1 \pm \varepsilon)$ with $\epsilon = 5\%$ or 10%.

As we can see in Figure 4.6, *SSGA* always achieves better performance (i.e., results in lower social cost) than uniform pricing even when the estimation is not precise. Thus our pricing policy is robust regarding the uncertainty of estimation of the number of

EVs. Besides, according to the social cost of uniform pricing and the "Improvement" curve, we can see that when the social cost is higher, *SSGA* actually outperforms uniform pricing more.

4.6 Summary

In this chapter, we take a game-theoretic perspective to study the EV charging station pricing problem motivated by the practical need of EV promotion in Singapore. Our first contribution in this work is a novel pricing model that comprehensively incorporates EV users' self-interested charging behavior and their various traffic patterns, traffic congestion contributed by EVs and other non-EV vehicles in the road network, as well as the financial concern for a sustainable operation of the charging network. The second contribution is the algorithm, SSGA, to solve the mixed integer non-convex optimal pricing problem, which features two key rules that guarantee efficient converging to equilibrium solution and drastically improves the running time performance. The final contribution is our extensive experiments and results which demonstrate our approach in several aspects, including solution quality, scalability, and robustness. Moreover, we compare our approach with uniform pricing and demonstrate how and to what extent SSGA can help with improving the traffic system efficiency and decreasing social cost caused by EV owners' charging behavior. Our approach can be applied in various modern cities like the motivating example Singapore to manage the charging stations in the future. We are actively approaching authorities of Singapore to look for such potential application.

There are two aspects from which we can further improve our research. First, we assume the charging price to be discrete since it is more common in our daily life. Nevertheless, along with the development of electronic payment, people can pay the charging fee more convenient. As a result, we can relax the assumption and select the optimal charging fee from a continuous interval. We might need to study how to do that, and analyze and compare its performance with the current approach. Then, we adopt non-atomic congestion solution concept as the solution concept of our charging game, and thus the players in the same zone are identically treated regarding their charging

study for the EV drivers' charging behavior is required. In the next chapter, we present the charging behavior study and show an application on charging station placement.

Chapter 5

Charging Behavior Analysis and Optimization for Electric Vehicle Charging Station Placement

Electric vehicles (EVs) are attracting growing interest from the public in recent years. A critical limitation for promoting EVs is the limited battery capacity, which brings mileage anxiety for drivers. Consequently, the EV charging stations, which can support EVs with fast and convenient charging (around 20 to 30 minutes, usually 12 times faster than charging with domestic electricity) is important for the successful promotion of EVs. With planned charging stations, EV drivers can select the most suitable one to use according to the features of the charging stations, including the charging fare and queuing condition. In this process, the charging behavior of EV drivers, in return, affects the performance of the charging stations, i.e., the queuing condition. Thus, it is important to study the interrelationship between EV drivers and charging stations.

While there have been a number of works [7–10] on Charging Station Placement Problems (CSPP), only a few of them [7, 10] consider the EV drivers' charging behavior. However, their behavior models are based on simplistic assumptions. First, existing charging behavior models are lack of comprehensive study of EV drivers' preference over different factors; second, they assume that EV drivers are fully rational. In this paper, through carefully analyzing the charging behavior of EV drivers, we propose a realistic 2-Level Nested QRE (quantal response equilibrium) charging behavior model, which is the first contribution of this work. Each EV driver is trying to minimize his/her charging cost while making the decision and competing with each other for using the charging stations. Our 2LNQRE charging behavior model is inspired by the QRE model [102] and level-k thinking model [110]. To the best of our knowledge, we are the first to study EV drivers' specific charging behavior.

Second, to verify the 2LNQRE charging behavior model and learn its parameters, we carefully design a set of charging behavior user studies to simulate the charging scenarios in the real world. We collect human players' charging choices and learn the charging behavior model.

The third contribution of this paper is that we formulate the charging station placement problem with the 2LNQRE charging behavior model and design an efficient algorithm for the complex optimization problem. We utilize the approximate derivative and design a gradient descent approach.

The last contribution is that we conduct extensive experimental evaluations to compare 2LNQRE charging behavior model with several benchmark models and our placement approach with two benchmarks. It is shown that the proposed charging behavior model well captures the bounded rationality of EV drivers and our approach for placement significantly outperforms the benchmarks by decreasing the EV drivers' queuing time by at least 5%.

5.1 Charging Behavior Model

In this section, we first briefly introduce the QRE model, then introduce the proposed 2LNQRE charging behavior model, and then we present the design of user studies and the method to learn the model with collected data.
5.1.1 QRE Model

During the charging process, EV drivers are competing with each other to use the charging stations and they are self-interested in minimizing their own cost. We employ the framework of the congestion game to model the interactions among EV drivers. We define a charging game with following components.

- *Player* The EV drivers are players of the charging game.
- *Strategy* A strategy is a charging station that a player could use. In the charging game, players have a strategy set, i.e., a set of accessible charging stations. Based on all players' selection, their strategies form a distribution over the strategy set.
- *Cost* Considering that charging in different charging stations bring the same utility for EV drivers, i.e., having the EV recharged, we only need to consider their cost in the charging process that may vary from one station to another.
- *Equilibrium* Players are self-interested, and they would like to use the best strategy to minimize their cost. An equilibrium is the state of the game where no player would deviate.

Considering the charging process of an EV driver, he/she needs to drive from home to the charging station, (probably) queue in the charging station for some time and pay the charging fare before starting charging the EV. Thus, we consider the following factors that may influence EV drivers' charging cost¹:

- t the travel time on the road;
- d the travel distance from the start point to the charging station;
- f the charging fare in the charging station;
- q the queuing time in the charging station.

¹We list the most common factors that influence EV drivers' charging behavior. While other factors may exist, we can extend our model accordingly.

Assume that there are a number of choices for the players in the charging game. For each choice i, we model the charging cost function c_i as a linear combination of the above factors. Note that the weight can be 0, which means the corresponding factor does not influence the EV drivers' choices.

$$c_i = w_t t_i + w_d d_i + w_f f_i + w_q q_i \tag{5.1}$$

With the charging cost function in Eq.(5.1), we can denote the selection distribution of players according to quantal response equilibrium (QRE) model with Eq. (5.2), where p_i is the probability of choosing choice *i*.

$$p_{i} = \frac{e^{-\lambda(w_{t}t_{i}+w_{d}d_{i}+w_{f}f_{i}+w_{q}q_{i})}}{\sum e^{-\lambda(w_{t}t_{j}+w_{d}d_{j}+w_{f}f_{j}+w_{q}q_{j})}}$$
(5.2)

Note that the queuing time q_i is actually decided by the number of EV drivers in the charging station, thus can be rewritten as $q_i(\mathbf{p})$. Furthermore, the charging cost function can be denoted as $c_i(\mathbf{p})$.

When $\lambda \to 0$, players tend to be irrational and choose one option randomly; when $\lambda \to \infty$, players tend to be rational and choose the option with the lowest cost. As far as we know, there is no previous work studying the parameters of the charging cost function. Besides, the weights we are multiplying the rationality parameter λ . When the weights are doubled, it is equal to λ is halved. Thus we can assume $\lambda = 1$ and focus on the unknown weights. Therefore, in the following, we would eliminate the parameter λ for simplicity.

5.1.2 2LNQRE Model

A strong assumption in above QRE model is that players can form QRE distribution p according to the queuing time q(p). In reality, players can hardly know q(p). In reality, players would observe the situation, and then make a choice accordingly; furthermore, some players would even think further to anticipate others' charging choices before making a decision. Thus we propose a 2-Level Nested QRE (2LNQRE) model

to capture human players' charging behavior by combining these two levels of thinking modes.

For the level-1 players, we assume that they would form a QRE distribution according to their observation, i.e., the current queuing time that they know at the moment, which is not influenced by their competitors. We denote this queuing time as \hat{q} . Then, level-1 players would form the following QRE distribution \hat{p} .

$$\hat{p}_i = \frac{e^{-c_i(\hat{\mathbf{q}})}}{\sum e^{-c_j(\hat{\mathbf{q}})}}$$
(5.3)

Consequently, level-2 players would anticipate \hat{p} and perceive queuing time as $\tilde{q}(\hat{p})$. The QRE distribution formed by level-2 players is then presented with Eq.(5.4).

$$\tilde{p}_i = \frac{e^{-c_i(\hat{\mathbf{p}})}}{\sum e^{-c_j(\hat{\mathbf{p}})}}$$
(5.4)

In reality, there would be a proportion of level-1 players and the rest are level-2 players. We assume that the proportion of level-1 players is γ . Then, the actual distribution of the players' charging choices is

$$p_i = \gamma \hat{p}_i + (1 - \gamma)\tilde{p}_i \tag{5.5}$$

5.1.3 User Study Design

To learn the charging cost function and the level of rationality of EV drivers, we design a set of user studies to simulate the charging scenarios and collect data from human players.

We present charging scenarios for players with abstracted information as shown in Figure 5.1. The interface includes (1) a decolored map as background, (2) the start point marked with red circled S where EV drivers (players) stay, (3) the number of EV drivers at the start point that will go for charging at the same time, (4) the candidate charging stations marked with purple icons and named as CS_i , $i \in \{1, 2, ...\}$, (5) the charging fare in \$ at each charging station circled near the corresponding charging station, (6) the hint for queuing time¹, (7) the charging routes from the start point to each candidate charging station, along which the travel time and distance are denoted in min and km respectively, and (8) a table with text information below the map.



FIGURE 5.1: User study interface example

The travel time and the distance from the start point to each of the charging stations are assumed to be stationary. To visualize the travel speed in the charging route, inspired by Google Maps, we use four colors to draw the travel routes (respectively representing travel speed around 20km/h, 30km/h, 40km/h and 50km/h). All candidate charging stations are assumed to be located beside a shopping center, so there is no need for the players to consider which one is more convenient. The EV drivers at the same start point will charge at the same time, thus they would cause congestion in the charging

¹ The design of the game has been performed in several iterations with studies on human players to verify that they are aware of all the games' parameters.

stations. The EV drivers in a charging station with x EV drivers choosing it would wait for x mins on average before starting charging.

With all the information provided, a player is able to see the difference between different charging choices and then make his/her charging decision. For example, if a player at the start point S chooses the charging station CS_1 , meanwhile there are 12 other EV drivers that also select CS_1 , the player would travel 13 minutes, 9 kilometers, pay 1\$ and queue 13 minutes before charging.

5.1.3.1 One-Shot Charging Game

To study the charging behavior of EV drivers, we design two different charging scenarios $\{I_A, I_B\}$ respectively with (1) one start point and two candidate charging stations (I_A) and (2) one start point and three candidate charging stations (I_B) . For each user study structure, we carefully design 6 scenarios with different parameters. The basic idea is to provide distinct scenarios to avoid over-fitting. The total 12 user studies are divided into two groups. Each invited human player is randomly directed to one of the two groups and makes a choice in each of the 6 different scenarios *for once*.

We put the user studies on a virtual machine build on Microsoft Azure platform. Players can access the user studies via a link¹. They would first see the introduction with a video and also text explanation. The details of the user study is clearly presented to make sure players understand every part of it. After providing some general information, players would see a toy example on the next page, which is used to ensure that the participants have fully understood the user study. Only the players who can correctly answer the toy example question would be directed to the formal user studies. After that, players would see the interfaces of different charging scenarios and submit their selections.

¹http://52.187.51.242/welcome

5.1.3.2 Repeated Charging Games

In the one-shot charging games, players have no idea about others' choices. Considering that people can have history knowledge from day to day in real-world scenarios, we furthermore conduct repeated charging games as follows. We selected one group of user studies to conduct repeated charging game. In this case, a number of players are required to make charging decisions simultaneously. In each round of a user study, firstly, all players submit their choices; then, the webpage would automatically refresh and present the result of this round, i.e., the resulted queuing time in each charging station. With this information, players would go to the next round for the same user study until the last round, after which they would see the next user study. In repeated charging games, players can get real-time feedback on their decisions and use this information for decision-making in the next round.

5.1.4 Parameter Estimation

We employ the Maximum Likelihood Estimation (MLE) to learn the parameters w. For a charging scenario S with M records from the players, the logarithmic likelihood of wis

$$\log L(\mathbf{w}|S) = \sum_{i=1}^{M} \log p_{cs(i)}(\mathbf{w})$$
(5.6)

where cs(i) is the charging station selected in the sample *i*. Assuming that there are *K* charging stations (strategies) for the players and the number of players that choose to use the k^{th} one is M_k , then we have $\sum_k M_k = M$ and

$$\log L(\mathbf{w}|S) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} M_k \log p_k(\mathbf{w})$$
(5.7)

By substitute p_k with Eq.(5.5), we have

$$\log L(\mathbf{w}|S) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} M_k \log(\gamma \hat{p}_i + (1-\gamma)\tilde{p}_i)$$
(5.8)

In fact, we design a number of charging scenarios with different environment settings to study players charging behavior. Thus, we are maximizing the sum of the logarithmic likelihood when learning the parameters.

$$\log L(\mathbf{w}) = \sum_{S} \log L(\mathbf{w}|S)$$
(5.9)

The function *fmincon* of Matlab is used for the maximization.

5.2 Charging Station Placement Problem

To model the Charging Station Placement Problem (CSPP), we divide the target area (e.g., a city) into n zones according to the geographic constraints and residential condition (see Figure 5.2 for an example on Singapore city). The set of zones are denoted as $\mathcal{N} = \{1, ..., n\}$, where each zone $i \in \mathcal{N}$ has a carefully selected candidate position to construct a charging station and the size of the charging station can be denoted as x_i . When $x_i = 0$, it means that zone i will not have a charging station; when $x_i > 0$, x_i represents the capacity of the charging station. The charging fare of the charging station in zone i is set as f_i , which is decided by the electricity cost of that zone. A budget B is used to constrain the financial support.



FIGURE 5.2: Zonal division of a target area

Meanwhile, in each zone *i*, there are a number of residents that own EVs, which can be denoted as E_i . A proportion $\tau \in [0, 1]$ of EV drivers are possible to go out for charging during the same time period. We assume that the EV drivers can charge in their residential zone and geographically adjacent zones (denoted with a set \mathcal{A}_i).¹ Then, the EV drivers from the same zone are treated as identical players with the same strategy set \mathcal{A}_i . Respectively, for a player in zone *i* that uses strategy *j*, the charging cost is denoted as c_{ij} . The strategy profile, i.e., charging selection distribution of players in zone *i* is denoted as $\mathbf{p}_i = \{p_{ij}\}$, where p_{ij} indicates the probability of using strategy *j*.

The queuing time q_j in charging station j is decided by the charging station size x_j and the number of EV drivers y_j that use it, which can be calculated with all players' strategy profile P.

$$y_j = \sum_{i|j \in \mathcal{A}_i} E_i \tau p_{ij} \tag{5.10}$$

Assume that all chargers in charging stations have the same service ability, and take μ minutes to recharge one EV. The queuing time q_j for EV drivers in the charging station j is defined as following.

$$q_{j} = \frac{y_{j}\mu}{2x_{j}} = \frac{\mu \sum_{i|j \in \mathcal{A}_{i}} E_{i}\tau p_{ij}}{2x_{j}}$$
(5.11)

We consider the government as the investor to construct the charging stations, and the objective is to optimize the charging station performance, in other words, to minimize the social cost SC. Then, the CSPP is to minimize SC by strategically deciding the charging station placement $\mathbf{x} = \{x_i\}$ with respect to the EV drivers' charging behavior in the charging activities.

With the proposed 2LNQRE model, the CSPP can be formulated as follows.

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}} \quad SC = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} E_i \tau \sum_{j \in \mathcal{A}_i} p_{ij} q_j(\mathbf{p})$$

$$e^{-(w_t t_{ij} + w_d d_{ij} + w_f f_j + w_q \hat{q}_j)}$$
(5.12)

s.t.
$$\hat{p}_{ij} = \frac{e^{-(w_t t_j + w_d d_{ij} + w_f f_j + w_q f_j)}}{\sum e^{-(w_t t_{ik} + w_d d_{ik} + w_f f_k + w_q \hat{q}_k)}}$$
 (5.13)

$$\tilde{p}_{ij} = \frac{e^{-(w_t t_{ij} + w_d a_{ij} + w_f f_j + w_q q_j(\mathbf{p})))}}{\sum e^{-(w_t t_{ik} + w_d d_{ik} + w_f f_k + w_q \tilde{q}_k(\mathbf{\hat{p}}))}}$$
(5.14)

$$p_{ij} = \gamma \hat{p}_{ij} + (1 - \gamma)\tilde{p}_{ij} \tag{5.15}$$

$$\sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} x_i \le B, x_i \in \mathbb{N}$$
(5.16)

¹The assumption can be extended to the case where EV drivers would charge on their way between home and working places. Our model can adapt to that by changing the set of choices for EV drivers from "the set of adjacent zones" to "the set of zones on their way between home and the working place".

The CSPP is an integer non-convex optimization problem, finding the global optimum is extremely hard. Therefore, we propose an algorithm named MAGD (Algorithm 4) with multiple start points, approximate derivatives and gradient descent method to compute an approximate solution. We first randomly generate a set of start points S. In each iteration of a start point $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$, we first compute the corresponding social $\cot^1 \bar{O}_{bj}$; for each step size from the maximum one N_S to 1, we iteratively update the $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ to \mathbf{x} w.r.t the approximate derivative $\nabla \bar{\mathbf{x}}$; then we compute O_{bj} with \mathbf{x} , compare it with the current smallest social $\cot O_{bj}^*$ and go to next iteration until $I_{iter} = N_I$ or there is no improvement for any *step* in the current iteration. By increasing the number of start points and expanding the searching space, the probability of reaching the global optimal solution would be increased.

Algorithm 4: MAGD - Multi-start Approximate Gradient Descent Algorithm

1	Genera	te S ;			
2	$O_{bi}^* \leftarrow$	$\infty;$			
3	$3 \ \mathbf{for} \ \mathbf{\bar{x}} \in \mathcal{S} \ \mathbf{do}$				
4	Co	Compute \bar{O}_{bi} with $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$;			
5	for	for $I_{ter} = 1$: N_I do			
6		for $step = N_S : -1 : 1$ do			
7		$igg abla ar{\mathbf{x}}_i \leftarrow rac{-step \cdot y_i^2}{x_i(x_i+step)};$			
8		$\mathbf{x} \leftarrow ar{\mathbf{x}};$			
9		for $i \in \mathcal{N}$ do			
10		$x_i \leftarrow \bar{x}_i + step, \text{ if } \bigtriangledown x_i = \min_j \bigtriangledown x_j;$			
11					
12		Compute O_{bj} with x;			
13		if $O_{bj} < O_{bj}^*$ then			
14		$ar{\mathbf{x}}, \mathbf{x}^* \leftarrow \mathbf{x};$			
15		$O_{bj}^* \leftarrow O_{bj};$			
16		Goto next I_{ter} ;			
17		else			
18		Goto next <i>step</i> ;;			
19	19 return O_{bj}^* and \mathbf{x}^* ;				

¹We employ KNITRO 9.0.0 and set *option* with "algorithm=5".

5.3 Experimental Results

In this section, we can see the experimental results from 50 records (25 records for each group of user studies) for the one-shot charging games. Besides, we invite 10 players to participate in the repeated charging games to play each of the 6 games from group A for 20 rounds. The queuing time is calculated w.r.t. the players' selection. In one-shot charging games, for a setting with M EVs from the start point, the actual queuing time in a candidate charging station is calculated and rounded as $q = [M \cdot N_i/N]$ min; for repeated charging games, $q = 2N_i$.

5.3.1 2LNQRE Model VS. QRE Model

For one-shot charging games, there are 12 plays (1 round for each of the 12 user studies). We take two measures to evaluate the prediction performance, i.e., mean squared error M_{SE} and Kullback-Leibler divergence D_{KL} , which is commonly used for measuring how one probability distribution diverges from another. Specifically, for two charging strategies $\mathbf{p} = \{p_i\}$ and $\mathbf{p}' = \{p'_i\}$, $D_{KL} = \sum_i (p_i \log \frac{p_i}{p'_i} + p'_i \log \frac{p'_i}{p_i})$. We test $\gamma = \{0.1, 0.2, ..., 0.9\}$ and find the optimal one is $\gamma = 0.8$. The learning results (w and learning errors) for QRE and 2LNQRE are presented in Table 5.1. As we can see, 2LNQRE model better captures the players' charging behavior with less error and more realistic weights, especially the weight of queuing time.

	w_t	w_d	w_f	w_q
QRE	0.1347	0.0577	0.5545	0
2LNQRE	0.2479	0.0797	0.9969	0.1367
Errors	M_{SE} (m	ean/std)	D_{KL} (m	ean/std)
Errors QRE	M_{SE} (m) 0.0062	ean/std) / 0.0058	D _{KL} (m 0.0621 /	ean/std) 0.0648

TABLE 5.1: Learning results comparison for one-shot charging games

In one-shot charging games, players have no information about the others' choices. In reality, players have experience from the past and might take that into consideration. Thus, we conduct repeated charging games for 120 plays (20 rounds for each of the 6 user studies). For repeated charging games, we assume that level-1 players



FIGURE 5.3: Players' selection distribution in 20 rounds of repeated games (scatter plots); prediction of 2LNQRE model for 40 rounds (curves)

perceive queuing time as $\hat{\mathbf{q}}$ (the weighted queuing time from previous *m* rounds). At the beginning of round *r*, the weighted queuing time of previous *m* rounds in each C-S *i* is $\hat{q}_i^r = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j q_i^{r-j}$, where q_i^{r-j} is the actual queuing time at round r - j. We enumerate the combination of γ , $m \in \{1, 2, ..., 5\}$ and $\alpha_1 = \{0.5, 0.6, ..., 0.9\}$ (thus, $\alpha_k = \alpha_1(1 - \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \alpha_l)$ except $\alpha_m = 1 - \sum_{l=1}^{m-1} \alpha_l$). Through comparing the learning errors, the best combination $m = 1, \gamma = 0.9$ (then α is eliminated) is selected. The learning results¹ for QRE and 2LNQRE model are presented in Table 5.2. Comparing with the results of one-shot charging games, we can see that our 2LNQRE model has greater advantage versus the QRE model in repeated ones, which has 10 times of number of plays.

TABLE 5.2: Learning results comparison for repeated charging games

	w_t	w_d	w_f	w_q	M_{SE} (mean/std)
QRE	0.0997	0.0028	0.2719	0	0.0577 / 0.0704
2LNQRE	0.1570	0.0080	0.4504	0.0749	0.0148 / 0.0190

Furthermore, we test whether and how the distribution of players' charging decision would converge. As we can see from Figure 5.3, the selection distribution would converge in several rounds. Table 5.3 presents the final convergence results of each of the 6 charging scenarios of the repeated charging settings.

TABLE 5.3: Convergence distribution of the 2LNQRE model

Game	CS1	CS2	CS3
1	0.3356	0.6644	
2	0.5070	0.4930	
3	0.5940	0.4060	
4	0.2625	0.3375	0.4000
5	0.3293	0.3563	0.3144
6	0.2456	0.3149	0.4395

5.3.2 Comparison with Single-Level QRE Models

We compare the 2LNQRE model with two single-level QRE models: (1) Level-1 QRE model, which assumes that all players are at level-1 and form QRE distribution w.r.t.

¹Note that D_{KL} is not computed since there are some CSs with no players selecting them, i.e., 0 probability.

their observation of queuing time; and (2) Level-2 QRE model, which assume that all players are at level-2.

We conduct learning process on repeated charging game results. Similarly, we traverse different combination of parameters m, α and find the optimal value for them, i.e., $m = 2, \alpha_1 = 0.5$. The learning results for these two models are shown in Table 5.4. Both of these models result in larger learning error compared with the 2LNQRE mode, which means level-1 and level-2 players coexist in reality.

TABLE 5.4: Results of Level-1 ("L1") and Level-2 ("L2") QRE models

	$ w_t$	w_d	w_f	w_q	Error(mean/std)
L1	0.1301	0.0046	0.3620	0.0401	0.0639 / 0.0810
L2	0.1079	0.0031	0.2967	0.0100	0.0576 / 0.0700

5.3.3 Charging Station Placement

We compute the social cost of charging station placement problem for Singapore with the 2LNQRE human behavior model (learnt from repeated charging games). Mean-while, we compute the charging station placement with the assumption that EV drivers would form Nash equilibrium ("NE"). Then, we compute the social cost of NE placement with the 2LNQRE human behavior model. The social cost results in Table 5.5 show that by using the 2LNQRE human behavior model in placement problem, we can decrease the social cost by at least 5.25% and as much as 15.51% when the budget is 500.

 TABLE 5.5: Social cost comparison

Budget	300	400	500	600
2LNQRE	6947.82	5256.62	4190.56	3523.95
NE	7625.75	5750.31	5001.71	3719.27

5.4 Summary

In this work, we study the bounded rational charging behavior of EV drivers and use it to formulate the EV Charging Station Placement problem (CSPP). There are several contributions of this work. (1) We propose a 2LNQRE Charging behavior model based on the QRE model and the level-k thinking model. The proposed model well captures the irrationality of EV drivers in charging activity. (2) We design a series of user studies to simulate the real-world charging scenarios and collect data from human players. Experimental results based on the data show that our behavior model captures the bounded rational charging behavior of EV drivers. (3) The charging station placement problem is formulated considering the EV drivers' bounded rational charging behavior. An efficient algorithm is designed to solve this complex optimization problem. We show that our approach significantly decreases the social cost. The EV charging stations have been constructed, governors can use pricing as a method to incentivize the EV drivers' charging decision.

Although we carefully design the user studies by abstracting the most important features of the charging scenarios, we have to admit that the laboratory environment is still different from the real-world problems. In the future, when electric vehicles are common, we might need to collect data from real EV drivers and analyze their behavior mode to validate our proposed behavior model.

Chapter 6

Conclusion and Future Work

In this thesis, we present three works for electric vehicle charging station placement and management in sequence. In the following, we would firstly summary the contributions and conclusions from the work we have done. Then we discuss the future work and plan.

6.1 Conclusion

For the first work on charging station placement, we (1) formulate a realistic model for the CSPP in cities like Singapore considering the interactions among charging station placement, EV drivers' charging activities, traffic congestion and queuing time; (2) transform an equivalent single level CSPP from the bi-level CSPP optimization problem obtained through exploiting the structure of the charging game; (3) develop an effective heuristic approach that can speed up the mixed integer CSPP with a large amount of non-linear constraints; (4) conduct theoretical analysis on PoA and corresponding experiments for the charging game; and (5) demonstrate experiments results based on real data from Singapore, which show that our approach solves an effective allocation of charging stations and outperforms baselines.

For the second work on optimal pricing for charging station management, we take a game-theoretic perspective to study the EV charging station pricing problem motivated by the practical need of EV promotion in Singapore. Our first contribution of this work is a novel pricing model that comprehensively incorporates EV users' selfinterested charging behavior and their various traffic patterns, traffic congestion contributed by EVs and other non-EV vehicles in the road network, as well as the financial concern for a sustainable operation of the charging network. The second contribution is the algorithm, SSGA, to solve the mixed integer non-convex optimal pricing problem, which features two key rules that guarantee efficient converging to equilibrium solution and drastically improves the running time performance. The final contribution is our extensive experiments and results which demonstrate our approach in several aspects, including solution quality, scalability, and robustness. Moreover, we compare our approach with uniform pricing and demonstrate how and to what extent SSGA can help with improving the traffic system efficiency and decreasing social cost caused by EV owners' charging behavior. Our approach can be applied in various modern cities like the motivating example Singapore to manage the charging stations in the future. We are actively approaching authorities of Singapore to look for such potential application.

In the third work, we formulate the EV Charging Station Placement problem (CSP-P) with consideration of the charging behavior of EV drivers. We propose an LQRE-Charging behavior model for the EV drivers to capture the EV drivers' irrational charging behaviors. From the human data and the analysis on it, we find that (1) human players rarely consider the influence from others' charging behavior and (2) they make decisions based on stationary factors. With the LQRE-Charging behavior model, we compute the optimal solution for CSPP and compare it with two benchmarks. The experimental results show that our approach significantly outperforms the benchmark in terms of the social cost, the average queuing time the maximum queuing time that the EV drivers would encounter. Our approach provides a better charging station placement, which can improve EV drivers' charging behavior model can also be applied to other relating problems. For example, when charging stations have been constructed, governors can use pricing as a method to guide the EV drivers.

6.2 Future Work

We propose several efficient approaches regarding electric vehicle charging station placement and management in this thesis. Nevertheless, there remain several opportunities to further extend relating research.

For the electric vehicle charging station placement and management, we look forward to more realistic data when electric vehicles become common in the near future. Especially for the human behavior study regarding the electric vehicle drivers' charging activities. Although we abstract the most important features to simulate the charging scenarios and design user studies, the user studies are different from the real-world scenarios. For example, besides the driving distance and time, drivers might also consider other path conditions (e.g., the road width and the number of turns on the path). These features are unrealistic to capture in simulations because, even if we can present all the details, players can hardly consider all of them in the user study process in the same pattern and extend as they would do in a real-world charging scenario. The lab environment is always distinct from the real world. Therefore, when real human behavior data becomes available, we can extend our human behavior analysis approaches to the dataset and validate the 2LNQRE human behavior model.

Despite electric vehicle charging stations, facility placement and management is a common topic for many other resources in urban city construction. There are many other facilities relating to citizens' daily life and convenience. Form schools, shopping centers, and stadiums to hospitals, all of them are closely bounded up with the public life and recreation. Besides those facilities inside cities, there are also many facilities out of the urban area but still super important. For example, railways that connecting cities together, power stations that support electricity for residents and factories and the signal tower etc. For different facilities, there are different challenges existing. We can extend our approaches in many different directions. Specifically, we discuss one possible extension here for the better life of the aging population.

Appendix A

List of Publications

- Yanhai Xiong, Jiarui Gan, Bo An, Chunyan Miao, and Ana L. C. Bazzan. Optimal electric vehicle charging station placement. In *Proceedings of the 24th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI)*, pages 2662–2668, 2015
- Yanhai Xiong, Jiarui Gan, Bo An, Chunyan Miao, and Yeng Chai Soh. Optimal pricing for efficient electric vehicle charging station management. In *Proceedings of the 2016 International Conference on Autonomous Agents & Multiagent Systems*, pages 749–757. International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems, 2016
- 3. Yanhai Xiong, Jiarui Gan, Bo An, Chunyan Miao, and Ana LC Bazzan. Optimal electric vehicle fast charging station placement based on game theoretical framework. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 2017
- Yanhai Xiong, Haipeng Chen, Mengchen Zhao, and Bo An. Hogrider: Champion agent of microsoft malmo collaborative ai challenge. In *Proceedings of the 32nd* AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 2018

Bibliography

- M. Pierre, C. Jemelin, and N. Louvet. Driving an electric vehicle. A sociological analysis on pioneer users. *Energy Efficiency*, 4(4):511–522, 2011.
- [2] M. K. Hidrue, G. R. Parsons, W. Kempton, and M. P. Gardner. Willingness to pay for electric vehicles and their attributes. *Resource and Energy Economics*, 33(3):686–705, 2011.
- [3] Jiarui Gan, Bo An, Haizhong Wang, Xiaoming Sun, and Zhongzhi Shi. Optimal pricing for improving efficiency of taxi systems. In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI)*, pages 2811– 2818, 2013.
- [4] Jiarui Gan, Bo An, and Chunyan Miao. Optimizing efficiency of taxi systems: Scaling-up and handling arbitrary constraints. In *Proceedings of the 2015 International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems (AAMAS)*, pages 523–531, 2015.
- [5] Sara Deilami, Amir S Masoum, Paul S Moses, and Mohammad AS Masoum. Real-time coordination of plug-in electric vehicle charging in smart grids to minimize power losses and improve voltage profile. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 2(3):456–467, 2011.
- [6] Keiichiro Hayakawa, Enrico H. Gerding, Sebastian Stein, and Takahiro Shiga. Online mechanisms for charging electric vehicles in settings with varying marginal electricity costs. In *Proceedings of the 24th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI)*, pages 2610–2616, 2015.

- [7] F. He, D. Wu, Y. Yin, and Y. Guan. Optimal deployment of public charging stations for plug-in hybrid electric vehicles. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 47:87–101, 2013.
- [8] Zhipeng Liu, Fushuan Wen, and Gerard Ledwich. Optimal planning of electricvehicle charging stations in distribution systems. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, 28(1):102–110, 2013.
- [9] Stefan Funke, André Nusser, and Sabine Storandt. Placement of loading stations for electric vehicles: No detours necessary! *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, 53:633–658, 2015.
- [10] Yanhai Xiong, Jiarui Gan, Bo An, Chunyan Miao, and Ana L. C. Bazzan. Optimal electric vehicle charging station placement. In *Proceedings of the 24th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI)*, pages 2662– 2668, 2015.
- [11] LTA. Smart mobility 2030 Singapore ITS strategic plan. Technical report, Land Transport Authority and Intelligent Transport Society Singapore, 2014.
- [12] S. B. Woo. LTA to develop a road map for electric vehicles. http://www.todayonline.com/singapore/ lta-develop-road-map-electric-vehicles, March 2014. [Online; accessed 24-November-2014].
- [13] EVMileage. All-Electric Vehicles EVs. http://www.fueleconomy. gov/feg/evtech.shtml, Nov. 2014. [Online;accessed 24-November-2014].
- [14] Ning Wang, Yafei Liu, and Gangzhan Fu. City readiness system assessment of electric vehicle charging infrastructure. In 2014 IEEE 17th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 2805–2810. IEEE, 2014.
- [15] Ricardo Faria, Pedro Moura, Joaquim Delgado, and Anibal T de Almeida. Managing the charging of electrical vehicles: impacts on the electrical grid and on

the environment. *Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine, IEEE*, 6(3):54–65, 2014.

- [16] Emmanouil S Rigas, Sarvapali D Ramchurn, and Nick Bassiliades. Managing electric vehicles in the smart grid using artificial intelligence: A survey. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 16(4):1619–1635, 2015.
- [17] RJ Rei, FJ Soares, PM Rocha Almeida, and J Lopes. Grid interactive charging control for plug-in electric vehicles. In 2010 13th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 386–391. IEEE, 2010.
- [18] Saeid Bashash and Hosam K Fathy. Cost-optimal charging of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles under time-varying electricity price signals. *IEEE Transactions* on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 15(5):1958–1968, 2014.
- [19] Francesco Alesiani and Nitin Maslekar. Optimization of charging stops for fleet of electric vehicles: A genetic approach. *Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine, IEEE*, 6(3):10–21, 2014.
- [20] Shisheng Huang, Liang He, Yu Gu, Kristin Wood, and Saif Benjaafar. Design of a mobile charging service for electric vehicles in an urban environment. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 16(2):787–798, 2015.
- [21] Sara Mehar, Sherali Zeadally, Guillaume Remy, and Sidi Mohammed Senouci. Sustainable transportation management system for a fleet of electric vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 16(3):1401–1414, 2015.
- [22] Jingzi Tan and Wei-Hua Lin. A stochastic flow capturing location and allocation model for siting electric vehicle charging stations. In 2014 IEEE 17th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 2811– 2816. IEEE, 2014.
- [23] Julian Timpner and Lars Wolf. Design and evaluation of charging station scheduling strategies for electric vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 15(2):579–588, 2014.

- [24] Florian Hausler, Emanuele Crisostomi, Arieh Schlote, Ilja Radusch, and Robert Shorten. Stochastic park-and-charge balancing for fully electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 15(2): 895–901, 2014.
- [25] Fouad Baouche, Romain Billot, Rochdi Trigui, El Faouzi, et al. Efficient allocation of electric vehicles charging stations: Optimization model and application to a dense urban network. *Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine, IEEE*, 6 (3):33–43, 2014.
- [26] Leon Cooper. A random locational equilibrium problem. Journal of Regional Science, 14(1):47–54, 1974.
- [27] Pitu B Mirchandani. Locational decisions on stochastic networks. *Geographical Analysis*, 12(2):172–183, 1980.
- [28] Pitu B Mirchandani, Aissa Oudjit, and Richard T Wong. 'multidimensional' extensions and a nested dual approach for the m-median problem. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 21(1):121–137, 1985.
- [29] Ovidiu Listeş and Rommert Dekker. A stochastic approach to a case study for product recovery network design. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 160(1):268–287, 2005.
- [30] Helmut E Mausser and Manuel Laguna. A new mixed integer formulation for the maximum regret problem. *International Transactions in Operational Research*, 5(5):389–403, 1998.
- [31] Helmut E Mausser and Manuel Laguna. Minimising the maximum relative regret for linear programmes with interval objective function coefficients. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, pages 1063–1070, 1999.
- [32] Helmut E Mausser and Manuel Laguna. A heuristic to minimax absolute regret for linear programs with interval objective function coefficients. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 117(1):157–174, 1999.

- [33] Gang Yu. Robust economic order quantity models. European Journal of Operational Research, 100(3):482–493, 1997.
- [34] Igor Averbakh and Oded Berman. Minmax regret median location on a network under uncertainty. *INFORMS Journal on Computing*, 12(2):104–110, 2000.
- [35] Hande Küçükaydin, Necati Aras, and I Kuban Altınel. Competitive facility location problem with attractiveness adjustment of the follower: A bilevel programming model and its solution. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 208 (3):206–220, 2011.
- [36] Takeshi Uno, Hideki Katagiri, and Kosuke Kato. An evolutionary multi-agent based search method for stackelberg solutions of bilevel facility location problems. *International Journal of Innovative Computing, Information and Control*, 4(5):1033–1042, 2008.
- [37] Huijun Sun, Ziyou Gao, and Jianjun Wu. A bi-level programming model and solution algorithm for the location of logistics distribution centers. *Applied mathematical modelling*, 32(4):610–616, 2008.
- [38] QIN Jin and SHI Feng. Bi-level simulated annealing algorithm for facility location [j]. *Systems Engineering*, 2:007, 2007.
- [39] Yannis Marinakis and Magdalene Marinaki. A bilevel genetic algorithm for a real life location routing problem. *International Journal of Logistics: Research* and Applications, 11(1):49–65, 2008.
- [40] I. Frade, R. Anabela, G. Goncalves, and A. P. Antunes. Optimal location of charging stations for electric vehicles in a neighborhood in lisbon, portugal. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2252:91–98, 2011.
- [41] H. Wang, Q. Huang, C. Zhang, and A. Xia. A novel approach for the layout of electric vehicle charging station. In *Proceedings of International Conference on Apperceiving Computing and Intelligence Analysis (ICACIA)*, pages 64–70, 2010.

- [42] T. D. Chen, K. M. Kockelman, M. Khan, et al. The electric vehicle charging station location problem: a parking-based assignment method for seattle. In *Proceedings of 92nd Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board (TRB)*, 2013.
- [43] Robert W Rosenthal. A class of games possessing pure-strategy nash equilibria. *International Journal of Game Theory*, 2(1):65–67, 1973. ISSN 0020-7276.
- [44] Dov Monderer and Lloyd S. Shapley. Potential games. Games and Economic Behavior, 14(1):124–143, 1996. ISSN 0899-8256. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/ game.1996.0044. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0899825696900445.
- [45] David Schmeidler. Equilibrium points of nonatomic games. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 7(4):295–300, 1973. ISSN 0022-4715.
- [46] Igal Milchtaich. Congestion games with player-specific payoff functions. Games and Economic Behavior, 13(1):111–124, 1996. ISSN 0899-8256. doi: http://dx. doi.org/10.1006/game.1996.0027. URL http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0899825696900275.
- [47] Ron Holzman and Nissan Law-Yone. Strong equilibrium in congestion games. Games and economic behavior, 21(1):85–101, 1997. ISSN 0899-8256.
- [48] Tim Roughgarden and Eva Tardos. Bounding the inefficiency of equilibria in nonatomic congestion games. *Games and Economic Behavior*, 47(2):389–403, 2004. ISSN 0899-8256.
- [49] Steve Chien and Alistair Sinclair. Convergence to approximate nash equilibria in congestion games, 2007.
- [50] I. Caragiannis, A. Fanelli, N. Gravin, and A. Skopalik. Efficient computation of approximate pure nash equilibria in congestion games. In *Foundations of Computer Science (FOCS), 2011 IEEE 52nd Annual Symposium on*, pages 532– 541, 2011. ISBN 0272-5428. doi: 10.1109/FOCS.2011.50.

- [51] Ioannis Caragiannis, Angelo Fanelli, and Nick Gravin. Short sequences of improvement moves lead to approximate equilibria in constraint satisfaction games. In *Algorithmic Game Theory*, pages 49–60. Springer, 2014.
- [52] Sebastian Aland, Dominic Dumrauf, Martin Gairing, Burkhard Monien, and Florian Schoppmann. *Exact price of anarchy for polynomial congestion games*, pages 218–229. Springer, 2006. ISBN 3540323015.
- [53] Kshipra Bhawalkar, Martin Gairing, and Tim Roughgarden. Weighted congestion games: Price of anarchy, universal worst-case examples, and tightness, pages 17–28. Springer, 2010. ISBN 3642157807.
- [54] Ioannis Caragiannis, Michele Flammini, Christos Kaklamanis, Panagiotis Kanellopoulos, and Luca Moscardelli. *Tight bounds for selfish and greedy load balancing*, pages 311–322. Springer, 2006. ISBN 3540359044.
- [55] Ioannis Caragiannis, Christos Kaklamanis, and Panagiotis Kanellopoulos. *Taxes for linear atomic congestion games*, pages 184–195. Springer, 2006. ISBN 3540388753.
- [56] George Christodoulou and Elias Koutsoupias. The price of anarchy of finite congestion games, 2005.
- [57] George Christodoulou and Elias Koutsoupias. On the price of anarchy and stability of correlated equilibria of linear congestion games, pages 59–70. Springer, 2005.
- [58] Georgia Perakis. The "price of anarchy" under nonlinear and asymmetric costs. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 32(3):614–628, 2007. ISSN 0364-765X.
- [59] Lasse Kliemann and Anand Srivastav. Models of non-atomic congestion games: From unicast to multicast routing. 5515:292–318, 2009. ISSN 0302-9743 1611-3349. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-02094-0_14.
- [60] Elliot Anshelevich, Anirban Dasgupta, Jon Kleinberg, Eva Tardos, Tom Wexler, and Tim Roughgarden. The price of stability for network design with fair cost allocation. *SIAM Journal on Computing*, 38(4):1602–1623, 2008.

- [61] George Christodoulou and Martin Gairing. Price of stability in polynomial congestion games, pages 496–507. Springer, 2013. ISBN 3642392113.
- [62] Jerome Bracken and James T McGill. Mathematical programs with optimization problems in the constraints. *Operations Research*, 21(1):37–44, 1973.
- [63] Lucio Bianco, Massimiliano Caramia, and Stefano Giordani. A bilevel flow model for hazmat transportation network design. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 17(2):175–196, 2009.
- [64] Jonathan F Bard and James E Falk. An explicit solution to the multi-level programming problem. *Computers & Operations Research*, 9(1):77–100, 1982.
- [65] José Fortuny-Amat and Bruce McCarl. A representation and economic interpretation of a two-level programming problem. *Journal of the operational Research Society*, 32(9):783–792, 1981.
- [66] Jonathan F Bard and James T Moore. A branch and bound algorithm for the bilevel programming problem. SIAM Journal on Scientific and Statistical Computing, 11(2):281–292, 1990.
- [67] J Herskovits, A Leontiev, G Dias, and G Santos. Contact shape optimization: a bilevel programming approach. *Structural and multidisciplinary optimization*, 20(3):214–221, 2000.
- [68] Gemayqzel Bouza Allende and Georg Still. Solving bilevel programs with the kkt-approach. *Mathematical programming*, 138(1-2):309–332, 2013.
- [69] Luis Vicente, Gilles Savard, and Joaquim Júdice. Descent approaches for quadratic bilevel programming. *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, 81(2):379–399, 1994.
- [70] Jane J Ye. Constraint qualifications and kkt conditions for bilevel programming problems. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 31(4):811–824, 2006.
- [71] Ailsa H Land and Alison G Doig. An automatic method of solving discrete programming problems. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, pages 497–520, 1960.

- [72] Faiz A Al-Khayyal, Reiner Horst, and Panos M Pardalos. Global optimization of concave functions subject to quadratic constraints: an application in nonlinear bilevel programming. *Annals of Operations Research*, 34(1):125–147, 1992.
- [73] Jonathan F Bard. Convex two-level optimization. *Mathematical Programming*, 40(1-3):15–27, 1988.
- [74] Thomas Arthur Edmunds and Jonathan F Bard. Algorithms for nonlinear bilevel mathematical programs. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man and Cybernetics*, 21(1):83–89, 1991.
- [75] Eitaro Aiyoshi and Kiyotaka Shimizu. Hierarchical decentralized systems and its new solution by a barrier method, 1981.
- [76] Eitaro Aiyoshi and Kiyotaka Shimizu. A solution method for the static constrained stackelberg problem via penalty method. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 29(12):1111–1114, 1984.
- [77] Kiyotaka Shimizu and Eitaro Aiyoshi. A new computational method for stackelberg and min-max problems by use of a penalty method. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 26(2):460–466, 1981.
- [78] Z Bi, P Calamai, and A Conn. An exact penalty function approach for the linear bilevel programming problem. Technical report, Technical Report, 1989.
- [79] Douglas J White and G Anandalingam. A penalty function approach for solving bi-level linear programs. *Journal of Global Optimization*, 3(4):397–419, 1993.
- [80] Mahyar Amouzegar and Khosrow Moshirvaziri. A penalty method for linear bilevel programming problems. In *Multilevel Optimization: Algorithms and Applications*, pages 251–271. Springer, 1998.
- [81] Yibing Lv, Tiesong Hu, Guangmin Wang, and Zhongping Wan. A penalty function method based on kuhn–tucker condition for solving linear bilevel programming. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, 188(1):808–813, 2007.
- [82] Yo Ishizuka and Eitaro Aiyoshi. Double penalty method for bilevel optimization problems. Annals of Operations Research, 34(1):73–88, 1992.

- [83] GS Liu, JY Han, and JZ Zhang. Exact penalty functions for convex bilevel programming problems. *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, 110(3): 621–643, 2001.
- [84] Patrice Marcotte and Dao Li Zhu. Exact and inexact penalty methods for the generalized bilevel programming problem. *Mathematical Programming*, 74(2): 141–157, 1996.
- [85] V Oduguwa and R Roy. Bi-level optimisation using genetic algorithm. In 2002 IEEE International Conference on Artificial Intelligence Systems, 2002.(ICAIS 2002)., pages 322–327. IEEE, 2002.
- [86] Yafeng Yin. Genetic-algorithms-based approach for bilevel programming models. *Journal of Transportation Engineering*, 126(2):115–120, 2000.
- [87] Ankur Sinha, Pekka Malo, Anton Frantsev, and Kalyanmoy Deb. Finding optimal strategies in a multi-period multi-leader–follower stackelberg game using an evolutionary algorithm. *Computers & Operations Research*, 41:374–385, 2014.
- [88] Jaqueline S Angelo, Eduardo Krempser, and Helio José Corrêa Barbosa. Differential evolution for bilevel programming. In 2013 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), pages 470–477. IEEE, 2013.
- [89] Gabriele Eichfelder. Multiobjective bilevel optimization. Mathematical Programming, 123(2):419–449, 2010.
- [90] Werner Halter and Sanaz Mostaghim. Bilevel optimization of multi-component chemical systems using particle swarm optimization. In *IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, pages 1240–1247. IEEE, 2006.
- [91] Xinping Shi and Hong Sheng Xia. Model and interactive algorithm of bi-level multi-objective decision-making with multiple interconnected decision makers. *Journal of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis*, 10(1):27–34, 2001.
- [92] Ankur Sinha and Kalyanmoy Deb. Towards understanding evolutionary bilevel multi-objective optimization algorithm. In *IFAC workshop on control applications of optimization (IFAC-2009)*, volume 7, 2008.

- [93] Kalyanmoy Deb and Ankur Sinha. An efficient and accurate solution methodology for bilevel multi-objective programming problems using a hybrid evolutionary-local-search algorithm. *Evolutionary computation*, 18(3):403–449, 2010.
- [94] Yafeng Yin. Multiobjective bilevel optimization for transportation planning and management problems. *Journal of advanced transportation*, 36(1):93–105, 2002.
- [95] John F Nash et al. Equilibrium points in n-person games. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, 36(1):48–49, 1950.
- [96] John Glen Wardrop. Road paper. Some theoretical aspects of road traffic research. *Proceedings of the institution of civil engineers*, 1(3):325–362, 1952.
- [97] Herbert A Simon. A behavioral model of rational choice. *The quarterly journal of economics*, 69(1):99–118, 1955.
- [98] A. Lam, Y. Leung, and X. Chu. Electric vehicle charging station placement. In Proceedings of the 4th IEEE International Conference on Smart Grid Communications(SmartGridComm), pages 510–515, 2013.
- [99] A. Lam, Y. Leung, and X. Chu. Electric vehicle charging station placement: Formulation, complexity, and solutions. *arXiv*, 2(1310.6925):1–10, 2014.
- [100] Pablo A López Hidalgo, Max Ostendorp, and Markus Lienkamp. Optimizing the charging station placement by considering the user's charging behavior. In *IEEE International Energy Conference (ENERGYCON)*, pages 1–7. IEEE, 2016.
- [101] Abbas Rajabi-Ghahnavieh and Payam Sadeghi-Barzani. Optimal zonal fastcharging station placement considering urban traffic circulation. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 66(1):45–56, 2017.
- [102] Richard D McKelvey and Thomas R Palfrey. Quantal response equilibria for normal form games. *Games and economic behavior*, 10(1):6–38, 1995.

- [103] James Pita, Richard John, Rajiv Maheswaran, Milind Tambe, and Sarit Kraus. A robust approach to addressing human adversaries in security games. In *Proceedings of the 20th European Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, pages 660–665. IOS Press, 2012.
- [104] Rong Yang, Christopher Kiekintveld, Fernando Ordonez, Milind Tambe, and Richard John. Improving resource allocation strategy against human adversaries in security games. In *Proceedings of the 22nd International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI)*, volume 1, pages 458–464. AAAI Press, 2011. ISBN 157735513X.
- [105] James Pita. *The Human Element: Addressing Human Adversaries in Security Domains*. Thesis, University of Southern California, 2012.
- [106] Thanh Hong Nguyen, Rong Yang, Amos Azaria, Sarit Kraus, and Milind Tambe. Analyzing the effectiveness of adversary modeling in security games. In *The* 27th Conference on Artificial Intelligence (AAAI), 2013.
- [107] Kfir Eliaz. Nash equilibrium when players account for the complexity of their forecasts. *Games and Economic Behavior*, 44(2):286–310, 2003.
- [108] Theodoros Diasakos. Complexity and bounded rationality in individual decision problems. 2013.
- [109] Daniel Kahneman and Amos Tversky. Prospect theory: An analysis of decision under risk. *Econometrica: Journal of the econometric society*, pages 263–291, 1979.
- [110] Colin F Camerer, Teck-Hua Ho, and Juin-Kuan Chong. A cognitive hierarchy model of games. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 119(3):861–898, 2004.
- [111] K. Schneider, C. Gerkensmeyer, M. Kintner-Meyer, and R. Fletcher. Impact assessment of plug-in hybrid vehicles on pacific northwest distribution systems. In *Proceedings of IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting (PES)*, pages 1–6, 2008.

- [112] A. Hess, F. Malandrino, M. B. Reinhardt, C. Casetti, K. A. Hummel, and J. M. Barceló-Ordinas. Optimal deployment of charging stations for electric vehicular networks. In *Proceedings of the 1st workshop on Urban networking(UrbaNe)*, pages 1–6, 2012.
- [113] Jiarui Gan, Bo An, and Yevgeniy Vorobeychik. Optimal pricing for improving efficiency of taxi systems. In Proceedings of the 29th Conference on Artificial Intelligence (AAAI), 2015.
- [114] M.G. Boarnet, E. J. Kim, and E. Parkany. Measuring traffic congestion. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 1634 (1):93–99, 1998.
- [115] R. Banner and A. Orda. Multipath routing algorithms for congestion minimization. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking (TON)*, 15(2):413–424, 2007.
- [116] Robert L Bertini. You are the traffic jam: an examination of congestion measures. The 85th Annual Meeting of Transportation Research Board, 2006.
- [117] Matthias Sweet. Does traffic congestion slow the economy? *Journal of Planning Literature*, 26(4):391–404, 2011. ISSN 0885-4122.
- [118] Chao Wang, Mohammed Quddus, and Stephen Ison. A spatio-temporal analysis of the impact of congestion on traffic safety on major roads in the UK. *Transportmetrica A: Transport Science*, 9(2):124–148, 2013. ISSN 2324-9935.
- [119] Noam Nisan, Tim Roughgarden, Eva Tardos, and Vijay V Vazirani. Algorithmic game theory. Cambridge University Press, 2007. ISBN 1139466542.
- [120] Milind Tambe, Albert Xin Jiang, Bo An, and Manish Jain. Computational game theory for security: Progress and challenges. In AAAI Spring Symposium on Applied Computational Game Theory, 2014.
- [121] Elias Koutsoupias and Christos Papadimitriou. Worst-case equilibria. In STACS 99, pages 404–413. Springer, 1999.
- [122] United Nations. World Population Prospects Cd-rom 2008 Revision. United Nations Publications, 2009.

- [123] Chuks J Mba. Population ageing in ghana: research gaps and the way forward. Journal of aging research, 2010, 2010.
- [124] Paul Alhassan Issahaku and Sheila Neysmith. Policy implications of population ageing in west africa. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 33 (3/4):186–202, 2013.
- [125] Rose M Collard, Han Boter, Robert A Schoevers, and Richard C Oude Voshaar. Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 60(8):1487–1492, 2012.
- [126] P Ebersole. Wellness and health promotion of the elderly. *Nursing outlook*, 41 (2):93–93, 1992.
- [127] John A Krout. Senior center programming and frailty among older persons. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 26(3-4):19–34, 1997.
- [128] Judy Campbell and Ronald H Aday. Benefits of a nurse-managed wellness program: A senior center model. *Journal of gerontological nursing*, 27(3):34–43, 2001.
- [129] Beverly Beisgen and Marilyn Kraitchman. Senior centers: Opportunities for successful aging. Springer Publishing Company, 2003.
- [130] Ministry-Of-Health. Capacity of senior care centres. https://www.moh.gov.sg/content/moh_web/home/pressRoom/Parliamentary _QA/2013/capacity-of-senior-care-centres-.html, 9 2013.
- [131] Singapore Department of Statistics. Elderly, youth and gender profile. http://www.singstat.gov.sg/statistics/browse-by-theme/elderly-youth-andgender-profile, 2013.
- [132] Rajan Gupta, Sunil K Muttoo, and Saibal K Pal. Fuzzy c-means clustering and particle swarm optimization based scheme for common service center location allocation. *Applied Intelligence*, pages 1–20, 2017.

- [133] Rounaq Basu, Arnab Jana, and Ronita Bardhan. A health care facility allocation model for expanding cities in developing nations: Strategizing urban health policy implementation. *Applied Spatial Analysis and Policy*, pages 1–16, 2016.
- [134] Wenting Zhang, Kai Cao, Shaobo Liu, and Bo Huang. A multi-objective optimization approach for health-care facility location-allocation problems in highly developed cities such as hong kong. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 59:220–230, 2016.
- [135] Farzad Rajaei Salmasi. Control strategies for hybrid electric vehicles: Evolution, classification, comparison, and future trends. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 56(5):2393–2404, 2007.
- [136] Wikipedia. Urban planning areas in singapore. https://en.wikipedia. org/wiki/Urban_planning_areas_in_Singapore, 2015.
- [137] Ministry of Trade and Industry Republic of Singapore DoS, Department of Statistics. General household survey 2005 statistical release 2: Transport, overseas travel, households and housing characteristics. http://www.singstat. gov.sg/publications/publications-and-papers/GHS/ghrs2, 2005.
- [138] Chargepoint. Find charging spots. https://na.chargepoint.com/ charge_point, 2015.
- [139] Yanhai Xiong, Jiarui Gan, Bo An, Chunyan Miao, and Yeng Chai Soh. Optimal pricing for efficient electric vehicle charging station management. In *Proceedings of the 2016 International Conference on Autonomous Agents & Multiagent Systems*, pages 749–757. International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems, 2016.
- [140] Yanhai Xiong, Jiarui Gan, Bo An, Chunyan Miao, and Ana LC Bazzan. Optimal electric vehicle fast charging station placement based on game theoretical framework. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 2017.

[141] Yanhai Xiong, Haipeng Chen, Mengchen Zhao, and Bo An. Hogrider: Champion agent of microsoft malmo collaborative ai challenge. In *Proceedings of the 32nd* AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 2018.